Enhanced Multi-User DMT Spectrum Management

Using Polynomial Matrix Decomposition Techniques



Patrick Kunle Adebayo

School of Engineering Cardiff University

This dissertation is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Cardiff University

March 2019

Dedicated to my late father Mr. John Julius Adebayo.

Declaration

I hereby declare that except where specific reference is made to the work of others, the contents of this dissertation are original and have not been submitted in whole or in part for consideration for any other degree or qualification in this, or any other university. This dissertation is my own work and contains nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration with others, except as specified in the text and acknowledgements.

Patrick Kunle Adebayo March 2019

Acknowledgements

Without the enthusiastic support of many people, this thesis would not exist today. First and foremost, I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Professor John McWhirter, for his support and encouragement throughout the study.

His technical insights, breadth of knowledge, and diligent advice have always inspired and motivated ever since I began the research. Working with him has broadened my perspective and strengthening the confidence in my right and abilities, invaluably leading to the successful completion of this thesis. I shall be ever grateful for the inspiration and personal education he gave me.

I would also wish to thank Dr Yulia Hicks for serving in my co-supervisor. Her instructions on problems associated with research helped me built a foundation for the study. At the same time, I am grateful to Prof Stephan Weiss for serving in my PhD oral defence as the external examiner. I would also like to thank Professor David Marshall for serving as my internal examiner.

I would like to thank Dr Snehasis Tripathy for chairing my PhD oral defense committee. t In short, a robust multidisciplinary interaction has been vital to the success of this research. I have been delighted to enjoy such an interaction in the creative environment of the School of Engineering at Cardiff University. The opportunity to research with the digital signal processing (DSP) group of the university has been very stimulating for me. Undoubtedly, the open, unbiased and cordial atmosphere created in that group has encouraged my enthusiasm to complete the study. I feel absolutely fortunate to meet so many brilliant people in DSP group. I would like to thank group members including Zeliang Wang, Karima El-Masri, Matt Potts, Stefano Zappala, Samia Albasri, Nick Bennion, Jack Latham, Aled Owen, Joseph Redfern and Tom Hartley for their support and company in the group.

Also important is the contribution of several people from home country to the obtained remarks.

First and foremost, I am highly indebted to Mr Alex Akinola of Computer Engineering Department, as well as Mr Ogundahunsi E.O, the present acting Rector of Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, Owo, Ondo State Nigeria, for their support to make the dream come through. Without missing words, Mr Akinola recommended and approved my employment to achieve this success. I would say "Thank You".

In this respect, million thanks also due to my co-staffs at RUGIPO, including Alfred Idowu Kayode, Akinboyewa Nelson, Olawoye Taiwo, Adewale Jimoh and others.

Finally, I want to express my particular feelings of thanks to my mother (Mrs Florence Adebayo) for orientating me in this direction. And last, of all, I am highly indebted to some dearest friend like Kolade Osuma, Akin Arikawe and my children (Faith and Feranmi) for their endless patience and heartfelt encouragements during the realisation of this dream.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

MIMO	Multiple Input Multiple Output
SISO	Single Input Single Output
ADSL	Asymmetrical Digital Subscriber Line
VDSL	Very high-speed Digital Subscriber Line
DMT	Discrete Multi-Tone
DSLAM	Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer
CSI	Channel State Information
CSIR	Channel State Information at Receiver
CSIT	Channel State Information at Transmitter
SVD	Singular Value Decomposition
PMD	Polynomial Matrix Decomposition
FEXT	Far-End CrossTalk
NEXT	Near-End CrossTalk
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform
OFDM	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing
PSD	Power Spectral Density
DFT	Discrete Fourier Transform
DSM	Dynamic Spectrum Management

X	
MMSE	Minimum Mean Square Error
FIR	Finite Impulse Response
ZF	Zero Forcing
СР	Cyclic Prefix
IDFT	Inverse Discrete Fourier Transform
BER	Bit Error Rate
SNR	Signal to Noise Ratio
SINR	Signal to Tnterference plus Noise Ratio
MLE	Maximum Likelihood Estimation
PSVD	Polynomial Singular Value Decomposition
PEVD	Polynomial EigenValue Decomposition
МСМ	Multi-Carrier Multiplexing
ISI	Inter-Symbol Interference
IBI	Inter-Block Interference
ICI	Inter-Channel Interference

SIR Signal to Interference Ratio

Notations and Fixed Symbols

Notations

x	Scalar quantity
x	Vector quantity
X	Polynomial Matrix
X	Matrix quantity
x	Mean vector
\mathscr{X}	Set of Matrices
${\mathcal R}$	Set of Real Matrices
C	Set of Complex Matrices
Â	Estimate of original quantity \mathbf{x}
$(.)^{T}$	Transpose operator
$(.)^H$	Hermitian transpose operator
(.̃)	Paraconjugate operator
$(.)^{-1}$	Matrix inverse
$(.)^{*}$	Complex conjugate operator
.	Matrix determinant
trace{.}	Trace of a matrix
$. _2, . $	Euclidean norm

$ \mathbf{X} _F$	Frobenius Norm of X
$diag{X}$	Diagonal component of a matrix
offdiag $\{X\}$	Off-diagonal component of a matrix
\mathbf{I}_A	The identity matrix of size \mathbf{A}
$0_{A \times B}$	Matrix of zeros of dimension $A \times B$
x_i	<i>i</i> th element of vector <i>x</i>

Fixed Symbols

Α	Generic scalar Matrix
Н	Instantenous MIMO channel Matrix
H(z)	Polynomial MIMO channel Matrix
$\boldsymbol{C}(z)$	Polynomial MIMO transfer Matrix
β	Number of iteration & condition of ending state for processing
P _T	Total transmit power & available radio resources
D	Discrete Fourier transform matrix
E _{rel}	Relative error (crosstalk)
\mathbf{P}_i^k	Total transmit power for i th user at the transmitter over a tone k
$\boldsymbol{F}(z)$	Transmitter FIR Matrix (with Pre-coding)
$\boldsymbol{G}(z)$	Receiver FIR Matrix (with Post-coding)
j	Complex operator
k	Tone index
i	User index
М	Number of receive tones

Ν	Number	of transmit	tones

- U Unitary Matrix from SVD decomposition & Jacobi rotation Matrix
- U(z) ParaUnitary Matrix from PSVD decomposition
- V Unitary Matrix from SVD decomposition
- V(z) ParaUnitary Matrix from PSVD decomposition
- $X_i(z)$ Transmit signals as a polynomial vector
- $Y_i(z)$ Receive signals as a polynomial vector
- σ_i^2 The variance of Gaussian white noise for user *i*
- \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} The pseudo-inverse of \mathbf{A}

Abstract

This thesis researches the increasingly critical roles played by intelligent resource management and interference mitigation algorithms in present-day input multiple output (MIMO) communication systems. This thesis considers the application of polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) algorithms, an emerging broadband factorisation technology for broadband MIMO access networks. Present DSL systems' performance is constrained by the presence of interference (crosstalk) between multiple users sharing a common physical cable bundle. Compared to the traditional static spectrum management methods that define their survival to the worst-case scenarios, DSM methods provides some degree of flexibility to both direct channel and noise parameters to improve evolvability and robustness significantly. A novel crosstalk-aware DSM algorithm is proposed for the efficient management of multi-user DSL systems. Joint power allocation procedures are considered for the proposed single-channel equalisation method in DSL access networks.

This thesis then shows that DSM can also benefit overdetermined precoding-equalisation systems, when the channel state information (CSI) parameters call for a specific decision feedback criterion to achieve a perfect reconstruction. A reasonable redundancy is introduced to reformulate the original multi-user MIMO problem into the simplest case of power management problem. DSM algorithms are primarily applied to solve the power allocation problem in DSM networks with the aim of maximising the system attribute rather than meeting specific requirements. Also, a powerful PMD algorithm known as sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) is used for analysing the eigenvalue decomposition problem by quantifying the available system resource including the effects of the crosstalk and its parameters. This analysis is carried out through joint precoding and equalisation structures.

The thesis also investigates dynamic interference mitigation strategies for improving the performance of DSL networks. Two different mitigation strategies through a decision feedback equalisation (DFE) criterion are considered, including zero-forcing (ZF) and minimum mean square error (MMSE) equalisers. The difference between ZF and MMSE equalisations is analysed. Some experimental simulation results demonstrate the performance of both ZF and MMSE equalisation under the DFE equalisation constraint settings. Model reduction on the MMSE equalisation is thus applied to balance the crosstalk interference and enhance the data-rate throughput.

Finally, the thesis studies a multi-user MIMO problem under the utility maximisation framework. Simulation results illustrate that the power allocation of multi-user DSL transmission can be jointly controlled and the interference can often be mitigated optimally on a single user basis. Driven by imperfect CSI information in current DSL networks, the research presents a novel DSM method that allows not only crosstalk mitigation, but also the exploitation of crosstalk environments through the fielding of versatile, flexible and evolvable systems. The proposed DSM tool is presented to achieve a robust mitigating system in any arbitrary overdetermined multi-user MIMO environment. Numerical optimisation results show that the mitigation of crosstalk impairment using the proposed DSM strategy. The design and implementation of the proposed DSM are carried out in the environment of MATLAB.

Contents

Li	st of l	Figures xx	ĸi
Li	List of Tables xxii		
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Motivation	1
	1.2	The DSL Access Network	2
	1.3	Spectrum Management Techniques	7
	1.4	Why Polynomial Matrix Decomposition (PMD) Algorithms? 1	1
	1.5	Outline and Contributions	2
	1.6	Thesis Overview	3
2	Ove	rview of Multi-carrier Modulation Systems 1	5
	2.1	Multi-Carrier Modulation Systems	5
	2.2	Discrete Multitone (DMT) Modulation	6
	2.3	The DSL Interference Channels	9
	2.4	Dynamic Spectrum Management Algorithms	0
		2.4.1 Spectrum Coordination	1
		2.4.2 Signal Coordination	2
		2.4.3 Two-Sided Vectored Signal Processing	4
	2.5	Concluding Remarks	8
3	Poly	nomial Matrix Decomposition Techniques 2	9
	3.1	Introduction	9
	3.2	Polynomial Matrices	0
		3.2.1 Laurent Polynomial	0
		3.2.2 Properties of a Polynomial Matrix	0
	3.3	Polynomial Matrix Decomposition Algorithms	2
		3.3.1 Sequential Best Rotation Algorithm (SBR2)	2

		3.3.2	Sequential Matrix Diagonalisation Algorithms	36
		3.3.3	Multiple Shift Maximum Element SMD (MSME-SMD) Algorithm	37
	3.4	Polync	omial Matrix Singular Value Decomposition via SMD Algorithms	37
	3.5	Chann	el Matrix Decomposition via PSVD algorithms	39
	3.6	Numer	rical Analysis	39
		3.6.1	Worked Examples	40
	3.7	Chapte	er Summary	43
4	Nov	el Fram	nework for DSM Techniques	45
	4.1	Introdu	action	45
	4.2	Chann	el Model and Problem Formulation	47
	4.3	Precod	ling and Equalisation for a Single-User DSL Transmission	49
	4.4	Joint P	Precoding and Equalisation for Multi-user DSL Systems	55
	4.5	Block	Precoding and Equalisation for Multi-user DSL Systems	58
	4.6	Numer	rical Analysis	63
		4.6.1	Using an Adaptive Linear combiner at time instant t	64
		4.6.2	Using Subchannel Equalisation with PSVD Algorithms	66
	4.7	Conclu	Jding Remarks	71
5	Join	t Preco	ding with Decision Feedback Equalisation	75
	5.1	Introdu	uction	75
	5.2	Chann	el Model and System Characteristics	78
		5.2.1	DSL System Model	78
	5.3	Linear	Precoder and Equaliser	80
	5.4	Propos	sed Design	80
	5.5	Vector	ed Transmission through SMD Algorithm	81
	5.6	Precod	ler and Equaliser with Interference Mitigation	82
		5.6.1	System Model	83
	5.7	Chann	el Estimation and Equalisation	85
		5.7.1	Linear Precoding and Channel Estimation	85
		5.7.2	Joint Precoding with Decision Feedback Equalisation	88
	5.8	Simula	ations and Discussion	92
		5.8.1	Design with Linear Precoding and Equalisation	93
		5.8.2	Design with Joint Precoding-Equalisation equalisation	95
		5.8.3	Joint Precoding with DFE equalisation	96
	5.9	Conclu	Jding Remark	97

6	6 Conclusions and Future Works		99
	6.1	Summary	100
	6.2	Future Work	101
Bi	bliogi	aphy	103

Bibliography

List of Figures

		•
1.1	The frequency sharing between POTS and DSL Network	3
1.2	DSL transmission model.	5
1.3	DSL transmissions with crosstalk	6
2.1	Single-User System	16
2.2	DMT based transmission	17
2.3	DMT transformation processes	17
2.4	This is the most common scenario considered in the signal coordination of DSL system,	
	where we have joint signal processing (Pre-coding) at the transmit side, and we have joint	
	signal processing (Equalisation) at the receive side	23
2.5	This is the generalised two-sided vectored DSM model of DSL system, with the precoder	
	$F(\omega)$ at the transmitter, the channel $H(\omega)$ and equaliser $G(\omega)$ at the receiver. $\ .\ .\ .$.	24
3.1	Example of spectral allocation (a) of the primary multi-user MIMO system (b) with order	
	majorisation after diagonalisation.	35
3.2	The stem plot representation of the polynomial channel model matrix for the six users. $\ . \ .$	42
3.3	Stem plot representation of the Para-Hermitian matrices obtained (a) for $R_1(z)$ and (b) for	
	$\mathbf{R}_2(z)$ against the time lag	42
3.4	The diagonal polynomial matrix (a) for $\mathbf{R}_1(z)$ and (b) for $\mathbf{R}_2(z)$.	43
3.5	The paraunitary stem plot (a) for $U(z)$ and for (b) $V(z)$.	43
3.6	singular values against normalised frequency for both Polyx and SMD algorithm	44
4.1	The DSM process	47
4.2	General Joint Pre-Post Processing System	48
4.3	Precoding and equalisation for a single-user DSL transmission	50
4.4	Joint precoding and equalisation for a multi-user DSL transmission	59
4.5	Adaptive Linear filter at instant time t	64
4.6	The stem plot representation of the 3×2 polynomial channel matrix	68

4.7	Stem plot representation of the Para-Hermitian matrices obtained (a) for $R_1(z)$ and (b) for	
	$\boldsymbol{R}_2(z)$	68
4.8	The diagonal polynomial matrix obtained when the SMD algorithm was applied (a) for	
	$D_1(z)$ and (b) for $D_2(z)$	69
4.9	The stem plot representation of the paraunitary matrix obtained after applying SMD algo-	
	rithm (a) for $U(z)$ and for (b) $V(z)$.	70
4.10	Representation of the optimal transmission matrices (a) for equalisation matrix G and for	
	(b) for Precoder matrix F	70
4.11	Effective diagonal matrix (a) for actual traansmission matrices and (b) for a reduced-order	
	transmission matrices	71
4.12	With and without per-user Equalisation	72
5.1	DSL system with channel matrix $\mathbf{H}(z)$, joint precoder $\mathbf{E}(z)$ and joint equaliser $\mathbf{B}(z)$ including	
	a multiplexing by K	79
5.2	Linear joint precoding and equalisation for vectored single-user transmission	85
5.3	Joint precoding and MMSE-DFE block diagram	88
5.4	BPSK modulated, BER versus SNR for the proposed precoding-equalisation and the bench-	
	mark design	94
5.5	BER versus SNR for the proposed joint precoding-equalisation and for the benchmark design	95
5.6	BER versus SNR for the proposed MMSE-DFE and for the linear Equalisation design	97

List of Tables

4.1	Model parameters	69
5.1	Procedure of computing the MMSE-DFE scheme through the PSVD algo-	
	rithm	92

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Recent advances in communication industries are moving towards the realisation of a globally infrastructure, where access to information becomes available at our fingertips, i.e., when it is needed, where it becomes required, and in whatever form it is necessary. These communication industries can provide the information through a single communication network to provide high-speed services to various users and they can now be implemented, for example, through wireless access networks and digital subscriber line (DSL) systems. However, these systems cannot support the current requirements and demand [1, 2].

Over recent years, several digital modulation technologies including orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) for the wireless systems and discrete multi-tone (DMT) modulation for DSL networks have been investigated and developed to meet the demand. The success of these modulation techniques lies in their potentially flexibility, robust against noise and interference, high resolution, low signal attenuation, low signal distortion, low transmit power utilisation and low-cost usage [3].

One fundamental problem associated with DMT modulation system is that, as more and more users continue using the DSL network, and as the development evolves with high-frequency network applications such as data browsing on the World Wide Web (WWW), Java applications, video conferencing, etc., the DMT modulation suffers significantly from interference limitations imposed by crosstalk. Therefore, there is a call for healthy alternatives with very high-frequency transportation network facilities, whose capabilities are much beyond those that existing DMT multiplexing techniques can provide. The challenge remains that there is not enough bandwidth in today's network facilities to support the exponential growth in traffic demands. Given that the benefit associated with DMT's bandwidth is higher than current achievable data rates, there is a strong motivation to tap into the bandwidth management potential [4].

Realising also that the maximum possible performance which an end user can achieve from the network is restricted by exploiting power allocation strategy. The key to designing robust modulation schemes for efficiently bandwidth potential is to introduce an alternating dynamic spectrum management (DSM) mechanism. This can be accomplished using polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) procedures with the aim of allocating optimal transmit power to various users at each user's own bit-rate and to support different networks, protocols and architectures.

From the literature, DMT modulation systems are analysed and implemented in two domains; time and frequency. Frequency domain system analysis is somewhat futuristic for technologies today. Under the time domain, each DSL line is synchronised and controlled within a single slot. The achievable data rate leads to the aggregation rate over all the independent bands for available transmitting DSL lines in the network, so the frequency domain mechanism may offer much higher data rate than each user's data rate. As a result, the study introduces and present the transmission on the polynomial domain, which combines the other two domains and can achieve much higher throughput than the frequency domain. Thus, frequency and time domain signal analysis attract high complexity where the combined field is required. Individually, polynomial mechanisms and their model interpretations are currently the favourite modulation method for designing a complex multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) system [? 5, 6]. The main idea includes allocating the transmit power centrally and operating only at the bit rate of a single-mode MIMO system.

The network model can be chosen arbitrarily and corrects the impact of system imbalances. Hence, the available research for controlling crosstalk at the reception devotes much effort to developing and representing MIMO modulation in the frequency domain. This study aims at turning the promise of full multiplexing benefit into reality using polynomial representations for a group of DSL users in order to meet the service requirements of the future generation.

1.2 The DSL Access Network

DSL network is a collection of high-speed communication technologies that allow potentially large broadband services to be delivered to various end-user subscribers over the traditional twisted pair copper telephone lines [7]. The evolution of DSL networks started with the use of splitter modems to separate the plain old telephone services (POTS) from high-speed data services by using the unused POTS frequency channels/lines. The fundamental reason for the coexistence of DSL networks with other POTS such as integrated service digital network is



Figure 1.1 The frequency sharing between POTS and DSL Network

the use of different frequency bands. Any POTS service, for example, uses frequency bands up to 4kHz for maximum power spectral density (PSD) allocation. The most common DSL network, ADSL, exploits the PSD above 25kHz. Fig. 1.1 illustrates the frequency bands used for POTS and DSL.

DSL has increased the connection speed of copper wire from 14.4 kbps in 1994 to 1.5 Mbps today.

As of OECD¹ 2013 [8], there are more than 379 million fixed wire-line subscribers worldwide, accounting for over 70% of the share of DSL access network subscribers. Broadband using cable modems is one of the leading competitive wire-line networks with over 109 million users or about 20% of the market share. The growth in wireless has become a significant challenge to DSL networks over the last two decades by continuously installing new smart technology for mobile subscribers.

With many present-day hybrid technologies that employ DSL networks as a "last kilometre" access technology to connect broadband customers' households to telecommunication service terminals, more improved connections are now hosted at a node, curb or basement of a building. The growth of hybrid DSL networks, even up to the Fiber to the cabinet (FTTC),

¹OECD stands for Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Countries

technology has passed through evolution rather than revolution. Instead of installing full fibre to the end users, DSL networks are now connected between the cabinet and the building.

The newest hybrid network, full fibre to the building (FTTH), provides a high-speed connection through an optical fibre direct to the subscribers. In a hybrid system, fibre can be laid to the end of each street where an optical network unit (ONU), also known as a remote terminal (RT) is installed to connect each customer premise equipment (CPE) to the central office (CO). Following the evolutionary approach of hybrid DSL networks, operators are now focusing on replacing the copper wires entirely in the full fibre to the building (FTTB) technology.

DSL has been one of the most successfully marketed broadband access technologies over the last decade and will sustain this dominance. Asymmetric Digital Subscriber Line (ADSL), an early DSL standard, was initially developed in 1987 and supports connectivity from the CO to the CPE providing downstream data rates of up to 6 Mbps and upstream data rates up to 800 Kbps on short lines [9]. However, as the demand for higher data-rate increases, the channel's achievable gain decreases noticeably. With increased user demand for triple play services, a combination of video, high-speed internet and voice applications, new DSL technologies such as ADSL2, ADSL2+, VDSL, and VDSL2 are being developed to allow copper-based systems to compete with alternative access network technologies [10].

ADSL standards are designed to use frequencies from 0 to 1.104 MHz for high-speed transmission while VDSL2 standards extend the spectrum of ADSL up to as much as 52 MHz [7]. As this higher frequency band, VDSL users are connected by optical fibre to optical network units (ONUs) from the CO, thereby shortening the copper telephone line length significantly. VDSL experiences some adjacent lines interference, also known as crosstalk, which then becomes the primary limiting factor in achieving higher data rates.

Crosstalk interference is one of the primary sources of performance limitation in DSL systems. The term "noise "has now gradually broadened in many applications and refers to interference between any communication circuits. This kind of noise includes both near-end crosstalk (NEXT) and far-end crosstalk (FEXT) components.

The NEXT components are imposed by transmitters interfering with receivers on the same side of the bundle and can be avoided by using non-overlapping transmit and receive spectra (frequency division duplex; FDD) or disjoint time intervals (time division duplex; TDD). On the other hand, FEXT components are experienced when the transmitters on opposite sides of the bundle interfered with one another. It is shown [11] that NEXT interference is about 10 to 20 decibel larger than the background noise.

Recent developments in DSL systems have expanded the use of hybrid fibre bandwidth. A new type of DSL networks, the so-called very high-speed digital subscriber line (VDSL-2), enables more convenient fibre-optic broadband services by addressing the problems outlined above. It is evident that full-fibre based networks ensure the optimal, low-attenuation transmission, but such a system experiences high maintenance cost. VDSL-2 appears as an alternative to the use of a high-cost full fibre network. A typical VDSL-2 system is shown in Fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2 DSL transmission model.

Within the DSL loop, it is generally well-known that NEXT noise [?], opposed to the FEXT noise, presents the dominant challenge. The issue becomes severe when DSL services are operated on different lines in the same cable bundle. It is critical to minimise or even cancel the crosstalk imposed by a DSL transmission. Doing so can significantly improve the data-rate performance of DSL systems and increases loop throughput.

Power and bit allocation are also factors that determine the performance of DSL systems. They are most commonly raised issues concerning the development of discrete multitone (DMT) multiplexing standards. DMT is a coordination mechanism that estimates the bit and power loading to a group of subcarriers within the same DSL loop, and it can be at either the customer premises equipment (CPE) or the central office (CO) location. In the CO, the mechanism is termed "digital subscriber line access multiplexing (DSLAM)" [7]. A typical DSL system is illustrated in Figure 1.3, where four CPEs are transmitting in both directions through CO equipment and in the presence of crosstalk.

Additionally, there are other limiting factors in the literature, which have deterred the growth of DSL services: in particular- rate, reach and symmetry.





Figure 1.3 DSL transmissions with crosstalk

Rate

The global market for DSL services had witnessed tremendous growth over the recent years, even as new connection technologies are promising to emerge. This success is driven by the desire for higher bit-rate connections at both upstream and downstream. For example, delivering duplex channels at 12 Mbps per channel, plus high-speed Internet at 10 Mbps, plus a voice/music channel of 1 Mbps requires a 35 Mbps service. Today's ADSL networks can only offer 3 Mbps in high-density urban areas, and their access rates in suburban and rural areas are somehow less than 256 kbps [2]. Increasing the available rate at the remote areas is the fundamental challenge and has become a vital litmus test for the state of DSL markets. This issue is crucial to the competitive challenge from wireless communication networks, which continue upgrading their facilities for higher access rates [12]. Rate competition among providers enables users in urban areas a good choice between wired and wireless options.

Technically, hybrid fibre networks provide a superior medium to full twisted pairs. Today's hybrid network is only limited to the switching speed between the terminal interfaces and the central office, as illustrated in Figure 1.2 for VDSL-2 systems. A fibre network is a trunked medium that connects all the CPE lines and switches each of the transmitting lines at the full rate of the fibre. As such, full-fibre systems are more expensive to manufacture than for DSL. This slight advantage will soon change as Moore's law decreases the cost of computing power. Hence it is imperative for DSL service providers to offer increasing access rates in order to remain competitive.

Reach

DSL subscribers in suburban and rural areas are often situated far from the CO. As a result, these subscribers on long attenuation links suffer from poor quality because of the twisted-pair medium. This reach problem limits the penetration rate covered by DSL services. It is notably more severe in geographically sparse countries like the USA and Australia where DSL penetration is less than 5%. Compare this with countries like Korea, which has a penetration of 29%, and it is evident that DSL marketplaces have not achieved their full potential for revenue [1].

Symmetry

Another limiting factor facing the growth of DSL services is the difference in the upstream (US) and downstream (DS) bit-rate connections. The existing DSL technologies use asymmetric connection mode, i.e., providing a higher rate for the DS than the US. As a result, these technologies are inefficient for modern applications such as web-browsing and video-streaming. Also, the growth of peer-to-peer file-sharing of music and movies, video conferencing and teleworking are now increasing the demand for equal US data-rate.

Providing a symmetric connection remains a very significant challenge for future DSL deployments. All three of these issues - rate, reach and symmetry - are promising to be addressed with the use of a hybrid DSL network. In such fibre-based networks, copper technology will cover a short distance, leading to a lower channel attenuation and providing higher data-rates. However, the deployment of full fibre-equipment to the end of each street is costly.

1.3 Spectrum Management Techniques

Spectrum management (SM) techniques in DSL systems are powerful tools used for addressing system uncertainties in communication systems. The techniques are the basic tool for analysing system architectures with the goal of maximising the overall system throughput rather than meeting specific requirements. SM itself is not a crosstalk analysis tool but instead performs the analysis of the system information including the effects of the crosstalk and its parameters. The idea behind its innovation is that if the effects of crosstalk and its associated interference can be quantified, then, the associated risk may be easily mitigated. These techniques can also be defined as risk management tools for multidisciplinary systems. They are particularly well suited to types of optimisation problem that are difficult to quantify instantaneously but may become better known later.

It is shown in [13] that the spectrum management problem associated with DSL systems can be solved by using the adaptive feedback equalisation from receiver to the transmitter, mainly when the system information about target signals and its interference parameter appears as an optimisation problem.

The first SM technique began in literature with work of Peter Chow [14]. Chow analysed what is now known as the *optimal discrete power-and bit-loading optimisation problem* (PBLP), i.e. how to allocate an appropriate transmit power density function (PDF) to an arbitrary number of multiple different users in a noisy environment.

It is evident that the water-filling method is the optimum solution for a single user scenario [9]. Consequently, the distributed iterative water-filling (IWF) algorithms employed for addressing the DSL optimisation problem in [15, 16] do not support the required centralised standards. Apart from the fundamental performance limitation of IWF, an additional requirement of PBLP is the spectra compatibility for multi-user non-homogeneous systems; that is, allocating the PDF required to transmit for various users; the user should not have more power than necessary to achieve their target data rates.

Two competing methods are known to achieve the spectral compatibility of DSL networks at both the transmitters and receivers. These are spectrum and signal coordination [9, 17, 18]. In some cases, spectrum combination methods may be used as crosstalk avoidance tools. On the other hand, signal coordination methods are typically defined for the cancellation of crosstalk. More details of these methods will be provided in Section 2.4.

The signal coordination methods, in particular, are well suited for types of crosstalk interference that are difficult to quantify at the transmitter end but become better fully-known at the receiver. A spectrum coordination design for link-to-link power control is well established in [19]. Managing the power consumption at the system-level is usually constrained by the large number of users, leading to some specific compromise between the achievable data-rate and complexity [20]. In particular, signal coordination allows more systematic characterisation of uncertainties during the lifetime of propagation processes. Using space-time analysis of this complex problem allows the system-link to be quantified.

Signal coordination method can also introduce model reduction concepts to explore only the required opportunities and possible address the additional risk. Reduction in power consumptions through the network management central via DSLAM have been reported in [21].

Much attention is currently focused on multi-user signal coordination techniques that can adaptively meet the need of the newest VDSL-2 system architectures. Again, spatial-temporal analysis and its exploration become the dominant tool to evaluate multiple structures based not just on their suitability at the transmitter but for balancing at the receiver.

This spatial-temporal method has been applied to some multi-carrier systems. Some specific areas of interest in MIMO communication include: (1) transmit optimisation with limited feedback mitigation [22]; (2) space-time coding to achieve better channel capacity [23]. This analysis requires a complete knowledge of the optimisation problem. Conceptually, this gives the system architect a tool to deal with overdetermined MIMO problems.

The well-known VBLAST algorithm requires few decision feedback parameters and performs quite well in a suitably structured environment. However, with rank deficient matrices, the VBLAST performance is far from optimal [24]. Similar space-time coding methods can be implemented in the form of vectoring transmission [25–27], where the signal of various users can be jointly coordinated at both transmitter and receiver to reduce the effects of crosstalk interference, and thus improve the performance of systems characterised by VBLAST. Vectored technologies typically require significantly higher complexity than spectrum-level coordination.

Vectoring treats the optimisation problem as a multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) system where various users can be grouped together and then jointly processed. Each user within the group is coordinated at the signal-level, to effectively mitigate the induced crosstalk from adjacent users, through successive decoding of the aggregate data-rate across all lines [28].

A vectored method cannot only enable error-free transmission for multi-user components but also perform a single carrier system with equalisation. The method always searches for robust codes (pre-coding function) that allow coding across different spatial dimensions. The pre-coding function provides greater transmit diversity and is more robust in the presence of crosstalk.

To this end, many efforts are focusing on the joint optimisation strategy with interference control procedure [21, 17]. A similar example of such a strategy is the joint precoding and decoding design with decision feedback equalisation (DFE) [29]. In general, there are two different approaches to DFE equalisation, perfect channel state information and imperfect channel information. The perfect channel equalisation for mitigating channel interference is referred to as a zero-forcing method [22]. This concept addresses how to improve the performance of DMT systems in the frequency domain by the introduction of

guard bands. The approach involves estimating the coherent equalisation parameters that represent synchronisation references, assuming that actual channel information is entirely known to both the transmitter and the receiver.

The other method, and focus of this thesis, is imperfect channel DFE design. DFE solution can be implemented without considering the additive bands, making the approach more flexible and capable of providing superior performance over DSL transmissions. Overdetermined precoding-equalisation is required when channel state information (CSI) for the multi-user PBLP problem is not entirely available at the transmitter, leading to an imbalance in spectral synchronisation between the transmitter and the receiver. The principal advantage of overdetermined equalisation designs lies in the inability to mitigate channel impairments too severe for the linear equalisation method. These DFE designs can be implemented as a set of simple Fourier impulse response (FIR) filters but at the expense of extreme in high computational load.

It is also worth noting that with per-user channel equalisation procedures, the DFE solution has received a great deal of attention in recent years. Such designs are slightly more mature than linear methods with regards to imbalanced and overdetermined complex problems.

The resource management technique proposed in this thesis focuses attention on the implementation of vectoring transmission with overdetermined channel equalisation. The optimisation problem considers a multi-user multiplexing standard between the transmitters and the receivers. The design also employs a joint power control scheme and exploits some system reduction procedures to shorten the length of copper twisted pair loops, with the aim of improving performance by mitigating the interference on each of the lines.

Two fundamental steps are followed during the process. The first step involves the application of polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) techniques to the DMT architecture for allocating the optimal joint transmitting power to a group of user in noisy DSL environment. The PMD algorithm is used to separate the channel information into the available signals and the noise signals.

An essential feature of the proposed design includes the power allocation which is carried out in a distributive manner through the PMD algorithm. The resulting method can be viewed as a vectored combination of users across the DSL network, in contrast to other spectrum coordination schemes discussed in [30, 31]. Secondly, the transmission error associated with the approach can be managed by optimising the expected vectored parameter with respect to some decision feedback criterion. As the level of inter-user communication is reduced, the performance degrades gracefully toward the single-user channel equalisation solution in the limit of communicative isolation. The proposed algorithm also involves a fresh look at IWF. A novel algorithm called interference-aware spectrum management approach through iterative processes is considered that simplifies overdetermined channel equalisation approaches and enjoys low complexity implementation.

1.4 Why Polynomial Matrix Decomposition (PMD) Algorithms?

Polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) algorithms are a family of multi-carrier factorisation techniques. These algorithms provide a spatial-temporal solution to a complex multi-user channel problem and apply various mitigation concepts including pre-processing, linear transformation and equalisation to improve the systems' throughput. PMD is suitable for solving generalisations of the single channel equalisation problem typically by computing the eigenvalue decomposition (EVD) and exploiting subspace decomposition [5].

These algorithms are now viewed as powerful optimisation tools for broadband or convolutive blind source separation (BSS), although in range of application is now much broader. The classical EVD approach to a single-carrier problem begins by exploiting second-order statistics to generate an instantaneous mixing matrix and performing independent components analysis (ICA) [32, 33]. ICA is usually obtained through factorisation of the instantaneous mixing matrix using unitary decomposition methods, such as the singular value (SVD) or eigenvalue decomposition (EVD) [34, 35].

In the polynomial matrix framework, the broadband MIMO problem is represented as a convolutive mixing matrix or a set of finite impulse response (FIR) filters. The transfer function of such a set of FIR filters forms a polynomial matrix, which can accurately represent the mixing multi-carrier problems. Typically, polynomial matrix decompositions estimate a reduced subspace and provide a more accurate physical representation of the mixing parameters. They usually incorporate a-priori knowledge of the mixing problem and address statistical aspects of the problem [5].

Polynomial matrices have been applied in a wide range of multi-disciplinary fields, including adaptive control systems [36], principal component analysis [37] and adaptive lossless filters [38]. Several PMD processes are formulated using the Smith–Macmillan form [39] and many others using polynomial matrix factors that are para-unitary [40]. The goal is to optimise a specific objective function for known channel state information and to form a space-time coding analysis. This type of coding analysis is always derived from auto-and cross-correlation terms, whose symmetries are created by a para-Hermitian polynomial matrix [41, 42].

The space-time coding analysis is applied here as an adaptive power allocation tool to solve the multi-carrier DSL problems. It has been shown in [43] that being able to jointly allocate a given transmit power efficiently to a various users in a noisy environment can significantly improve the intelligibility of a communication system. To the best of the knowledge, polynomial matrix approach has not been previously considered in the context of DSL spectrum management framework².

1.5 Outline and Contributions

The fundamental limitation in vectored transmission systems includes the exhaustive search for the precoding and equalisation thresholds, which are used to choose the best-suited power allocation. By employing the conventional EVD algorithm, one can derive the optimal power allocation functions for minimising induced crosstalk within a narrow frequency range subject to data-rate and spectral power constraints and hence the required bandwidth but experience high computational complexity arises as the number of users increases.

In an attempt to reduce the complexity, an iterative EVD equalisation algorithm known sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) suggested in [41] will be employed. This decomposes a complex optimisation problem into a set of SISO problems, and formulates joint precoding and equalisation thresholds to achieve the possible optimal power allocation solution.

The assumption of allocating the PSD function only to essential information is implemented, as suggested in [41], by reducing the optimisation problem to a reasonable setting, which considerable improves the average spectral efficiency and can be achieved with lowcomplexities. Ta and Weiss in [44] stated that, subject to the MMSE constraint and the peak power allocation constraint, the joint precoding and equalisation strategy through the use of polynomial singular value (PSVD) algorithm as an exhaustive search provides the optimal choice on power consumption minimisation and data-rate maximisation for broadband MIMO systems.

In light of the intensive computational complexities required hitherto, the proposed procedure is novel only require low-level single channel equalisation, and can achieve comparable performance to other existing exhaustive search techniques.

This thesis will analyse two important problems in robust spectrum management designs under the polynomial matrix framework; the implementation of joint optimal precoders

²Polynomial matrix decomposition algorithm can be more useful to DSL network to control the presence of crosstalk interference. First, with the joint precoding structure equalisation, the transmission can be balanced with the single-user decision feedback optimisation estimator at the receiver. Perfect reconstruction of the transmitted signal should seem more feasible when using the overdetermined channel equalisation at the receiver.
and equalisers, and the development of a robust decision feedback equalisation structure for overdetermined multi-user DSL systems. The influence of crosstalk on performance is investigated through the coherent equalisation with zero-forcing (ZF) equalisation and overdetermined channel equalisation using a decision feedback detector.

The differences in average spectral efficiency are presented for different channel state information (CSI). It is of interest to develop a generalised crosstalk-aware dynamic spectrum management (CA-DSM) scheme whereby crosstalk can be efficiently identified and isolated at the transmitters for any multi-user DSL system.

1.6 Thesis Overview

The outline of this thesis is as follows: Chapter 2 provides an overview of multi-carrier modulation systems; in particular, it discusses the discrete multi-tone (DMT) modulation for DSL systems. It also addresses the DSL interference channel, and the evolution of dynamic spectrum management algorithms.

Chapter 3 discusses some polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) algorithms proposed in the literature for multi-user MIMO systems. They include SBR2 (second-order sequential best rotation) and SMD (sequential matrix diagonalisation). In particular, it focuses on SMD algorithm that is fast, robust and incurs low control overhead in multi-user MIMO network where it is used to develop the polynomial singular value decomposition (PSVD) framework [45, 5].

Chapter 4 introduces the application of the resulting PEVD algorithm to DMT modulation. Some precoding and equalisation framework based on PSVD algorithms are also discussed. These frameworks include precoding and equalisation for single-user DSL transmission, joint precoding and equalisation for multi-user DSL transmission and block precoding and equalisation for multi-user DSL transmission. The chapter concludes with some worked numerical examples.

Chapter 5 analyses joint precoding and equalisation with decision feedback constraints for overdetermined channel DSM problems. The joint optimal precoders and equalisers allow linear vectored transmission schemes. Several interference mitigation algorithms based on the decision feedback equaliser strategies are also proposed for further improvement of the DSM systems' data transmission performance with per-subchannel power constraints. Comparisons with a common linear zero-forcing strategies show that the proposed MMSE model performs better considering a set of joint optimal precoding and equalisation measures with the corresponding lower complexity and higher accuracy.

Chapter 5 also provides some simulation result for imperfect CSI MIMO channel using the MMSE-DFE equaliser at the receiver to increase the bit-rate at the transmitting end. The divergence between zero-forcing assumptions and minimum mean square (MMSE) statistics under decision feedback equalisation criteria is analysed. Numerical simulation helps evaluate the performance of multi-user spectrum management algorithms under decision feedback equalisation conditions.

Chapter 6 provides the conclusions and suggestions for future work.

Chapter 2

Overview of Multi-carrier Modulation Systems

This chapter first provides a brief introduction to multi-carrier modulation systems and then presents an overview of discrete multitone (DMT) modulation. It also presents some brief background information on the DSL interference channel, which requires some additive samples for propagation. In the remaining part of this chapter, we attempt to provide an overview of the key algorithms, including the iterative water-filling method and other state of the art dynamic spectrum management methods.

2.1 Multi-Carrier Modulation Systems

The application of multi-carrier modulation has dramatically advanced in modern communication technologies and enabled many intelligent resource management algorithms for communication systems. A brief review of multi-carrier modulation techniques is provided in this section.

Modern communication systems such as DSL networks suffer from inter-symbol interference (ISI) and inter-carrier interference (ICI) when successive symbols or blocks interfere with each other - especially for a high–speed communication system that exploits a narrow spacing between symbols/blocks in the time domain. Single-carrier systems use simple equalisers to reduce both ISI and ICI, and treat the channel as an equivalent additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) process. A simple example is a single-user zero-forcing (ZF) equaliser, which performs an inversion on the channel gain in the frequency domain and forces the interference between symbols to zero. Figure 2.1 shows a measured the channel transfer function of a single-carrier transmission.



Figure 2.1 Single-User System

To flatten the AWGN channel, extremely complicated equalisation procedures need to be implemented. Also, there are notches in some different frequency ranges where the common channel inversion process would introduce a substantial noise.

Other equalisation methods for a single-carrier system experience similar problems and are either significantly reducing the performance of the system or not implementable in practice. This led to the introduction of multi-carrier modulation systems. Two of the popular multi-carrier modulations of today's system are the orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) for wireless communication and discrete multi-tone (DMT) for digital subscriber line networks.

2.2 Discrete Multitone (DMT) Modulation

Similar to OFDM in wireless systems, DMT is best suited for high-speed multi-user transmission over fast-fading frequency selective channels. DMT based systems always partition the available channel bandwidth into multiple parallel sub-channels, each with narrowband frequency tone. Each sub-channel can be viewed as an AWGN channel. The difference is that the transmitter in DMT always optimises energy allocation over the parallel sub-channels instead of putting an equal amount of energy on all sub-channels. Also, DMT performs bit-loading by transmitting different constellations on each sub-channel based on its SNR. DMT is widely adopted in various DSL systems with a slowly varying channel, where the receiver often provides specific feedback of channel information to the transmitter by jointly coordinating and optimising the power allocation. In DSL channel transmissions the channel state information (CSI) may be difficult to estimate at the transmitter and is often unavailable.

A good example of DMT transmission is illustrated in Figure 2.2, where (a) shows how a DMT based system partitions the available bandwidth s(t) into multiple parallel sub-channels with each sub-channel allocated for narrowband signal $x_i(t)$. The input signal s(t) in (b) is then converted into several digital bit streams using the inverse discrete Fourier transform (IDFT) operation to form the discrete-time signal $x_i(t)$. This operation calculates the inverse fast Fourier transformation (IFFT) elements of s(t) and then conveys each through



Figure 2.2 DMT based transmission

a DSL channel. During the propagation, channel distortions $z_i(t)$ are invariably introduced. The received signal $y_i(t)$ becomes corrupted, and the overall performance may be severely affected. The desired signal $\hat{s}(t)$ at the receiver would appear quite different from the input signal s(t). The task of the receiver is then to perform another fast Fourier transform (DFT) by calculating the fast Fourier transformation (FFT) of the received discrete signal to equalise the effect of these distortions by reproducing s(t) with little or no difference.



Figure 2.3 DMT transformation processes

All existing DSL networks, from ADSL standards onwards to the newest G.fast systems, use DMT as the core multiplexing modulation technique. DMT is a class of multi-carrier

modulation to the wireless OFDM technique. In contrast to OFDM, DMT can adapt the modulation structure of each tone irrespective of the level of change in channel conditions. This is, in fact, the main reason why various DMTs are standardised for high-speed data transmission over twisted copper wire services, mainly, in situation where the channel information is almost static.

In DSL, there exist some transmission distortions due to network imbalances, but these variations occur slowly over time. Because of the mostly static channel, adaptive modulation for each tone can deliver substantial gains in possible performance. However, for current high-speed communication systems such as VDSL-2, the channel variations occur very fast and so adaptive per-tone modulations are much crucial.

A general block diagram of DMT transmission is given in Figure 2.3, employing the IDFT operation at the transmitter and DFT operation at the receiver after converting the channel state information into discrete input signals. In principle, the Fourier transformation converts the continuous-time input signal s(t) to a discrete-time signal after obeying the Nyquist sampling rate, and performs the inverse operation to produce the output signal $\hat{s}(t)$.

Practical DMT architectures employ single-carrier water-filling procedures to maximise the data-rate adaptively subject to a total power constraint. The optimisation problem is represented as:

maximize:
$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\Xi_n g_n}{\Gamma \sigma_n^2} \right)$$
subject to
$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \Xi_n \le \Xi_x,$$
(2.1)

where Ξ_n and σ_n^2 respectively represent the transmit and noise power density of each subcarrier *n*, "*g_n*" is the channel gain, and Γ represent the SNR gap of digital modulation for a achievable probability of error per bit *P_e* [7, 46]. The Lagrangian decomposition of the problem into several sub-problems can be expressed as:

$$L(\lambda, \Xi) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\Xi_n g_n}{\Gamma \sigma_n^2} \right) + \lambda \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N} \Xi_n - \Xi_x \right).$$
(2.2)

Taking derivatives of $L(\lambda, \Xi)$ with respect to Ξ_n and setting them to zero, the optimal condition can be formed as:

$$\Xi_n + \frac{\Gamma \sigma_n^2}{g_n} = Constant$$

$$\Xi_n \ge 0, \ n = 1, \dots, N.$$
(2.3)

This expression indicates the sum of the transmitted PDF and noise power spectra normalised to the channel gain. The optimal power allocation of (2.1) follows a water-filling pattern [7]. The water-filling transmit power allocation can be approximated by a flat discrete transmission on virtual DSL carriers with little or no effect on overall performance, as long as the PDF parameters are used [14]. A detailed discussion of such a discrete transmission is available in [47].

2.3 The DSL Interference Channels

A typical optimisation model is similar to the DSL interference channels described in Figure 1.2, where K users share a binder and crosstalk interference arises when transmitting input data from the customer premise equipment (CPE) to a single central office (CO). The FEXT interference in Figure 1.3 can be mitigated efficiently by allocating none-overlapping power spectra for the upstream and downstream transmission.

We use *K* to denote the total number of users, *N* to denote the total number of DMT frequency tones, \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n denotes the channel transfer function from user *j* to user *k* on tone *n*, ω_k the weight assigned to user *k*, S_k^n the power spectral density allocated to user *k* on tone *n*. The number of bits available for user *k* on tone *n*, b_k^n is

$$b_k^n = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{g_k^n}{\Gamma}\right) \tag{2.4}$$

where Γ is the product of the gap-to-capacity of the code and the SINR margin used for protection against unexpected noise [7]. g_k^n represents the signal-to-interference-plus-noise ratio (SINR) of user *k* on tone *n* and can be expressed as:

$$g_k^n = \frac{|\mathbf{H}_{kk}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kk}^n | S_k^n}{\sum_{j \neq k} \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kj}^n S_j^n + (\sigma_k^n)^2}.$$
(2.5)

The data rate for user k is defined as

$$R_k^n = \sum_{n=1}^N b_k^n.$$
 (2.6)

The maximum weighted sum rate (WSR) power allocation problem can be defined as

maximise:
$$\omega_k R_k^n$$

subject to $\sum_{n=1}^N S_k^n \le P_k$, $\forall k$ (2.7)
 $0 \le S_k^n \le M_k^n$ $\forall k, n$

where P_k is the achievable transmit power for user k and M_k^n is the regulatory power mask for user k on tone n. The weighed function, ω_k represents the fairness weight for all users and can be adjusted to improve a fairness in the power control. The fairness weight can be viewed economically as a "monetary budget" for user k in the power allocation while the channel condition can be considered to be a price factor for spectrum management in the DSL system [26].

A largest ω_k provides tone *k* the ability to compete for more transmit power in the DSL network even if the price (channel condition) is not favourable to the user. A largest competitive value of ω_k is incrementally granted to user *k* when it is in need of more power allocation and data rate. The objective function can be represented as the difference of two convex functions c(x) - d(x), where

$$c(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \omega_k \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left(\mathbf{H}_{kk}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kk}^n S_k^n + (\sigma_k^n)^2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kj}^n S_j^n \right)$$
(2.8)

$$d(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \omega_k \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left((\sigma_k^n)^2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kj}^n S_j^n \right).$$
(2.9)

The optimisation problem is non-convex and requires difference-of convex programming procedure. Another equivalent formulation of the optimisation problem for tracking the transmit power allocation function on a multi-user network is to decouple the non-convex problem into a set of minimum requirements and propagate each simpler problem through a channel on its data rate.

2.4 Dynamic Spectrum Management Algorithms

Early work in the deployment of DSM is uses of the iterative water-filling (IWF) algorithm. This repeatedly performs water-filling to allocate the transmit power to each user while considering the crosstalk from adjacent users as noise [48]. While fast in algorithmic speed, IWF is a fully distributed and autonomous algorithm with reasonable computational complexity, leading to a sub-optimal performance in near-far scenarios DSL transmission

[7]. Since the design of the distributed IWF algorithm, many recent efforts have focused on either spectrum or signal coordination methods to solve the underlying optimisation problem appearing in DSL networks. Unfortunately, this optimisation problem is non-convex and problematic. This rest of this section is devoted to analysing coordination methods and several other DSM algorithms.

2.4.1 Spectrum Coordination

Many different spectrum coordination algorithms have been proposed. Cendrillon et. al. proposed the optimal spectrum balancing (OSB) algorithm that performs a exhaustive-search to find the optimal power allocation to a predetermined quantization of user powers [30, 49]. To solve the non-convex optimisation problem in (2.7), the OSB algorithm uses Lagrange multipliers to enforce constraints that are coupled over frequencies [50]. The dual of a nonconvex optimization problem is always convex, even if the primal problem is not convex [50]. If the duality gap is zero or negligible, optimizing the dual problem reaches the same optimal value as the primal problem. OSB searches for the optimal solution to the per-user power constraint decoupled dual problem. Consequently, OSB is a fully centralised algorithm and suffers from an exponential complexity in the number of users. However, finding the optimal Lagrange multipliers can become more complex when more than two users are involved in the optimisation problem. Another centralised algorithm, iterative spectrum balancing (ISB) proposed in [51] extends the application of Lagrange multipliers by iteratively computing the optimal solution to the dual non-convex problem for reduced algorithmic complexity. ISB avoids the exponential complexity by using a sub-gradient search. However, the stepsize of the sub-gradient has to be small to guarantee convergence, leading to a high computation cost. The description of OSB and ISB algorithms is analysed below. The Lagrangian dual

$$L(\lambda, S) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \omega_k \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\mathbf{H}_{kk}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kk}^n S_k^n}{(\sigma_k^n)^2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kj}^n S_j^n} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \lambda_k \left(P_k - \sum_{n=1}^{N} S_k^n \right).$$
(2.10)

The dual objective function $g(\lambda)$ is defined as:

$$g(\lambda) = \underset{S}{\operatorname{argmax}} \quad L(\lambda, S).$$
 (2.11)

The dual optimisation problem of (2.7) can be expressed as:

minimise:
$$g(\lambda)$$

subject to $\lambda > 0$ (2.12)

The difference between OSB and ISB is the calculation of the sub-gradient $g(\lambda)$. OSB either jointly discretises the power allocation S_k^n (power-loading) or discretises the bit allocation b_k^n (bit-loading) to approximate a finite set of the possible power allocation matrices. ISB exhaustively searches the set of power allocation matrices to find the value of $g(\lambda)$ over each tone, i.e., the maximum value of $L(\lambda, S)$ over the set of possible energy matrices on each tone.

If the discretisation size is M, OSB has a complexity of $O(NKM^K)$ on the approximation of $g(\lambda)$. ISB, instead, introduces a coordinate descent approximation procedure to compute $g(\lambda)$, thus effectively reducing the dual optimisation complexity. A pseudocode description of ISB algorithms is summarised in Algorithm 1. ISB computes the $g(\lambda)$ compared to the exhaustive OSB search. However, ISB does not always reach an optimal value of $L(\lambda, S)$, even for the convex $g(\lambda)$. Coordinate descent's inaccurate evaluation of $g(\lambda)$ may harm the update of the dual variable λ , and thus ISB may diverge and reach a suboptimal solution. Therefore, OSB is still widely used as a benchmark on the rate region achievable for a given DSL optimisation problem [11].

Algorithm 1 Pseudo-code for sub-gradient $g(\lambda)$ calculation for ISB Algorithm

Repeat for n=1 to N do for K=1 to K do $S_k^n = \underset{S_k^n}{\operatorname{argmax}} \sum_{k=1}^K \left(\omega_k \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\mathbf{H}_{kk}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kk}^n S_k^n}{(\sigma_k^n)^2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \mathbf{H}_{kj}^n \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{kj}^n} \right) - \lambda S_k^n \right)$ end for end for Until S converges.

While ISB reduces complexity compared to OSB, it is still unclear how well-suited they are for practical implementation.

Other spectrum coordination algorithms include; Autonomous Spectrum Balancing (ASB) [52, 53, 31], Selective Iterative Water-filling (SIW) [54], Successive Convex Approximation for Low complExity (SCALE) [11, 55], Band Preference Spectrum Management (BPSM) [56], Iterative Power Pricing (IPP) [57], Grouping Spectrum Management (GSM) [58], Semi-Blind Spectrum Balancing (2SB) [59], Distributed Spectrum Balancing (DSB) [60, 15, 61], and successive convex approximation for water-filling (SCAWF) [11].

2.4.2 Signal Coordination

Signal coordination, also know as vectored DSM, involves considering the problem appearing in (2.7) as a multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) problems. Previous work includes [26,

62–64, 25, 65–68]. With vectored DSM, the implementation requirements on infrastructure are considerably higher. For vectoring transmission, various users have to have some form of physically co-located at the transmitting side and the receiver side, where the knowledge of all direct signals, crosstalk signal and channel gains involved are usually available. On the one hand, vectored transmission can deliver substantial gains in comparison to spectrum coordination, mitigating most if not all crosstalk and even benefiting from the crosstalk. It is Worthing that the fact that crosstalk is beneficial can be interpreted as the spatial-temporal gain.

This kind of coordination can provide support for all variations of spectrum efficient, vectored VDSL-2 systems. It consists of joint transmit and joint receive processors. When connected to a standard network management centre device such as the DSLAM, this combination allows the implementation of a complete point-to-point vectoring transmission. The vectored transmission supports all features defined in, ITU G.993.2 (VDSL2), G.993.5 (G.vector) and ITU G.997 (G.ploam). This coordination solution is enabled by decoupling the system architecture and resources into a set of linear multiple vectored lines. This high level of scalability, coupled with the compelling features offered by the linear and independent vectored set, lead to a solution that is ideally suited to a wide range of applications such as heterogeneous DSLAM systems. A typical scenario for joint signal coordination with



Figure 2.4 This is the most common scenario considered in the signal coordination of DSL system, where we have joint signal processing (Pre-coding) at the transmit side, and we have joint signal processing (Equalisation) at the receive side.

a vectored DSL channel is illustrated in Figure 2.4. The redundant precoding potential of the signal coordination coupled with the low power consumption allows vectored DSM technology to comply with the parallel transmission standard for overdetermined MIMO systems. The flexibility of the redundant precoding simplifies portfolio diversification addressing multiple applications while ensuring that such systems are proven for next-generation networks. The vectored transmission offers elegant technical solutions to crosstalk

containment. The common and current implementations are with an interference mitigation scheme.

Hitherto most previous work in the literature have applied vectored DSM in two distinct situations. The first situation is one with full two-sided coordination. In our nomenclature, this is joint equalisation with a zero-forcing condition. The second situation is the one that is considered by the majority of papers in the DSM equalisation literature. It is the one where each user independently equalises crosstalk impact at the receiver, and there is full joint coordination of all users at the transmitter side but no common signal processing at the receiver side.

This situation arises when the DSL channel optimisation problem is spread into several independent signals, and each signal has a unified transmitting channel from the transmitter to the receiver. In the literature, this independent user equalisation requires specific feedback information to minimise the mean square estimated error (MSE). In this thesis, we consider applying signal coordination to only two-sided vectored transmission scenarios.

2.4.3 Two-Sided Vectored Signal Processing

This section will analyse a two-sided vectored signal processing approach that preconditions a mixture of signals before transmission, then transmits only the actual signal through a DSL channel, and also equalises the resulting transmission errors at the receiver. In the MIMO channel literature, a two-sided vectored signal processing is usually performed by decomposing the channel state information into completely independent channels via singular value decomposition (SVD).

Figure 2.5 represents a general two-sided vectored DSM model for DSL systems , where the model assumes a DSL channel representation in the frequency domain, ω . The



Figure 2.5 This is the generalised two-sided vectored DSM model of DSL system, with the precoder $\mathbf{F}(\omega)$ at the transmitter, the channel $\mathbf{H}(\omega)$ and equaliser $\mathbf{G}(\omega)$ at the receiver.

received signals $y_k(\omega), k = 1, \dots, K$ are represented by the vector $\mathbf{y}(\omega) = [y_1(\omega), \dots, y_K(\omega)]$. Consequently, the signal $\mathbf{y}(\omega)$ can be described by

$$\mathbf{y}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(2.13)

where the mixing input signals in a vector $\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = [s_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}), \dots, s_K(\boldsymbol{\omega})]^T$ are converted to the transmit vector $\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = [x_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}), \dots, x_K(\boldsymbol{\omega})]^T$ through the precoder matrix $\mathbf{F}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$. The vectored signal $\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is then transmitted through the DSL channel $\mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ in the presence of a noise vector $\mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = [v_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}), \dots, v_K(\boldsymbol{\omega})]^T$. The channel matrix $\mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \in \mathbb{C}^{K \times K}$ defines both the real channel information (diagonal elements) and the crosstalk information (off-diagonal elements). Converting the channel matrix to a convolutional model, therefore, $\mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ can be modelled as:

$$\mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H}_{K-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \mathbf{H}_{K-2}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{H}_{L-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{K-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \mathbf{H}_{K-2}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.14)

The current OFDM and DMT based systems employ a form of cyclic prefix (CP) or zero padding (ZP) to act as a buffer[22, 69], where the $\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\omega)$ is the $K \times K$ Toeplitz matrix with

$$\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \mathbf{H}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{H}_{K-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \mathbf{H}_{K-2}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.15)

As analysed in [22, 70], the importance of the cyclic prefix is to convert the linear convolution of the channel into a circular convolution. As will be shown in the following section, the circular convolution in the time domain is equivalent to multiplication in the frequency domain, provided the additional CP ensure that all transmitting tones are orthogonal during their propagation through the channel.

By applying SVD, the channel matrix $\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\omega)$ at frequency tone (ω) can be defined as:

$$\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \mathbf{P}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\Lambda(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{Q}^{\mathsf{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(2.16)

where $\mathbf{P}(\omega)$ and $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ are unitary matrices and $\Lambda(\omega)$ is diagonal with real and non-negative values. The real channel information with no crosstalk interference is represented by $\Lambda(\omega)$, each value of $\Lambda(\omega)$ can be used independently for vectored transmission.

To benefit from the diagonally vectored channel, the mixing input signals $\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ that are preconditioned by pre-coding matrix $\mathbf{Q}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ to form transmit vectored signal $\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \mathbf{Q}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega}). \tag{2.17}$$

The vectored received signal $\mathbf{y}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is compensated through the equalisation matrix $\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$ at the receiver, where

$$\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{y}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \left(\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{x}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \right)$$
$$= \mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{Q}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
$$= \Lambda(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(2.18)

Here, we have chosen $G^{H}(\omega)$ to be the optimal $P^{H}(\omega)$ and $F^{H}(\omega)$ to be the optimal $Q^{H}(\omega)$. Also, we also assumed that the noise parameters in $P^{H}(\omega)v(\omega)$ are white and additive Gaussian noise.

To reconstruct the original input signals, the output signal can be simply estimated by inverting $\Lambda(\omega)$ [46] (provided the channel is invertible) i.e,

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \Lambda^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{y}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$

= $\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \Lambda^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega}).$ (2.19)

The above analysis utilises a joint signal equalisation of the receivers to counteract the effect of the noise matrix $\Lambda^{-1}(\omega)\mathbf{P}^{H}(\omega)\mathbf{v}(\omega)$. But in practice with imperfect channel matrices, a suitable channel estimation procedure is required to continuously mitigate the effect of overdetermined MIMO transmission and update the transmit matrices occasionally.

The benefit of this channel estimation over the static joint signal equalisation standards is that error propagation from channel to channel is avoided. Accordingly, the complexity normally associated with the presence of crosstalk is reduced as a result of its implementation.

There exist some studies on vectored DSM systems where decision feedback equalisation (DFE) is independently applied to mitigate the impact of crosstalk on each of the received tones. The most common DFE approach for cancelling crosstalk at the receiver is probably zero-forcing (ZF). In [71–76], crosstalk is mitigated at the transmitter using a per-tone equalisation scheme, where the received signal is defined as

$$\mathbf{y}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{1}{\beta_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) \mathbf{x}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \mathbf{v}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(2.20)

and $\beta(\omega)$ is the feedback parameter chosen so that the best vectored linear signal is achieved. Thus, the output vectored signal becomes

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \boldsymbol{\beta}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\boldsymbol{\Lambda}_{k}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{P}_{k}^{\mathrm{H}}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathbf{y}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(2.21)

The scalar feedback parameter may be chosen so that the bit-error rate of the vectored transmission is optimised by setting

$$\beta(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \underset{\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\omega})}{\operatorname{argmax}} ||\mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega})^{\mathsf{H}} \mathbf{H}_{padded}(\boldsymbol{\omega})||.$$
(2.22)

In general, most of the algorithms available in DSL environments to minimise (2.22) are somewhat suboptimal, because the scalar parameters $\beta(\omega)$ require finite power constraints at all transmit paths. Because of the sub-optimality of the existing DFE equalisation under the zero-forcing constraints, there is an extra benefit in using MMSE and polynomial channel representation. The analysis of DSL problems modelled as polyphase (polynomial) matrices has been addressed in [39, 77]. It is also shown in that decision feedback, and polynomial matrix decomposition (PMD) system architectures [78] are required to enable a complete vectoring transmission. A similar approach has been suggested for MIMO systems in [44, 22].

It is, therefore, the purpose of this research to investigate the problems associated with DSL systems in the polynomial domain and provide a novel alternative approach to vectored DSM implementation. More particularly, this research aims to provide a tractable practical system without being overly complicated. The main difficulty with known solutions of the multi-carrier interference mitigation technique lies in the fact that the optimisation problem of current DSL systems, particularly VDSL-2, is inherently an overdetermined MIMO problem that requires single channel equalisation. This research also aims to develop a simple per-user equalisation method through a decision feedback mechanism which involves sending information from the receiver back to the transmitter for each user. Consequently, we are to show that a polynomial matrix based DSM approach can provide a capability for improving the performance over DSL communication systems, providing several optimal vectored channels over which each input bit is transmitted and received by respective users.

The proposed method follows the following steps: (1) collecting channel state information about the DSL line to encapsulate the signal and interference characteristics of a group of users in the polynomial domain; (2) determining the crosstalk line, background noise signal and other interference characteristics which exist within a group of DSL cable binders through the sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) algorithm; (3) dynamically allocating transmit power to a group of DSL lines taking into consideration the actual line, signal and interference characteristics and nose weight of the channel information; (4) exclusively optimising the expected received information at the receiver by minimising the crosstalk information and providing decision feedback to enable the maximisation of data-rates for each of the respective users.

2.5 Concluding Remarks

Vectored DSM algorithms have the potential to provide feedback information to improve the performance of overdetermined MIMO systems. This section first discussed the revolution of multi-carrier modulation in DSL networks from the standardised DMT system to the innovation of signal coordination DSM algorithms. These algorithms led to vectored transmission incorporated with channel estimation. This section also illustrated how to reconstruct the original input signal at the receiver by minimising the MSE constraints.

Chapter 3

Polynomial Matrix Decomposition Techniques

3.1 Introduction

This section will discuss the principle of a polynomial matrix formulation and its Eigenvalue decomposition. The study focuses in particular on the sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) technique to compute the polynomial matrix eigenvalue decomposition (PEVD) for a multi-carrier MIMO system. SMD is introduced to formulate the polynomial singular value decomposition (PSVD) structures for the system. The SMD algorithm is a natural extension of the second-order sequential best rotation (SBR2) method, which was devised for the blind separation of signals that have been mixed in a convolutive manner [41].

Just as many instantaneous mixing models exploit the standard EVD or SVD as a second order pre-processing step, the proposed PSVD algorithm applied to a convolutive mixing model, where polynomial matrices are used to represent the channel state information. The SMD algorithm is used to compute the necessary PSVD algorithm.

The PSVD can be implemented by applying a two-sided SMD decomposition to a para-Hermitian polynomial matrix in order to create a diagonal polynomial matrix. It can, therefore, be considered as an extension of the conventional Jacobi algorithm suitable for scalar Hermitian matrices. Consequently, this PSVD algorithm can be applied for a scalar Hermitian matrix by merely diagonalising the matrix via Jacobi's algorithm [79]. The idea of SMD was first established by Redif et al. [41], by performing a direct calculation of the PEVD for MIMO signal processing using the well-established the (SBR2) algorithm. The reader is referred to [5, 45?, 80, 81] for more details about this variant.

Finally, this chapter analyses and describes how the SMD algorithm operates to shorten the order of the optimisation problem and form vectored diagonal matrices. Convergence of the algorithm is proven, and its application to formulate joint optimal pre-coding and channel equalisation is highlighted using a simple numerical example. Other applications of the algorithm include multichannel spectral factorisation and the design of filter banks for optimal data suppression and perfect reconstruction. Our interest of course is the application of polynomial matrix technique to DSM designs in order to alleviate the performance degradation due to impaired channel state information.

3.2 Polynomial Matrices

Polynomial matrices arise in many different situations; a pertinent example is the case of multi-user MIMO systems. Polynomial matrices can be defined as either a polynomial with matrix-valued coefficients or a matrix with polynomial entries [? 82]. In general, the polynomials required are Laurent polynomials with positive and negative powers.

3.2.1 Laurent Polynomial

A Laurent polynomial involves a combination of positive and negative powers of the independent variable with fixed coefficients. Laurent polynomials differ from ordinary polynomials in that they may have terms of negative degree.

A Laurent polynomial matrix takes the form

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \mathbf{H}_{-V_1} z^{V_1} + \dots + \mathbf{H}_{-1} z^1 + \mathbf{H}_0 + \mathbf{H}_1 z^{-1} + \dots + \mathbf{H}_{V_2} z^{-V_2}$$
(3.1)

more compactly,

$$H(z) = \sum_{\nu = -V_1}^{V_2} \mathbf{H}_{\nu} z^{-\nu}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where $V_1 > 0$, $V_2 > 0$, and z is the indeterminate variable. The complex coefficient \mathbf{H}_v is a matrix with M inputs and N outputs. For the purpose of this thesis, we assume that the coefficient entries are complex and so(3.2) represents a complex Laurent polynomial.

3.2.2 Properties of a Polynomial Matrix

Order and Degree

The dimension of H(z) is $M \times N$, with the polynomial order dependent on the support of the auto- and cross-correlation sequences contained within it. For the example in (3.1) the order is $(v_2 - (-v_1))$. The degree of the polynomial matrix is defined as the number of delay

elements required to implement it as an FIR filter; therefore, it is only defined for causal polynomial matrices. The degree is quite different to the order of a polynomial matrix and to avoid confusion degree will not be discussed any further in this thesis.

Parahermitian Transpose

The term "paraHernitian transpose" (sometimes referred to as "para-conjugate") is an extension of the Hermitian transpose from scalar matrices to polynomial matrices. The parahermitian transpose of a polynomial matrix involves a time reversal of the polynomial elements, i.e. $\tilde{H}(z) = H^{\rm H}(z^{-*})$ where $\{\tilde{.}\}$ is used to denote the paraHermitian transpose operation. Note that in the case where the polynomial matrix is of order zero, the paraHermitian transpose is equivalent to the Hermitian transpose.

ParaHermitian Property

The idea of Hermitian symmetry can be extended to the polynomial matrices. A polynomial matrix is paraHermitian if it is equal to its paraHermitian transpose, i.e. $\tilde{H}(z) = H(z)$. One implication of this is that a paraHermitian polynomial matrix has the same number of positive and negative powers and also that M = N. This means therefore, that taking the z-transform of a multi-user transfer function leads to a paraHermitian structure.

Paraunitary Property

The paraunitary property for polynomial matrices is equivalent to the unitary (energy preserving) property for scalar matrices. Applying the meaning of unitary matrices in the polynomial domain, a polynomial matrix is paraunitary if, when applied to its para hermitian transpose, it gives the identity transformation, i.e. $H(z)\tilde{H}(z) = I_M$ and $\tilde{H}(z)H(z) = I_N$ where I denotes the identity matrix as usual.

Frobenius Norm

The Frobenius norm of the polynomial matrix H(z) is defined to be

$$||\boldsymbol{H}(z)||_{F} = \sqrt{\operatorname{trace}\left\{[\boldsymbol{H}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{H}}(z)]|_{0}\right\}}$$
(3.3)

where $[.]_0$ defines the coefficient matrix of z^0 in the polynomial matrix.

3.3 Polynomial Matrix Decomposition Algorithms

The idea of polynomial matrix decomposition arises from a family of iterative space-time covariance algorithms that can factorise a complex multi-user matrix to generate an approximate polynomial matrix eigenvalue decomposition (PEVD) [82].

The iterative algorithm extends the concept of the EVD from narrowband to broadband problems via SBR2 factorisation, which has found application in subband coding [83] and broadband communication [82, 5, 82], channel coding [84, 85] transmit and receive beamforming transmission for a broadband MIMO channel [86, 87], angle of arrival estimation [88, 89], spectral factorisation [90–92], and joint optimal pre-coding and equalisation [93, 94, 6].

This type of decomposition also allows the channel data to be compressed at the preprocessing stage for de-noising [84], decorrelation [82] and optimum subband decompositions [83], or improving the system data rate [5].

In this section, we begin with iterative EVD algorithm and discuss how the state-ofthe-art algorithmic developments for PEVD, and then provide a comprehensive discussion of existing PEVD algorithms from the following two perspectives: (i) what algorithms are available for computing the PSVD and (ii) how it works differently for shortening the multi-user polynomial matrix.

3.3.1 Sequential Best Rotation Algorithm (SBR2)

The EVD of a complex Hermitian matrix $\mathbf{H}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times M}$ is given in 3.4 where **D** is a diagonal matrix consisting of eigenvalue and **Q** is a unitary matrix such that $\mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{H}}\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{H}} = \mathbf{I}_{M}$ and

$$\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{H}[n]\mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{H}} \tag{3.4}$$

The diagonalisation of $\mathbf{H}[n]$ is achieved for example using an iterative sequence of Jacobi rotation matrices [82]. First, on each iteration, the dominant (largest in magnitude) offdiagonal element of $\mathbf{H}[n]$ is located. Assume that this is the element $[\mathbf{H}]_{ij} = h_{ij}$. Note that the search can be restricted to either the lower triangular or upper triangular part of $\mathbf{H}[n]$ due to its Hermitian symmetry property. The rotation angle θ which is used to annihilate the dominant off-diagonal element h_{ij} is chosen such that

$$\cot 2\theta = \frac{h_{jj} - h_{ii}}{2h_{ij}} \tag{3.5}$$

The corresponding Jacobi rotation matrix \mathbf{Q}_l can then be expressed as

$$\mathbf{Q}_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \cdots & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & c_{ii} & \cdots & -s_{ij} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & 0 & & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & s_{ji} & \cdots & c_{jj} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.6)

where $c = \cos \theta$ and $s = \sin \theta$. The subscripts represent the corresponding element location. This matrix is unitary by construction. The diagonalising EVD involves the Hermitian using a sequence of such Jacobi rotation matrices. This eventually leads to a similarity transformation of the form

$$\mathbf{D}' = \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{H}[n]\mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{H}} \tag{3.7}$$

where

$$\mathbf{Q}^{\mathrm{H}} = \mathbf{Q}_{1}^{\mathrm{H}}, \mathbf{Q}_{2}^{\mathrm{H}}, \mathbf{Q}_{3}^{\mathrm{H}} \cdots \mathbf{Q}_{L}^{\mathrm{H}}$$

The matrices \mathbf{Q}_l denote the successive Jacobi rotation matrices and *L* is the number of iterations required. Thus, $\mathbf{H}[n]$ is diagonalized by performing a unitary similarity transformation as required.

SBR2 operation for PEVD Algorithm

Analogous to the scalar EVD, the problem under investigation requires factorisation of a paraHermitian polynomial matrix, which can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \sum_{n=-n_{max}}^{n_{max}} z^{-n} \mathbf{H}[n], \qquad (3.8)$$

where $\mathbf{H}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times M}$ and *n* denotes the polynomial index. The paraHermitian property implies that

$$[h_{ij}[n] = \mathbf{H}[n]]_{ij} = [\mathbf{H}[-n]]_{ji}^* = h_{ji}[n] \qquad \forall j, i.$$
(3.9)

The diagonalization of H(z) using SBR2 corresponds to a PEVD as in 3.10, where D(z) is a diagonal polynomial matrix, G(z) is a paraunitary matrix and $\tilde{G}(z)$ is its paraconjugate.

$$\boldsymbol{G}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}(z) = \boldsymbol{D}(z). \tag{3.10}$$

SBR2 extends the Jacobi rotation matrix in the EVD approach to para-Hermitian matrices. First, the dominant (largest in magnitude) off-diagonal element of H(z) is located, i.e., the offdiagonal element whose importance is most significant. This search can either be restricted to the lower triangular or upper triangular part of H(z) due to its para-Hermitian property. A delay matrix, B(z), is achieved, which shift the dominant off-dominant element to the zero position, z^{-0} . An elementary unitary matrix **Q** is then designed to drive the off-diagonal elements to zero leading to a new polynomial matrix, H'(z).

Using $G_i(z)$ to denote the product of the elementary unitary matrix Q_i and the delay matrix $B_i(z)$ for the *ith* iteration, i.e. $G_i(z) = Q_i(z)B_i(z)$, the updated paraHermitian polynomial matrix is given explicitly by

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{i}'(z) = \boldsymbol{G}_{i}(z)\boldsymbol{H}_{i}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}_{i}(z).$$
(3.11)

Assuming that the dominant element is found in the j,k location of coefficient matrix for z^{-t} , the delay matrix $B_i(z)$ is defined as the $M \times M$ polynomial identity matrix with the exception of the *j*,*k* diagonal element, which is z^t , i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{i}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{I} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & z^{-t} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \boldsymbol{I} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.12)

The elementary paraunitary transformation process represented by $G_i(z)$ is repeated iteratively until the magnitude of the maximum off-diagonal coefficient becomes approximately zero, to within some target precision. This termination factor is determined by the ratio, denoted ε , of the magnitude of the off-diagonal element to the Frobenius norm of the diagonalized matrix, $||\text{diag}\{\underline{D}(z)\}||_F$, or alternatively to $||\text{diag}\{\underline{H}(z)\}||_F$ see [81, 82], for which a proof of convergence of the algorithm is given.

The resulting paraunitary transformation G(z), is given by 3.10 where

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}(z) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}_1(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}_2(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}_3(z)\cdots\tilde{\boldsymbol{G}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(z)$$
(3.13)

and β represents the unspecified number of iterations. To a good approximation, $\underline{D}(z)$ is a diagonal polynomial matrix represented by

$$\boldsymbol{D}(z) = \operatorname{diag}\{\boldsymbol{D}_1(z)\boldsymbol{D}_2(z)\cdots\boldsymbol{D}_M(z)\}.$$
(3.14)

Because of its diagonal structure, the elements of D(z) constitute the (polynomial) eigenvalues of H(z) and they may be ordered such that for all z on the unit circle and $\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, M-1$

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\alpha+1}(z) \le \boldsymbol{D}_{\alpha}(z) \tag{3.15}$$



Figure 3.1 Example of spectral allocation (a) of the primary multi-user MIMO system (b) with order majorisation after diagonalisation.

This ordering of the eigenvalues is referred to as spectral majorisation [95]. An examples of spectral majorisation is shown in Figure 3.1, where the power spectral of the multi-user MIMO problem and the ordered power spectral in the diagonalised matrix is described respectively in Figures 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

In a multi-user MIMO system context, the power allocation is directly influenced by the spectral properties of the independent input sources. Even if the input sources are not spectrally ordered, the iterative PEVD algorithms are known to impose spectral majorisation on their decomposition. Another essential property of PEVD is the dynamic range or the difference between the highest and lowest power spectral densities (PSDs). The importance of the majorisation on the multi-user MIMO problem is discussed in chapter 5, showing the effectiveness of applying PSVD algorithms with different types of channel information.

3.3.2 Sequential Matrix Diagonalisation Algorithms

The sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) is an improved iterative algorithm that diagonalises a paraHermitian matrix to approximate its PEVD. Other versions of SMD include maximum element SMD (ME-SMD) and multiple shift maximum element SMD (MSME-SMD). Unlike PEVD algorithms, the SMD family extends the SBR2 algorithms to eliminate the dominant off-diagonal elements entirely at each iteration, and transfer the squared L_2 norm of its off-diagonal elements onto the main diagonal of the lag-zero coefficient matrix. In addition, SMD require an initialisation step to compute a full EVD of the para-Hermitian matrix H[0], i.e.,

$$\mathbf{D}^{(0)}[0] = \mathbf{Q}^{(0)}(z)\mathbf{H}[0]\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}^{(0)}(z)$$
(3.16)

where $\boldsymbol{Q}^{(0)}(z)$ denotes the scalar EVD of $\mathbf{H}[0]$ and each iteration brings a new row and column to $\boldsymbol{D}^{(i)}[0]$, whose energy is then transferred onto the diagonal by a scalar EVD.

This diagonalization of H(z) is achieved using paraunitary matrices $Q^{(i)}(z)$ [41]. At each iteration, the largest (in magnitude) off-diagonal element of H(z) is located. This search can either be restricted to the lower triangular or upper triangular part of H(z) due to its para-Hermitian property. The rotation angle θ which is used to demolish the off-diagonal element of matrix H(z) is chosen such that the SMD parameter selection in the *i*th iteration can be expressed as

$$\arg\max||\tilde{d}_k^{(i-1)}[n]||_2 \qquad \forall n \qquad (3.17)$$

where the notation $||.||_2$ denote the Frobenius norm, and the vector $\tilde{d}_k^{(i-1)}[n]$ contains all corresponding elements in the *k*-th column of $\mathbf{D}^{(i)}[n]$.

The corresponding diagonal polynomial matrix can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H}^{(i)}(z) = \boldsymbol{Q}^{(i)}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}^{(i)}(z)$$
(3.18)

where

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}^{(i)}(z) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}^{(1)}(z), \tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}^{(2)}(z) \cdots$$
(3.19)

and the $Q^{(i)}(z)$ s denotes the successive paraunitary matrices. To maximise the reduction in off-diagonal energy, the diagonal element selection of the SMD algorithm is the geometric mean.

The convergence of SMD is proven in [41], with a specific stopping criterion. SMD has been shown to diagonalise para hermitian matrices with a lower number of iterations than conventional SBR2 because more energy is transferred from off-diagonal to on-diagonal elements. As the scalar EVD at each iteration has to be calculated, the unitary matrix no longer has the sparse structure of the elementary transformation but allows a full matrix multiplication at every power position. Despite this, the SMD algorithm produces paraunitary polynomial matrices of a lower order than SBR2. Therefore, SMD enables better performance with lower order paraunitary rotation matrix than SBR2.

3.3.3 Multiple Shift Maximum Element SMD (MSME-SMD) Algorithm

An alternative version of SMD search method considered in the study is termed multiple-shift maximum element SMD (MSME-SMD). The MSME-SMD algorithm [45] is primarily proposed for the purpose of further reducing the search cost in the ME-SMD algorithm. It converges and transfers more energy than a maximum element search. The only difference between them is that the ME-SMD algorithm find a single dominant off-diagonal element at each iteration while the MSME-SMD algorithm [45, 96] imposes a "multiple-shift" strategy to search for more off-diagonal elements and shift them to their power position. One of the fundamental drawbacks of this novel algorithm is the additional time required to apply the paraunitary matrices at each iteration.

3.4 Polynomial Matrix Singular Value Decomposition via SMD Algorithms

The PSVD of a polynomial channel matrix, $H(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$, can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \boldsymbol{U}(z)\boldsymbol{D}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) \tag{3.20}$$

where $U(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$, $\tilde{V}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ are paraunitary polynomial matrices, such that $\tilde{V}(z)V(z) = \mathbf{I}$ and $\tilde{U}(z)U(z) = \mathbf{I}$, and $D(z) \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times q}$ is a diagonal polynomial matrix.

By applying the SMD algorithm to H(z), the paraunitary structure of U(z) and V(z) are obtained respectively from the para-Hermitian matrix decomposition of $H(z)\tilde{H}(z)$ and $\tilde{H}(z)H(z)$. As discussed in Section 3.3.2, the PSVD of H(z) can be formulated by separately post and pre-multiplying the channel matrix with its para-conjugate, such that

$$D(z)\tilde{D}(z) = U(z)H(z)\underbrace{\tilde{V}(z)V(z)}_{I}\tilde{H}(z)\tilde{U}(z)$$

= $U(z)\underbrace{H(z)\tilde{H}(z)}_{R_{1}(z)}\tilde{U}(z)$ (3.21)

and similarly,

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{D}}(z)\boldsymbol{D}(z) = \boldsymbol{V}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\underbrace{\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(z)\boldsymbol{U}(z)}_{\mathbf{I}}\tilde{\boldsymbol{H}}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z)$$

$$= \boldsymbol{V}(z)\underbrace{\tilde{\boldsymbol{H}}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)}_{\boldsymbol{R}_{2}(z)}\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) \qquad (3.22)$$

Forming the para-Hermitian input to SMD by post-multiplying the polynomial channel matrix with its para-conjugate, i.e $\mathbf{R}_1(z) = \mathbf{H}(z)\tilde{\mathbf{H}}(z)$ yields the paraunitary polynomial matrix $\mathbf{U}(z)$. Performing a similar operation with the paraHermitian input to SMD formed by the premultiplication of the para-conjugate of the polynomial channel matrix and the polynomial channel matrix itself, i.e., $\mathbf{R}_2(z) = \tilde{\mathbf{H}}(z)\mathbf{H}(z)$ produces the paraunitary polynomial matrix $\mathbf{V}(z)$ as in (3.22).

Finally, the polynomial diagonal matrix D(z) is calculated from (3.20) such that

$$\boldsymbol{D}(z) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\boldsymbol{V}(z) \tag{3.23}$$

Therefore a true PSVD has been performed on H(z) by applying the SMD algorithm for PEVD twice. This decomposition can be summarised as follow;

Algorithm 2 Summary of the PSVD decomposition via SMD Algorithm

Input: Polynomial matrix $H(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ Specify: the convergence parameters, the truncation parameter, and the maximum number of iterations per column-step of the algorithm (MaxIter). Set: $\mathbf{U} \leftarrow \mathbf{I}_M, \mathbf{V} \leftarrow \mathbf{I}_N, iter \leftarrow 0, g \leftarrow 1 + \varepsilon$, while *iter* < *MaxIter* and *g* $> \varepsilon$ **do Find**: i, j and n where $i \neq j$ such that $|h_{ij}[n]| \geq |h_{mn}n|$ holds for $m = 1, \dots, M$, $n = 1, \dots, N$ such that $m \neq n$ and $\forall n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Set $g \leftarrow |h_{ij}[n]$ if $g > \varepsilon$ then iter \Leftarrow iter +1 Set: para-Hermitian Matrices $R_1(z) \leftarrow H(z)H(z)$, and $R_2(z) \leftarrow H(z)H(z)$ Calculate the SMD of $R_1(z)$: $U_1R_1(z) = D_1(z)$ Set $\boldsymbol{R}_1(z) \Leftarrow \tilde{\boldsymbol{D}}_1(z)$ and $\boldsymbol{U} \Leftarrow \boldsymbol{U}_1 \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}$ Calculate the SMD of $R_2(z)$: $V_1R_2(z) = D_2(z)$ Set $V \leftarrow V_1 V$ and $R_2(z)(z) \leftarrow D_2$ Truncate H(z), V and U according to the appendix. end if end while Until D(z) = H(z) converges.

3.5 Channel Matrix Decomposition via PSVD algorithms

The SVD constitutes one of the fundamental matrix factorisation tools in MIMO signals processing and has found application in numerous multidisciplinary scientific fields, such as in artificial intelligence, social and organisation sciences, distributing computing, natural language processing, philosophy, etc. [37]. The tool helps to perform a principal component analysis and compute the singular components of any arbitrary matrix after centring the original problem around the mean [22, 24].

Many other methods of matrix decomposition and analysis, such as factor analysis are also available [97, 98]. As discussed earlier, SVD computes the pre-fixed receiver solution to a closed-form channel problem and provides one of the most popular tools used for multi-user MIMO systems [99–101]. In principle, SVD diagonalises the complex multi-user problem to obtain the most straightforward single-user problem (i.e., the singular vectors) and their unique values (i.e., the singular values).

This robust method has been exploited in numerous image-processing applications, such as in the calculation of eigenvalues to provide an efficient representation of the channel state information (CSI) [102, 103]. It is also crucial for theoretical developments, such as reference tracking methods for disturbance rejection in dynamical systems [104]. It has been applied in channel reduction [105], and bit-rate maximisation problem of broadband MIMO systems [5]. Computing the SVD for perfect signal reconstruction is still expensive, but there are available algorithms that offer lower computational complexity (see, for example, [106]) as well as near perfect reconstruction algorithms via the EVD [107].

There exist some improved polynomial EVD algorithms for higher-dimensional factorisations using Tensor decomposition in[108]; these have transformed computational multi-linear algebra over the last decade. This study proposed PSVD structures and exploits the best single-value components of a complex multi-user MIMO system. The study extends work on the PSVD framework in [109] to vectored DSM transmission systems, using the sequential matrix diagonalisation (SMD) algorithm but focuses predominantly on its application to DSL access multiplexing (DSLAM) technique.

3.6 Numerical Analysis

This section provides some examples regarding the properties of PSVD algorithm. For the first example, we presents an analytical solution that takes into account the polynomial channel matrix of a non-square multi-user system. The optimal precoder and equaliser of the system is them provided using PSVD algorithm for non-square channel information, making all coefficient associated with polynomal off-diagonal elements equal to zero in order to limit the impact of the noise on the transmission. Example 2 presents a simple application of using the PSVD by SMD algorithm to compute the joint precoding and equalisation filters for DSM designs.

3.6.1 Worked Examples

Example 1:

Consider here MIMO model involving six users using two transmitter and four receiver (M = 2, N = 4) We assumed that the system has only two non-zero coefficients situated beneath the diagonal of the polynomial matrix to eliminate. The polynomial matrix applied to describe the dynamics of the propagation environment can assume the form

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} z^{-2} + z + 1 & -z^{-1} + z^2 + z \\ -z^{-3} + 1 + z^{-1} & z^{-2} + z + 1 \\ z^{-2} + z + 1 & -z^{-1} + z^2 + z \\ -z^{-3} + 1 + z^{-1} & z^{-2} + z + 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.24)

The PSVD of $H(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 2}$ as discussed in Eqn. (3.23), achieves a spectral factorisation $D(z) = \tilde{U}(z)H(z)V(z)$, where all the optimal power control parameters can be defined as

$$V(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & z \\ -z^{-1} & 1 \end{bmatrix}, U(z) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & z & 1 & z^2 \\ -z^{-1} & 1 & -z^{-2} & 1 \\ 1 & z & -1 & -z^2 \\ -z^{-1} & 1 & z^{-2} & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \text{ and the resulting diagonal}$$

transmission components as $D(z) = \begin{bmatrix} z^{-2} & 0 \\ 0 & z+1 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Here, all coefficient associated with

polynomial off-diagonal elements of H(z) are equal to zero.

To measure the accurate decomposition, the inversion decomposition is formulated as $H(z) = \tilde{U}(z)D(z)V(z)$ and the relative error is computed as:

$$E_{rel} = ||\boldsymbol{H}(z) - \boldsymbol{U}(z)\boldsymbol{D}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z)||_F^2 / ||\boldsymbol{H}(z)||_F^2$$
(3.25)

This measure was found to equal to zero for the example above. These results are quoted to the standard accuracy given by the PolyX toolbox. Of course, it is worth noting

the decomposition can be compared with the performance of other existing decomposition methods.

Example 2:

The model considered here is a similar polynomial channel problem to that applied to the Poly-X analytical solution in Example 1, but instead a polynomial matrix decomposition algorithm is used. The number of the transmitter and receiver modem are N = 2 and M = 4, respectively. This leads to a polynomial matrix $H(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 2 \times 6}$ with independent polynomial channel information $H_j(z)$, $j = -3, -2, \cdots, 1, 2$ are represented graphically as in Figure3.2. One can then analyse each of the user information as

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{-3}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{H}_{-2}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 0 & 1\\ 1 & 1\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{H}_{-1}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 1 & 1\\ 1 & 0\\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\boldsymbol{H}_{0}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1\\ 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1\\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{H}_{2}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ -1 & 0\\ 0 & 0\\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.26)$$

such that the corresponding convolutional mixing matrices for the model can be represented as showing in Figure. The stem plots in Figure 3.2 represent the magnitude of the series of coefficients for each of the polynomial channel information $H_j(z)$. The position of each stem plot corresponds to the index of polynomial channel information $H_j(z)$.

The paraHermitian matrices $\mathbf{R}_1(z) = \mathbf{H}(z)\mathbf{\tilde{H}}(z)$ and $\mathbf{R}_2(z) = \mathbf{\tilde{H}}(z)\mathbf{H}(z)$, which provide a symmetric spectral mask with the order is usually higher than $\mathbf{H}(z)$. The stem plots show that the two paraHermitian matrices which produce the paraunitary matrices after decomposition indeed behave quite differently. The $\mathbf{R}_2(z)$, which produces V(z) paraunitary matrix has the channel information with its slight reduce cost, despite retaining the inherent diagonal property. Of the $\mathbf{R}_1(z)$ that results to $\mathbf{U}(z)$ utilises full channel information with with consederable the same off-diagonal information as $\mathbf{R}_2(z)$. The use of SMD algorithm to yield $\mathbf{V}(z)$ and $\mathbf{U}(z)$ matrices results in spectrally majorisation of $\mathbf{D}_1(z)$ and $\mathbf{D}_2(z)$. Spectral majorisation is similar to channel decomposition [95].

The resulting paraunitary matrices U(z) and V(z) are presented in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.2 The stem plot representation of the polynomial channel model matrix for the six users.



Figure 3.3 Stem plot representation of the Para-Hermitian matrices obtained (a) for $R_1(z)$ and (b) for $R_2(z)$ against the time lag.

Aiming at determining the generalisation decomposition strength of the proposed SMD model versus the common PolyX model, Figure 3.6 shows the singular values versus the normalized frequency of each diagonal matrix obtained by the SMD algorithm and compared with that of PolyX values. it can be seen that the PolyX-obtained singular values that have are



Figure 3.4 The diagonal polynomial matrix (a) for $\mathbf{R}_1(z)$ and (b) for $\mathbf{R}_2(z)$.



Figure 3.5 The paraunitary stem plot (a) for U(z) and for (b) V(z).

analytic solution and SMD provides spectrally majorised singular values that in the context of power allocation, spectral majorisation, i.e. a strict ordering of the subchannels is desirable.

3.7 Chapter Summary

This chapter first introduces a brief overview of polynomial matrix decomposition techniques and its properties. Next the different types of PMD algorithms including PEVD, SBR2 and PSVD are discussed. The PEVD was introduces followed by established pre-post based



Figure 3.6 singular values against normalised frequency for both Polyx and SMD algorithm

PSVD algorithms using two different SMD decomposition. Following that of analyticalbased Polyx solution utilising the PolyX decomposition method, with was later compared with the SMD approach.

Different from analytical solution, the SMD-based solution of PSVD introduces a new class of decomposition, termed spectral majorisation, that produces ordering of the subchannels. As a result, more energy is transferred onto the main diagonal per iteration, leading to a effective distribution of power spectral. However, since the ordering is form the highest magnitude, the lower power lever can be discarded for allocation, hereby significantly reducing the process complexity. Without any implementation tricks, the specral majorisation is significantly more desirable in terms of independent channel control.

Chapter 4

Novel Framework for DSM Techniques

Research in DSM involves developing a novel technique to extract the actual channel knowledge that in a compact, less abstract, but understandable form which is useful for perfect reconstruction. As discussed in Section 2.4.3, DSM related problems can be defined as joint transmit power allocation issues based on error minimisation objective. In this chapter, DSM refers to the overall process of formulating joint optimal transmitter and receiver matrices for a group of users, i.e. extracting valid and important information from complex channel model.

Singular value decomposition (SVD), as a generalisation of factor analysis, will be employed to define the optimal channel parameters in order to minimise the occurrence of transmission interference. However, the definition of these parameters for a multi-user MIMO system in the presence of transmission errors usually involves expressing the finite impulse response (FIR) channel model (polynomial matrix) as a distinct linear combination. As a result, the exiting SVD methods do not reliably reveal the vital structure of overdetermined channel problems.

This chapter introduces and extends the polynomial singular value decomposition algorithm to take into account the relevance of evaluating the independent component parameters inherent in DSM optimisation problems. The objective of doing this is to achieve vectored transmission through a PSVD framework in order to improve the conventional method and to mitigate the presence of interference in DSL systems.

4.1 Introduction

There are different ways of extracting valid information and enhancing the performance of multi-user complex problems. In this chapter, we focus on three strategies: pre-processing procedures, joint power allocation, and even error minimisation mechanisms. The most

straightforward approach to describing this problem is as a vectoring procedure, incorporating a joint pre-processing function to define the joint post-equalisation process. These pre-processing functions provide useful knowledge to reveal the important parameters for joint power allocation. These parameters can be obtained through PEVD algorithms.

For simplicity, this study will focus on polynomial channel representation through the space-time covariance matrix and explore the geometric mean of the channel model instead of the arithmetic mean. The exploitation of such a polynomial description enables the system variance to be controlled so that the stability problem associated with the multi-user system (which is more significant than that for single-user cases) can be captured with the PSVD algorithms.

This kind of representation is termed convolutive mixing matrix. Here the spectrum analysis can be derived by separating the impaired error function from the actual information [105]. The independent component is used for the power allocation method rather than the original signal. The method being investigated therefore enhances the data-rate performance without affecting the spectrum management efficiency of the model reconstruction process.

It is shown in [22] that by compromising some of the general ability of the overall channel optimisation problem, the reduced polynomial based model can be employed to improve the reconstruction process over other available methods. Finally, we explore a reduced-model mitigation strategy to control the reconstruction of the original channel model from the resulting independent components. The technique referred to as joint precoding, and equalisation is an extension of the mitigation technique in complex multi-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems [6].

Reduced post-processing that decodes the pairwise linear combination in the actual system is incorporated into the model reconstruction. By making use of this reduced post-processing, the mitigation model emphasises the single-user error detection process and has slightly better performance than the joint-user mitigation model.

In principle, the DSM process is iterative having multiple steps with, as stated above, the interference mitigation process being one of them. Before the actual mitigation process, problem selection, pre-processing and transmit power allocation can be done, while afterwards channel equalisation is required to achieve the transmission gains. In general, the entire chain of DSM consists of the following three steps as depicted in Figure 4.1

This chapter will analysis a DSM system through the application of a reduced polynomial model. This reduced model allows obtaining accurate estimations to be obtained even when a complete CSI information is not available. The model reduction situation typically occurs in the early stages of the transmission. The aim is to achieve low complexity, reduced channel information, and to predict transmission costs with significant precision.



Figure 4.1 The DSM process

4.2 Channel Model and Problem Formulation

Before any processing, the first step is to formulate the multi-user DSL problem by identifying the goal of the perfect reconstruction process from the input user's perspectives. Note that the channel model presented in this section is similar to the DSL problem described for a vectored transmission scheme, where the channel is considered as a MIMO system.

We consider linear transmission over a bundle of *K* DSL lines/users, consisting of twisted copper pairs, which may induce severe cross-talk between adjacent channels. The transmission also assumes the application of a synchronous discrete multi-tone (DMT) modem with *M* frequency-spaced tones. The set of users can be denoted by k = 1, ..., K, the set of transmit tones per user by j = 1, ..., M and the set of receive tones per user by i = 1, ..., N.

In general, a DSL system can be further modelled as a matrix, where the mixed input signals are grouped as the row vectors and their output counterparts as the columns. Let the *k*th's user channel matrix be $\mathbf{H}[n]$; the channel matrix with *N* transmitting tones having *M* receiving tones could then be represented as

$$\mathbf{H}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}_{1,1}[n] & \mathbf{h}_{1,2}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{1,j}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{1,N}[n] \\ \mathbf{h}_{2,1}[n] & \mathbf{h}_{2,2}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{2,j}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{2,N}[n] \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}_{M,1}[n] & \mathbf{h}_{M,j}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{M,j}[n] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}_{M,N}[n] \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}$$
(4.1)

In general, the problem can be represented as a matrix of frequency selective channels, each with a finite impulse response (FIR). This structured representation is the most straight-forward method to use for the problem of interest and makes explicit the goal of the perfect reconstruction process from an input user's perspective. As a result, we adopt an FIR model that can be represented in polynomial matrix form and incorporates the important feature of convolutive mixing into the DSM process. The each user polynomial channel matrix $H_k(z)$ can be written as

$$H_k(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{L_c - 1} \mathbf{H}[n] z^{-n}$$
(4.2)



where $(L_c - 1)$ is the maximum support length of the linear-time invariant FIR filter C(z).

Figure 4.2 General Joint Pre-Post Processing System

Figure 4.2 shows a general DMT transmission system with each user having a channel matrix $\mathbf{H}[n] \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}$, input signals $\mathbf{s}[n]$, additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) $\mathbf{v}[n]$ and received signals $\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n]$. It operates with joint pre-and post-processing operations performed respectively, at transmitter and receiver. The joint pre-processing operator multiplexes N input signals of $\mathbf{s}[n] = {\mathbf{s}_1, ..., \mathbf{s}_N}^{\dagger}$ onto the transmit tones $\mathbf{x}[n]$. In the receiver, a joint post-processing operator attempts to extracts M transmit signals from the received tones $\mathbf{y}[n]$ to form the output signal $\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = {\mathbf{\hat{s}}_1, ..., \mathbf{\hat{s}}_M}^{\dagger}$.

In most cases, DSL transmissions usually occur in the presence of a noise signal $\mathbf{v}[n] = {\mathbf{v}_1, ..., \mathbf{v}_k}^{\dagger}$. We further assume that the transmit tone $\mathbf{x}[n]$ and receive tone $\mathbf{y}[n]$ are emerged and multiplexed into *K* transmission lines. One can define the K-user multiplexing transmit and receive symbols at discrete time instance *n* as

$$\mathbf{x}[n] := \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_{1}[nK] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}_{N}[nK] \\ \mathbf{x}_{1}[nK+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}_{N}[nK+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}_{1}[nK+K-1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}_{N}[nK+K-1] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{y}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}_{1}[nK] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}_{M}[nK] \\ \mathbf{y}_{1}[nK+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}_{M}[nK+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}_{1}[nK+K-1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}_{M}[nK+K-1] \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.3)

The resulting multi-user linear transfer process of the system can then be formulated as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{S}}(z) = \boldsymbol{C}(z)\boldsymbol{S}(z) \tag{4.4}$$
whereby $\hat{\mathbf{s}}[n] \circ - \hat{\mathbf{S}}(z)$, $\mathbf{s}[n] \circ - \hat{\mathbf{S}}(z)$ and the overall transfer transfer matrix $\mathbf{C}(z)$ takes a block pseudo-circulant form

$$\boldsymbol{C}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{K-1}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{1}(z) \\ \boldsymbol{C}_{1}(z) & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{2}(z) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{C}_{K-1}(z) & \boldsymbol{C}_{K-2}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.5)

The matrices $C_k(z)$, $i = 1, \dots, K-1$, are the *K* polyphase components of C(z) matrix such that

$$\boldsymbol{C}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{K-1} \boldsymbol{C}_k(z^K) z^{-k}.$$
(4.6)

Two important questions arise from the general channel model above. The first is how best to construct a joint precoding model. The second is how to use his pre-processing function to derive the corresponding equalisation functions. As a result, several joint precoding and equalisation schemes are revisited. For more information, the reader is referred to [78] and [110].

4.3 Precoding and Equalisation for a Single-User DSL Transmission

In the general case, a structured FIR problem is not directly suitable for perfect reconstruction. It may contain some uncontrollable noise, irregularities, inconsistencies and crosstalk and so on. Therefore, the transmission requires a model reduction technique that minimises the interference by choosing some pre-processing procedures to benefit from crosstalk and other irregularities (see, e.g., using a post-compensation method for problem selecting and re-ordering the system complexities and eventually, estimating the channel uncertainties before transmission).

In the DSM literature, some model reduction techniques proposed are developed through precoding and equalisation schemes. Therefore, one can focus on joint precoding and equalisation channel representation as a filtering scheme for a single-user DMT transmission. The description is similar to the proposed approach is discussed in [107] by Scaglione et al.

As discussed in Section 2, we consider transmitting redundancies in the form of cyclicprefix intervals to mitigate both inter-carrier interference (ICI) and inter-symbol interference (ISI) caused by the channel sparsity. The approach also utilises joint optimal precoding and equalisation filtering schemes to isolate the effect of the crosstalk and include the background noise. The optimisation criteria are minimum mean square error (MMSE) function under per-user power constraint and maximum achievable data rate.

The discrete-time DSL transmission is illustrated in Figure 4.3. The channel model, in this case, is for a single-user and corresponds to the model presented in Section 4.2 with K=1.



Figure 4.3 Precoding and equalisation for a single-user DSL transmission

The input signal $\mathbf{s}[n]$ is converted into a sequence of blocks of size N. A guard interval is inserted to mitigate both ISI and ICI through the upsamplers by M where $M \ge N$. Thus, the input blocks of size N are mapped into blocks of size M using the precoder $\mathbf{f}[n]$. The output of $\mathbf{f}[n]$ is the transmitted through the frequency selective channel with impulse response $\mathbf{h}[n]$. During the transmission, some distortions such as background noise v[n] are inevitably introduced into the channel. As a result, the received blocks of size M are mapped back to a sequence of a block of size N through the equaliser $\mathbf{g}[n]$. The input and output signal vector can be defined as

$$\mathbf{s}[n] := \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{s}[nN] \\ \mathbf{s}[nN+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{s}[nN+N-1] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{\hat{s}}[nN] \\ \mathbf{\hat{s}}[nN+1] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{\hat{s}}[nN+N-1] \end{bmatrix}.$$

We can also denote the noise vector of the transmission and the input vector of the equaliser respectively as

$$\mathbf{v}[n] := egin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}[nM] \ \mathbf{v}[nM+1] \ dots \ \mathbf{v}[nM+M-1] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{y}[n] = egin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}[nM] \ \mathbf{y}[nM+1] \ dots \ \mathbf{y}[nM+M-1] \end{bmatrix},$$

It is shown in [6] that the relationship between input and output vectors of precoder, equaliser and channel can be written as

$$\mathbf{x}[n] = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{F}_i \mathbf{s}[n-i]$$
(4.7)

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{G}_{j} \mathbf{y}[n-j]$$
(4.8)

$$\mathbf{y}[n] = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{H}_{l} \mathbf{s}[n-l] + \mathbf{v}[n]$$
(4.9)

where

$$\mathbf{F}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{f}_{0}[iM] & \mathbf{f}_{1}[iM] & \cdots & \mathbf{f}_{N-1}[iM] \\ \mathbf{f}_{0}[iM+1] & \mathbf{f}_{1}[iM+1] & \cdots & \mathbf{f}_{N-1}[iM+1] \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{f}_{0}[iM+M-1] & \mathbf{f}_{1}[iM+M-1] & \cdots & \mathbf{f}_{N-1}[iM+M-1] \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.10)

$$\mathbf{G}_{j} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{g}_{0}[jN] & \mathbf{g}_{1}[jN] & \cdots & \mathbf{g}_{M-1}[jN] \\ \mathbf{g}_{0}[jN+1] & \mathbf{g}_{1}[jN+1] & \cdots & \mathbf{g}_{M-1}[jN+1] \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{g}_{0}[jN+N-1] & \mathbf{g}_{1}[jN+N-1] & \cdots & \mathbf{g}_{M-1}[jN+N-1] \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.11)

$$\mathbf{H}_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}[lM] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}[lM - M + 1] \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}[lM + M - 1] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}[lM] \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.12)

The output vectors $\hat{\mathbf{s}}[n]$ of the system can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \sum_{j,l,i=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{G}_j \mathbf{H}_l \mathbf{F}_i \mathbf{s}[n-l-i-j] + \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{G}_j \mathbf{v}[n-j]$$
(4.13)

With the following assumptions

- 1. The channel is of order *L* with independent transmit vector $\mathbf{h}[n] = {\mathbf{h}[0], \dots, \mathbf{h}[L-1]};$ $(\mathbf{h}[0], \dots, \mathbf{h}[L-1] \neq 0)$
- 2. The parameters M, N, and L are chosen so that M = N + L.
- 3. The precoder functions $\{\mathbf{f}_i[n]\}_{i=0}^{N-1}$ are casual $(\mathbf{f}_i[n] = 0$ for i < 0) and These functions are selected do that the rank $(\mathbf{F}_0) = N$.

The pseudo-circulant matrix C(z) in (4.5) can now be simplified to

$$\boldsymbol{C}(z) = \boldsymbol{C}_0 \boldsymbol{\delta}[l] + \boldsymbol{C}_1 \boldsymbol{\delta}[l-1] \tag{4.14}$$

where $\delta[.]$ denotes the usual delta function and

$$C_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c}[0] & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \mathbf{c}[0] & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \mathbf{c}[L] & \cdots & \ddots & \cdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \cdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & \mathbf{c}[L] & \cdots & \mathbf{c}[0] \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.15)
$$C_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & \mathbf{c}[L] & \cdots & \mathbf{c}[1] \\ \vdots & \ddots & 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \ddots & \cdots & \mathbf{c}[L] \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} .$$
(4.16)

The precoding and equalisation functions can be modelled as

$$\boldsymbol{F}_i = \boldsymbol{F}_0 \boldsymbol{\delta}[i] \tag{4.17}$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{j} = \boldsymbol{G}_{0}\boldsymbol{\delta}[j] \tag{4.18}$$

Comparing with the joint precoding and equalisation channel model in Figure 4.2, one can see that the system being considered here is a specific case of the pseudo-circulant model with K = 1 and the transfer matrix C(z) is expressed as $C(z) = C_0 + C_1 z^{-1}$. One can rewrite (4.13) as

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \mathbf{G}_{0}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{F}_{0}\mathbf{s}[n] + \mathbf{G}_{1}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{F}_{1}\mathbf{s}[n-1] + \mathbf{G}_{0}\mathbf{v}[n]$$
(4.19)

From the above equation (4.19), the term $G_1H_1F_1s[n-1]$ represents the channel interference (both ISI and ICI) and therefore it is a requirement to have $G_1HF_1 = 0$. By considering

the structure of H matrix in Eqn (4.12), there are two available approaches in the literature to satisfy such a condition.

The first approach is to set the last *L* components in the precoding function to be zero so that $F_i = (F_0 \ 0)^T$, where $F_1 = 0$ is an $L \times N$ block of zeros and F_0 is an $N \times N$ matrix. This approach is termed the *trailing zero (TZ)* approach. The second involves setting the first receive equalisation function to be zero so that $G_j = (0 \ G_0)$, where $G_1 = 0$ is an $N \times L$ block of zeros and G_0 is an $N \times N$ matrix. This approach is termed the *leading zero (LZ)* approach. For more information about these approaches, the reader is referred to [111] and [78].

With either or both of these approaches, channel model interference can be mitigated, and equation (4.19) can then be expressed as

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \mathbf{G}_0 \mathbf{H} \mathbf{F}_0 \mathbf{s}[n] + \mathbf{G}_0 \mathbf{v}[n] \tag{4.20}$$

where the effective precoder $F = F_0$ and the effective equaliser $G = G_0$. In the TZ case, H is an $M \times N$ matrix expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}[0] & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}[L] & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \mathbf{h}[0] \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \mathbf{h}[L] \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.21)

and in the LZ case, H is an $N \times M$ matrix which can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}[L] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}[0] & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots\\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 0\\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \mathbf{h}[L] & \cdots & \mathbf{h}[0] \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.22)

After minimising the interference (ICI, ISI or crosstalk) using the TZ or LZ approach, the output of the equaliser is further optimised under some criterion, such as MMSE or DFE. Here, the input signal $\mathbf{s}[n]$ and the noise $\mathbf{v}[n]$ are assumed to be mutually uncorrelated containing known covariance matrices \mathbf{R}_{ss} and \mathbf{R}_{vv} respectively. The optimum precoder under the mean square error (MSE) criterion is estimated to maximise the data-rate at the equaliser output subject to the zero-forcing (ZF) constraint *GHF* = **I**. The optimal equaliser is derived as a function of the precoder matrix subject to the condition of maximising the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). The precoder matrix is then calculated from the ZF constraint.

Based on the following eigendecomposition

$$\mathbf{R}_{ss} = \mathbf{U}(z)\Delta \mathbf{U}(z)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{C}}\mathbf{R}_{vv}^{-1}\mathbf{C} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{V}(z)\Lambda \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) & \text{for } TZ & \text{case} \\ (\mathbf{V}(z), \mathbf{V}_n(z) \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z), \hat{\mathbf{V}}_n(z)) & \text{for } LZ & \text{case} \end{cases}$$
(4.23)

where U, V, V_n are unitary matrices and Δ, Λ are diagonal matrices, the optimal precoder and equaliser under the MSE criterion are given by [107];

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{opt} = \frac{\sqrt{W}}{\sigma_v} \Lambda^{-(1/2)} \tag{4.24}$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{opt} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{v} \sqrt{W} \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{-(1/2)} \hat{\boldsymbol{V}} \hat{\boldsymbol{H}} \boldsymbol{R}_{vv}^{-1}$$
(4.25)

where *W* is defined as the spatial gain which determines the transmit power, and σ_v^2 is the variance of the noise. If the input signal is considered white with the matrix $\mathbf{R}_{ss} = \sigma_s^2 \mathbf{I}$ and the transmit power assumed to be P_0 , *W* is given by [105]

$$W = \frac{P_0 \sigma_v}{\sigma_s^2 \sum_i \lambda_{ii}^{-1}}$$
(4.26)

Under the minimum MSE (MMSE) criterion, the optimal equaliser pair is designed to minimise the average error of the system subject to transmit power constraint. The optimal equaliser matrix is derived from the Wiener solution and the precoder is derived by a water-filling algorithm that finds the best λ_{ii} . The optimal pair of precoder and equaliser is given by [105]

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{opt} = \boldsymbol{V}\boldsymbol{\Phi} \tag{4.27}$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{opt} = \mathbf{R}_{ss} \hat{\boldsymbol{F}}_{opt} \hat{\boldsymbol{H}}(z) \left(\mathbf{R}_{vv} + \boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{F}_{opt} \mathbf{R}_{ss} \hat{\boldsymbol{F}}_{opt} \hat{\boldsymbol{H}}(z) \right)^{-1}$$
(4.28)

where Φ is the optimal transmit power containing diagonal elements obtained through a water-filling algorithm

$$|\Phi_{ii}|^{2} = \max\left(\frac{P_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{M} \lambda_{jj}^{-1}}{\sum_{j=1}^{M} (\delta_{jj} / \lambda_{jj})^{1/2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{ii}\delta_{ii}}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{ii}\delta_{ii}}, \quad 0\right).$$
(4.29)

For the maximum data-rate criterion [105], the precoder and equaliser pair is designed to minimise the MSE between the input and the output signals. The optimal data-rate precoder can be written as in (4.27). The power allocation achieves the minimum MSE according to a classical water-filling algorithm with a single water level [40], which results in the main diagonal elements of Φ as

$$|\Phi_{ii}|^2 = \max\left(\frac{P_0 + \sum_{j=1}^M \lambda_{jj}^{-1}}{M\delta_{ii}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{ii}\delta_{ii}}, 0\right)$$
(4.30)

where *M* is the number of positive $|\Phi_{ii}|^2$.

The optimal equaliser in this case for a given optimal precoder \mathbf{F}_{opt} can be derived under minimum MSE criteria as

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{opt} = \left(\mathbf{R}_{vv}^{-1} \boldsymbol{H} \boldsymbol{F}_{opt} \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{R}_{vv}^{-1}$$
(4.31)

where the symbol $(.)^{\dagger}$ denotes the pseudo-inverse operation.

The optimal precoding and equalisation functions discussed in the thesis decouple the multichannel MIMO problem into a number of single channel problems. One should note that the water-filling algorithm for MMSE design differs from the water-filling algorithm for MASE design. In the former, the transmit power allocated for each channel can be a convex function λ_{ii} while in the later the transmit power allocated for each flat subchannel is always a monotonically increasing function of λ_{ii} .

4.4 Joint Precoding and Equalisation for Multi-user DSL Systems

This section describes the application of a joint precoding and equalisation approach proposed in [44] to mitigate inter-carrier interference (ICI), which maximises the data-rate in multiuser DSL systems. The approach is similar to the one proposed in [102] that uses block transmission, exploiting some redundancies instead of the guard interval to counteract several effects of interference. The method also utilises a joint channel diagonalisation algorithm to derive the optimal precoders and equalisers. Some design criteria were proposed in [107] which targeted the minimum MSE, and a common transmission power condition. This section will focus on the optimal designs under transmission power constraints.

Consider the generalised channel model and its mathematical formulation in Section 4.2. Assume that the channel is a discrete-time slotted system, indexed by n, consisting of K users, with linear precoder and equaliser. Further assume that N denotes the number of transmit

tones and *M* represents the number of receive tones. One can assume that the MIMO channel between transmitter and receiver of *i*th user be represented by H_i .

For simplicity, the channel matrix H(z) is written in this section as H(z) = H. Let the precoding matrix associated with the *i*th user be denoted by $\mathbf{F}_i \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times t_i}$ where t_i is the length of the vector of symbols $\mathbf{s}_i[n]$ which is devised for *i* user. The input vector $s_i[n]$ is linearly mapped through the precoder \mathbf{F}_i to form vector $\mathbf{x}_i[n]$. The output of the precoder of each user is then propagated through the transmit matrix \mathbf{H}_i with *i*th distortion v_i .

The received signal $y_i[n]$ can then be written as

$$\mathbf{y}_{i}[n] = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \mathbf{H}_{i} \mathbf{F}_{i} \mathbf{s}_{i}[n] + \mathbf{v}_{i}[n]$$
(4.32)

where $\mathbf{v}_i[n]$ denotes the additive Gaussian white noise and interference with covariance matrix $\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{v}_i[n]\mathbf{v}_i^*[n]\} = \sigma_{\mathbf{v}}^2 \mathbf{I}$. Thus, we can represent the operation of the whole system in matrix form, whereby the received data from all of the receivers are coexisted and represented as

$$\mathbf{y}[n] = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}_1[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{y}_K[n] \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H}_1 \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{H}_K \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{F}_1 & \cdots & \mathbf{F}_K \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_1[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{x}_K[n] \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}_1[n] \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{v}_K[n] \end{bmatrix}, \quad (4.33)$$

alternatively,

$$\mathbf{y}[n] = \boldsymbol{HFs}[n] + \mathbf{v}[n] \tag{4.34}$$

The precoders that remove the channel interference then be defined so that $\mathbf{H}_i \mathbf{F}_i \neq 0$ and $\mathbf{H}_j \mathbf{F}_i = 0$ for all $j \neq i$. Specifically, *HF* is termed the block diagonal matrix. Here, one can define matrix $\hat{\mathbf{H}}$ as follow

$$\hat{\mathbf{H}}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H}_{1}^{T} & \cdots & \mathbf{H}_{l}^{T} & \mathbf{H}_{l+1}^{T} & \cdots & \hat{\mathbf{H}}_{K}^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
(4.35)

Assume M > N and rank $\{ \hat{\mathbf{C}}_i \} = L_i \leq (\min(M, N))$ holds, then the SVD follows

$$\hat{\mathbf{H}}_{i} = \hat{\boldsymbol{U}}_{i} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{i} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{V}}_{i,0}^{\mathrm{H}} \\ \vdots \\ \hat{\mathbf{V}}_{i,1}^{\mathrm{H}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.36)$$

where $\hat{V}_{i,0}^{\text{H}}$ contains the first L_i rows that correspond to the non-zero singular value of \hat{H}_i and $\hat{V}_{i,1}^{\text{H}}$ defines the null space of \hat{H}_i , containing the last $M - L_i$ rows. Thus, $\hat{V}_{i,1}^{\text{H}}$ involves the

components of both ICI and ISI. One can then define the optimal precoder F for all users as

$$\boldsymbol{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{1,0} & \cdots & \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{K,0} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.37)

and the overall channel transfer matrix with the pre-processing function \mathbf{F} becomes

$$HF = \begin{bmatrix} H_1 \hat{V}_{1,0} & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & H_K \hat{V}_{K,0} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (4.38)

Assume further that $L'_i = \operatorname{rank} \{ H_i \hat{V}_{i,0} \}$ and the SVD

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{i}\hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{i,0} = \boldsymbol{U}_{i} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{i} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{V}_{i,0}^{\mathrm{H}} \\ \boldsymbol{V}_{i,1}^{\mathrm{H}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.39)

where $V_{i,0}^{\text{H}}$ holds the first L'_i right singular vectors that correspond to the non zero singular in diagonal matrix $\Sigma_i \in \mathbb{C}^{L'_i \times L'_i}$. The diagonal elements of each user become

$$\Sigma_i = \boldsymbol{U}_i^{\mathrm{H}} \boldsymbol{H}_i \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{i,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{i,1} \tag{4.40}$$

By using the equaliser $G = U_i^{\text{H}}$ and setting the precoder F in (4.37) as

$$\boldsymbol{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{1,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{1,1} & \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{2,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{2,1} & \cdots & \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{K,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{K,1} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.41)

where (4.40) represents

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_1 & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & \Sigma_K \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} G_1 & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & G_K \end{bmatrix} CF.$$
(4.42)

Here, equation (4.42) defines a diagonal matrix that can eliminate the ISI and ICI caused by the multi-user DSL transmission. The overall operation of the multi-user system can, therefore, be described as

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}}[n] = \boldsymbol{G}\boldsymbol{H}\boldsymbol{F}\mathbf{s}[n] + \boldsymbol{G}\boldsymbol{v}[n]$$

= $\Sigma \mathbf{s}[n] + \boldsymbol{G}\mathbf{v}[n]$ (4.43)

where $\Sigma = \text{diag}\{\Sigma_1 \cdots \Sigma_K\}$ represents the optimal joint transmit power and $\hat{\mathbf{s}}[n] = [\hat{\mathbf{s}}_1[n] \cdots \hat{\mathbf{s}}_K[n]]^T$ is the vector of the estimated symbols at the output of equaliser $\boldsymbol{G} = \text{diag}\{\boldsymbol{U}_1^H \cdots \boldsymbol{U}_K^H\}$.

In order to optimise the multi-user DSL system, a water-filling algorithm with single-user optimisation like approach is performed on the diagonal elements of Σ so that the transmit power is allocated accordingly. Therefore, the precoder F in (4.41) is rewritten as

$$\boldsymbol{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{1,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{1,0} & \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{2,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{2,0} & \cdots & \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}_{K,0} \boldsymbol{V}_{K,0} \end{bmatrix} \Lambda^{1/2}$$
(4.44)

where $\Lambda = \lambda_{11}, \dots, \lambda_{KK}$ is a diagonal matrix with elements λ_{ii} derived by the water-filling algorithm.

Under the defined assumptions, the data rate performance of the system is given by

$$R_{rate} = \log_2 |\mathbf{I} + \frac{\Sigma^2 \Lambda}{\sigma_v^2}|$$
(4.45)

In the case of a spectrum management problem that requires minimising the transmit power subject to achieving a desired transmission rate for each user, the joint precoder and equaliser matrices are derived using the steps defined above, except that the matrix Σ is defined by performing water-filling separately for each user, where the constrained transmit power for each user is scaled to achieve the required transmission rate.

In the case of overdetermined MIMO channels, (i.e. M > N), this described process enables the equaliser G to setting the first t_i left singular vectors of H_i and defines $\hat{G}_1 = F_i^H H_i$ to yield F and new G_i , finally the matrix G is defined as a product between the first t_i independent N singular vectors of H_i and the new G_i .

The condition for deriving each new F_i depends on the number of independent transmitting tones

$$N \le \sum_{i=1}^{K} t_i \tag{4.46}$$

4.5 Block Precoding and Equalisation for Multi-user DSL Systems

Consider the DSL channel model described in Section 4.2, where the channel contains *K* users with combined blocks of joint precoder and equaliser as illustrated in Figure 4.4. The input symbol blocks $\mathbf{s}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^N$ are mapped through a precoder $\mathbf{F}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times N}$ to produce

transmit symbol blocks $\mathbf{x}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^M$, such that

$$\mathbf{x}[n] = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{s}[n]. \tag{4.47}$$



Figure 4.4 Joint precoding and equalisation for a multi-user DSL transmission

After mapping, each block $\mathbf{x}[n]$ contains N independent tones, which is then transmitted through N independent discrete-time channel matrix blocks $\mathbf{H}(z)$ in the presence of additive noise symbol blocks $\mathbf{v}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^M$. At the receiver, the received symbol blocks $\mathbf{y}[n] \in \mathbb{C}^M$ are reprocessed through the equaliser $\mathbf{G}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times M}$. The equaliser $\mathbf{G}(z)$ is defined to perform the inverse operation of $\mathbf{F}(z)$ to estimate the output symbol blocks $\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n]$.

As shown in Figure 4.4, the overall transmission problem can then be represented by a pseudo-circulant matrix C(z) as expressed in equation (4.5), where

$$\boldsymbol{C}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{MK-1}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{1}(z) \\ \boldsymbol{C}_{1}(z) & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{C}_{2}(z) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-1}(z) & \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-2}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

Consider the transmission matrix C(z) as an FIR channel, therefore, one can express C_0 and C_1 of Eqn (4.12) in the following form.

$$\boldsymbol{C}_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-1}(z) & \cdots & \ddots & \cdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \cdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-1}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.48)

$$\boldsymbol{C}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & z^{-1} \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-1}(z) & \cdots & \cdots & z^{-1} \boldsymbol{C}_{0}(z) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & z^{-1} \boldsymbol{C}_{NK-1}(z) \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.49)

With M > N, the pseudo-circulant matrix C(z) is termed here a polynomial matrix and has unit order, in which the relation between the input and output block can be written as

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \mathbf{G}_0(z)\mathbf{H}(z)\mathbf{F}_0(z)\mathbf{s}[n] + \mathbf{G}_1(z)\mathbf{H}(z)\mathbf{F}_1(z)\mathbf{s}[n-1] + \mathbf{G}_0(z)\mathbf{v}[n]$$
(4.50)

where $G_0(z)H(z)F_0(z)s[n]$ and $G_1(z)H(z)F_1(z)s[n-1]$ are respectively the actual and the interference coefficient matrices of the transmission, and v[n] represents a block of noise samples.

As discussed in Section 4.3, the ICI and ISI in (4.50) is eliminated by setting the term GC_1F to zero. In the TZ approach, the last rows blocks in the precoder matrix are set to zero. In the LZ, however, the first columns blocks of the equaliser are set to zero.

The induced interference in the system is eliminated when (4.50) becomes

$$\mathbf{\hat{s}}[n] = \mathbf{G}_0(z)\mathbf{H}(z)\mathbf{F}_0(z)\mathbf{s}[n] + \mathbf{G}_0(z)\mathbf{v}[n]$$
(4.51)

where *H* is either, in TZ case

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{0}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{H}_{MK-1}(z) & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \boldsymbol{H}_{0}(z) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \boldsymbol{H}_{MK-1}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.52)

or, in the LZ case

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{MK-1}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{H}_{0}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \boldsymbol{H}_{MK-1}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{H}_{0}(z) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.53)

In the case when the MIMO channel is a full-rank matrix, H(z) is a blocked-banded matrix. It is note that to perfectly reconstruct the original input symbol blocks $\mathbf{s}[n]$ through G(z), it is necessary the N = M and H(z) has full rank, i.e, rank $\{H(z)\} = N$.

Considering the polynomial eigenvalue decomposition (PEVD) via SMD procedures discussed in Section 3.3.2, one can present the paraHermitian matrix decomposition as;

$$H(z)\tilde{H}(z) = U(z)\Lambda(z)\tilde{\Lambda}\tilde{U}(z)$$

$$\tilde{H}(z)H(z) = V(z)\Lambda(z)\tilde{\Lambda}\tilde{V}(z).$$
 (4.54)

This, in turn, defines the PSVD as

$$\Sigma_0^{1/2}(z) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_0(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\boldsymbol{V}_0(z)$$
(4.55)

where $V_0(z)$ is a paraunitary transmit matrix corresponding to the first *N* columns of V(z)and $\Lambda(z) = \Sigma_0^{1/2}(z)$ is $Q \times Q$ optimal diagonal matrix with $Q = \operatorname{rank} \{ \tilde{H}(z) H(z) \}$, and $U_0(z)$ is a paraunitary receive matrix corresponding to the first *M* columns of U(z).

By replacing C(z) using (4.55) and taking G(z) for $\tilde{U}_0(z)$ and F(z) for $V_0(z)$, the output signals in (4.50) can be defined as;

$$\tilde{\mathbf{s}}[n] = \underbrace{\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_{0}(z)\boldsymbol{U}(z)_{0}}_{\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{M}}} \Sigma_{0}^{1/2}(z) \underbrace{\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}_{0}(z)\boldsymbol{V}_{0}(z)}_{\mathbf{I}_{N}} \mathbf{s}[n] + \underbrace{\tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_{1}(z)\boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z)\boldsymbol{V}_{1}(z)\mathbf{s}[n-1] + \tilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_{1}(z)\mathbf{v}[n]}_{interference+noise}$$
$$= \Sigma_{0}^{1/2}(z)\mathbf{s}[n] + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_{1}(z)\boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z)\boldsymbol{V}_{1}(z)\mathbf{s}[n-1] + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{U}}_{1}(z)\mathbf{v}[n]. \tag{4.56}$$

Here, we assume that the interference parameters in $(\tilde{U}_1(z)\mathbf{H}_1(z)V_1(z)\mathbf{s}[n-1] + \tilde{U}_1(z)\mathbf{v}[n])$ are white and additive Gaussian noise. To optimise the output signal, it is shown in [46] that the best method is the inversion of the channel matrix, provided that the overall transmission problem H(z) is perfectly stationary so that the initial matrix do not change throughout the transmission. The benefit of this channel inversion over the stationary channel information standards is being able to find the optimal precoders and equalisers under either the mean square error (MSE) minimisation criterion or the bit/data rate maximisation settings. Here, a minimum MSE (MMSE) criterion that minimises the mean error in the system to define the output symbol block $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}[n]$ closest to $\mathbf{s}[n]$ is considered.

Assume that the input symbol blocks $\mathbf{s}[n]$ are also uncorrelated mutually with noise symbol blocks v[n]. The known covariance matrices of the $\mathbf{s}[n]$ and $\mathbf{v}[n]$ can respectively be

expressed in the following form

$$R_{ss} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{s}[n]\mathbf{s}[n]^{\mathrm{H}}\} = \sigma_{s}^{2}\mathbf{I}, \qquad (4.57)$$

and

$$R_{\nu\nu} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{v}[n]\mathbf{v}[n]^{\mathrm{H}}\} = \sigma_{\nu}^{2}\mathbf{I}.$$
(4.58)

Under the MMSE criterion, the optimal equaliser under the MSE criterion is given by [6];

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{opt}(z) = \boldsymbol{R}_{ss} \boldsymbol{F}(z) \boldsymbol{\tilde{H}}(z) \left(\boldsymbol{R}_{vv} + \boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{F}_{0}(z) \boldsymbol{R}_{ss} \boldsymbol{\tilde{F}}(z) \boldsymbol{\tilde{H}}(z) \right)^{-1}.$$
(4.59)

The error covariance matrix can then be expressed as

$$R_{ee} = \sigma_s^2 (\mathbf{I} + \sigma_s^2 \tilde{F}(z) \tilde{H}(z) R_{\nu\nu}^{-1} H(z) F_0(z))^{-1}$$
(4.60)

Under the MMSE condition, the error covariance matrix \mathbf{R}_{ee} can be minimised subject to power constraint so that trace $(\mathbf{F}_{opt}(z)\tilde{\mathbf{F}}_{opt}(z)\sigma_s^2 = P_0$. One can then define the optimal MSE precoder as

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{opt}(z) = \boldsymbol{V}(z)\boldsymbol{\Phi} \tag{4.61}$$

where Φ represent the optimal transmit power containing $N \times N$ diagonal elements obtained through a water-filling algorithm

$$|\Phi_{ii}|^{2} = \max\left(\frac{P_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_{jj}^{-1}}{\sigma_{s}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\hat{N}} (\sigma_{jj} / \lambda_{jj})^{1/2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{ii}}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{ii}\sigma_{s}}, \quad 0\right),$$
(4.62)

where $\hat{N} \leq N$ is the number of non-zero component of $|\Phi_{ii}|^2$, i.e, $|\Phi_{ii}|^2 > 0$ for $i \in [1, \hat{N}]$ and $|\Phi_{ii}|^2 > 0$ for $i \in [\hat{N} + 1, N]$. For the maximum data-rate criteria [76], the optimal MSE precoder can be written as in (4.27). The maximum data-rate precoders are achieved as a function of the optimal power allocation using a classical water-filling algorithm with singleuser approximation basis as described in [7], which leads to the main diagonal elements of Φ as

$$|\Phi_{ii}|^2 = \max\left(\frac{P_0 + \sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_{jj}^{-1}}{\hat{N}\sigma_s} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{ii}\sigma_s}, 0\right)$$
(4.63)

where *M* is the number of positive $|\Phi_{ii}|^2$.

4.6 Numerical Analysis

This section provides some examples regarding the properties of PSVD algorithm. For the first example, we presents an analytical solution that takes into account the polynomial channel matrix of a non-square multi-user system. The optimal precoder and equaliser of the system is them provided using PSVD algorithm for non-square channel information, making all coefficient associated with polynomal off-diagonal elements equal to zero in order to limit the impact of the noise on the transmission. Example 2 presents a simple application of using the PSVD by SMD algorithm to compute the joint precoding and equalisation filters for DSM designs.

To compute the data rate performance of the proposed DSM algorithm, three random independent BPSK source signals, each with 10000 symbols, were generated and convolutively mixed to form the input signal S(z). As each element of the mixing matrix is a fifth order FIR filter, the variance of the noise process was chosen to give a signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) at the receiver of 5 dB. The space-time covariance matrices for both input signal and noise signal were computed respectively according to (4.57) and (4.58). The modulation scheme used is BPSK for evaluation purposes since its extension to large constellations is straightforward. The number of time slots of the channel, N=2048. Initially, we assume imperfect CSI information at transmitter. The proposed model exploit DMT multiplexing scheme as a benchmark. DSL-DMT modulation is a scheme that uses inverse fast Fourier transform (IFFT) based transmission to decompose complex MIMO channel into several simpler SISO channels.

The input symbol block S(z) undergoes the same multiplexing process as the DSL-DMT based scheme. Prior to transmission, the optimal precoder F(z) transmitter performs an IFFT operation on the input symbol block and convert the available channel into vectored transmit channel.

Some redundancies such as cyclic prefixes are estimated prior to transmission. At the receiver, the available redundancies are discarded off and FFT operation is performed to the received signal at each linear vectored received channel via the optimal equaliser G(z). The standard SVD decomposition is the applied within each SISO channel. The iterative cancellation within the local CSI information of the received signal is performed on each tone individually subjected to MMSE-DFE constraints to detect and balance the resulting transmission error.

The existing DMT-DMT transmission incurs an average loss in spectral efficiency on account of the introduced cyclic prefix. If the CSI is fully known at the transmitter, this loss

is negligible so this has not the target of this study. The Frobenius norm of the channel matrix is set to unity.

Here, the performance are carried-out over two different scenario, namely when K=1, and when K>1.

4.6.1 Using an Adaptive Linear combiner at time instant t



Figure 4.5 Adaptive Linear filter at instant time t

Consider the adaptive linear combiner in Figure 4.5. The output $\mathbf{y}(t)$ is given by

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_i \mathbf{x}_i(t)$$
(4.64)

and the error signal is

$$\mathbf{e}(t) = \mathbf{d}(t) - \mathbf{y}(t) = \mathbf{d}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_i \mathbf{x}_i(t)$$
(4.65)

where $\mathbf{d}(t)$ is the "desired" or "target" signal. the symbol t is used to denote a discrete time instant. It follow that

$$\mathbf{e}^{2}(t) = \mathbf{d}^{2}(t) - 2\mathbf{d}(t)\sum_{i=1}^{N}\mathbf{w}_{i}\mathbf{x}_{i}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{K}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\mathbf{w}_{i}\mathbf{w}_{k}\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)\mathbf{x}_{k}(t).$$
(4.66)

It is assumed that the weights \mathbf{w}_i is constant over the interval $t = \{1, 2, \dots, T\}$ and introduce the vector notation

 $\underline{\mathbf{w}}^T = \{\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_1, \cdots, \mathbf{w}_N\}; \qquad \underline{\mathbf{x}}^T(t) = \{\mathbf{x}_1(t), \mathbf{x}_1(t), \cdots, \mathbf{x}_N(t)\}$ so that

$$\mathbf{e}(t) = \mathbf{d}(t) - \underline{\mathbf{w}}^T \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t)$$
(4.67)

and

$$\mathbf{e}^{2}(t) = \mathbf{d}^{2}(t) - 2\mathbf{d}(t)\underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t)\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{T}(t)\underline{\mathbf{w}}.$$
(4.68)

We aim to find the optimal weight vector, i.e. the one which minimises $r = E\{e^2(t)\}$, where $E\{.\}$ here denotes the statistical average estimator given by

$$\mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{q}(t)\} = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \mathbf{q}(t)$$

It is easy to show that

$$r = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{d}^{2}(t)\} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_{i} \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{d}(t)\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)\} + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_{i} \mathbf{w}_{k} \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)\mathbf{x}_{k}(t)\}.$$
 (4.69)

or alternatively

$$r = \mathrm{E}\{\mathbf{d}^{2}(t)\} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_{i}\mathbf{p}_{i} + \sum_{k=1}^{K}\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{w}_{i}\mathbf{w}_{k}\mathbf{m}_{ik} = \mathrm{E}\{\mathbf{d}^{2}(t)\} - 2\underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}\underline{\mathbf{p}} + \underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}\mathbf{M}\underline{\mathbf{w}}.$$
 (4.70)

where $\mathbf{p}_i = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{d}(t)\mathbf{x}_i(t)\}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{ik} = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{x}_i(t)\mathbf{x}_k(t)\}$ are elements of the cross-correlation vector $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{d}(t)\mathbf{x}(t)\}$ and the covariance matrix $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{x}(t)\mathbf{x}^T(t)\}$ respectively. In order to derive the optimal weight vector, we set $\frac{dr}{dw_j} = 0$ for $j = 1, \dots, N$. Then from Equation (4.70), it follows immediately that

$$-2\mathbf{p}_j+2\sum_{k=1}^K\mathbf{w}_k\mathbf{m}_{jk}=0$$

for $j = 1, \dots N$, so that we obtain a set of N equations in K unknowns (often referred to as the Gauss normal equations) which may be expressed succinctly in the form

$$\mathbf{M}\underline{\mathbf{w}} = \mathbf{p}.\tag{4.71}$$

Introducing the temporal vectors $\underline{\mathbf{e}}^T = [\mathbf{e}(1), \mathbf{e}(2), \cdots, \mathbf{e}(T)], \mathbf{y}^T = [\mathbf{y}(1), \mathbf{y}(2), \cdots, \mathbf{y}(T)]$ and $\mathbf{d}^T = [\mathbf{d}(1), \mathbf{d}(2), \cdots, \mathbf{d}(T)]$, we may write the statistical estimates \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{M} in the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{d}}(t) \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{d}}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{X}}$$

and

$$\mathbf{M} = \sum_{t=1}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) \underline{\mathbf{x}}^{T}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{X}}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{X}}$$

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{X}}^T = [\underline{\mathbf{x}}(1), \underline{\mathbf{x}}(2), \cdots, \underline{\mathbf{x}}(T)].$$

 $\underline{\mathbf{X}}$ is sometimes referred to as the data matrix. In the case of a tapped delay line filter (convolution), the data matrix becomes

$$\underline{\mathbf{X}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}(n) & \mathbf{x}(n-1) & \mathbf{x}(n-2) & \cdots & \mathbf{x}(1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}[L] & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{h}[L] & \ddots & \ddots & \mathbf{h}[0] \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \mathbf{h}[0] \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{0} & \cdots & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{h}[L] \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.72)

Use, for example the model input in Figure 4.5. Assume the input signal $\{x_1, \dots, x_N\}$ are known at the filter, even though this will probably not true in practice for PMD analysis.

4.6.2 Using Subchannel Equalisation with PSVD Algorithms

The polynomial transmission model follows a very similar procedure to the convolution data matrix. The space time covariance matrix \mathbf{M} can be constructed as

$$\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{E}\{\mathbf{x}_i(t)\mathbf{x}_k(t)\},\tag{4.73}$$

 $R_i(z) \circ - \bullet M$. One can then compute the PEVD of paraHermitian $R_i(z)$ and the polynomial eigenvalue of the true channel matrix $\Sigma_S(z)$ and the noise-plus-interference eigenvalues, $\Sigma_N(z)$.

$$\boldsymbol{R}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}_{S}(z)\tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}_{N}(z) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_{S}(z) & 0\\ 0 & \Sigma_{N}(z) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{Q}_{S}(z)\\ \boldsymbol{Q}_{N}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.74)

where $\tilde{Q}_{S}(z)$ holds only the actual fractional delay that correspond to the diagonal matrix $\Sigma_{S}(z)$.

Results

This section examines the impact of applying two different equalisation methods- with and without per subchannel equalisations- to the outputs of the PSVD algorithm. The approach first uses the PSVD algorithm to compute several different levels of channel diagonalisation, and identify several subchannels that differ in spectral allocations.

Consider input signals for seven users in the form of sensor arrays. The signals are assumed to be transmitted signals via a channel with a corrupted independent and identically distributed complex Gaussian noise. The decomposition of the resulting channel matrix is carried out based on the two paraHermitian matrices obtained for the channel with the used of SMD algorithms at 100 iterations.

The polynomial channel model under consideration is depicted in Figure 4.6. The stem plots show the magnitude of the series of coefficients for each of the polynomial elements. The position of each stem plot corresponds to the index of the polynomial element, which it represents within the polynomial matrix. The two difference paraHermitian matrices constructed from the polynomial matrix are therefore given in Figure 4.7(**a**) and 4.7(**b**) respectively (each with channel order 13).

As expected, para-hermitian matrices $R_1(z)$ and $R_2(z)$ have an increase channel order than the polynomial channel matrix H(z) but the $R_2(z)$ lower the its dimension by 2 based on the channel characteristics. Given the parameters in Table 4.1, the SMD algorithm on parahermitian matrices leads to the diagonalization of the polynomial channel matrix. The resulting diagonalized polynomial matrices $D_1(z)$ and $D_2(z)$ of $R_1(z)$ and $R_2(z)$ are shown in Figure 4.8(a) and 4.8(b) respectively. The corresponding para-unitary matrices U(z), and V(z) are stem plotted in Figure 4.9(a) and Figure 4.9(b).

The two paraunitary matrices, although having increasing order of above 800 channel lengths, required a channel shortening. The SMD algorithm, however, restricts the required power equalisation parameters G(z) to only the first two columns of U(z). This reduced para-unitary model (of order 60) channel length was processed.



Figure 4.6 The stem plot representation of the 3×2 polynomial channel matrix.



Figure 4.7 Stem plot representation of the Para-Hermitian matrices obtained (a) for $R_1(z)$ and (b) for $R_2(z)$.

The resulting channel shortening paraunitary matrices are presented in Figure 4.10. This result tells us that the computation cost can be reduced by 75% when the reduced-order structures are used in the computation.

Compared the effective diagonal matrix of using the actual and reduced-order transmission matrices, it is shown in Figure 4.11 that the two stem plots have similar features

Parameter	Values
Number of transmitting modems	2
Number of receiving modems	3
Number of users	7
Number of transmitted bits	103776
Stopping criterion ε_r	10 ⁻³
Maximum number of iterations (Maxiter)	400
Truncation parameter (μ)	10 ⁻⁶

Tab	le	4.1	Μ	lod	lel	parameters	3
-----	----	-----	---	-----	-----	------------	---



Figure 4.8 The diagonal polynomial matrix obtained when the SMD algorithm was applied (a) for $\mathbf{D}_1(z)$ and (b) for $\mathbf{D}_2(z)$.

and magnitudes but the one with reduced-order procedures exhibit low complexity by ratio 60:1000, indicating that the reduced computation cost also improves the achievable performance.

This reduced-order decomposition procedure provides the required power spectral for any given channel information. One can, then, regards the spectral power below 0dB as the interference signal. The estimation of each decomposed signal at the receiver can be balanced and equalised independently.

To compute the accuracy of this PSVD decomposition, the relative error in accordance to (3.25) as reported in [45] was computed to be -10.469760 dB, confirming that the transmission order shortening do not significantly compromise the decomposition. Note that if this measure is very very small. For the potential application of the decomposition a strictly upper triangular matrix is required, and so the relative error can again be calculated, however,



Figure 4.9 The stem plot representation of the paraunitary matrix obtained after applying SMD algorithm (a) for U(z) and for (b) V(z).



Figure 4.10 Representation of the optimal transmission matrices (a) for equalisation matrix \mathbf{G} and for (b) for Precoder matrix \mathbf{F} .

now setting all polynomial elements beneath the diagonal of the matrix equal to zero. This result confirms that a good approximate decomposition has been performed.

Furthermore, the simulation results of the output of the PSVD with independent subchannel equalisation and then without independent subchannel equalisation equivalently following the same system model are examined. The performance of these two equalisation settings over the iteration steps is shown in Figure 4.12. We see that the sum rate for per-channel



Figure 4.11 Effective diagonal matrix (a) for actual traansmission matrices and (b) for a reduced-order transmission matrices

equalisation converge significantly faster than for without independent. This gain is due to the enhanced energy gain in every step by each independent channel. Figure shows that the two equalisation methods (with and without per-user estimation) indeed behave quite differently. Of the without individual estimation, with its slightly reduced cost, initially converges slower, but attains a better convergence at higher iteration steps. Of the without per-channel equalisation algorithms, the basic reason is that it minimises the expected joint transmission errors, which optimises the collective power allocation gain instead.

The primary difference between the two equalisations is the independent equalisation algorithm: per-channel selection is restricted to improve each user rate within one of the paraunitary sets and thus has very low complexity, whereas the described without each user equalisation technique has no such restriction.

4.7 Concluding Remarks

In Section 4.2, the channel model and its problem formulation are presented to enable joint processing of users information at the transmitting end. The framework for precoding and equalisation with a single-user DSL transmission is illustrated in Section 4.3 The approach of joint precoding and equalisation for multi-user DSL transmission presented in Section 4.4 introduces a reduced-order precoding function to eliminate both ISI and ICI caused by channel interference. The use of block-based transmission over multi-user DSL channel that employed pseudo-circulant matrix is exploited in Section 4.5 to describe the polynomial matrix. PSVD is then applied to separate the induced interference from the direct channels. The chapter also derived the conditions for using the PSVD by SMD algorithm for the joint optimal precoding



Figure 4.12 With and without per-user Equalisation

and equalisation of the multi-user MIMO system. It is noted that this particular method does not require perfect channel information state. Despite the overdetermined channel state information problem considered in the worked examples, the reduced-order paraunitary matrix can help reduce the computation cost. Through numerical experiments, we have demonstrated that the allocation of optimal power spectral independently using a PSVD by SMD algorithm to a group of users, separating the noise/interference (below 0dB level).

Finally, this chapter further examines the basic of whether with or without per- channel equalisation via PSVD algorithm provide a better sum rate in multi-user channels. This result simplifies to a comparison between with and without feedback and the surprising conclusion is that there is a very strong preference for independent channel estimation. Multi-user channels provide a performance gain that is proportional to the number of users. Although we have considered the decoupling of a multiuser channel matrix using PSVD algorithms. A multi-user channel with different diagonal elements is easier to describe and thus lower and control the power allocation to each sub-channel. Thus, PSVD further reinforces the

preference towards accurate channel information. In terms of optimising power allocation, it is noted that a recent work has studied a closely related trade-off in the context of equalising the transmission error.

We proved the performance evaluation in the context of subchannels equalisation, where the comparison is made between with and without per-user equalisation.

In closing, it is worth emphasizing that the results here do not imply that spectral power allocation is worthless. On the contrary, it does provide a significant benefit. However, the model insight is that transmission error balancing at the receiver is required and used to obtain accurate power allocation by exploiting the multi-user channel information at the transmitter.

Chapter 5

Joint Precoding with Decision Feedback Equalisation

This chapter will discuss a novel approach to vectoring transmission for multi-user DSL channels through a joint precoding and equalisation scheme with decision feedback detection. The approach will first employ a polynomial singular value decomposition using the SMD algorithm to decouple the overall channel state information for a group of users into approximately independent single-user problems. In the second step, the resulting transmission error due to interference will be mitigated through a decision feedback equaliser (DFE) as suggested in [105, 112]. The proposed approach combine PSVD with either the zero-forcing (ZF) equaliser, which in fact is the common direct equalisation method, or the minimum mean square error (MMSE) equaliser.

The PSVD decomposition not only helps to estimate the induced crosstalk parameter in the transmissions but also allows a specific part of the transmission errors to be conserved with a minimal loss in space-time gain as will be demonstrated. The simulation results reported in this chapter show that the proposed method can enable a higher data-rate performance than that of other benchmark designs. Under a joint optimal precoding and equalisation constraint, the proposed DSM method enables the higher data-rate performance compare to the benchmark design to be achieved, while maintaining a relatively low-computational complexity.

5.1 Introduction

In DSM design, the vectoring transmission allows multiple transmit and receive users to be coordinated by means of either perfectly known or oversampled MIMO system [62, 113]. Such a design can offer better performance over single-user transmission scenarios, provided

all the users to be combined coexist at a common location [78]. Recently, the treatment of channel state information (CSI) has become crucial as the number of both the user and the transmitting tones has increased [114, 22]. In a practical communication system, the perfect CSI at the transmitter (CSIT) is often impossible.

Several works including for some perfect CSIT systems in [24], provide exciting results by considering perfectly known beam-forming gains whose capacity is wholly characterised either through a feedback channel or based on the reciprocity of the channel. In other imperfect CSIT cases, where the CSI is only perfectly known at the receiver (CSIR), the transmitter only knows the mean or the covariance of the channel information. Several methods are also available for imperfect CSIT systems. These include the design of linear beamforming gains through a low-complexity DFE-like decoding scheme known as BLAST [24, 112], a space-time coding method [107], and an optimal capacity-achieving scheme based on multi-carrier transmission and eigenvalue decomposition analysis [115]. Most of these imperfect methods consider using the design problem required for joint precoding and equalisation signal processing with interference mitigation over a multi-user MIMO channel [105].

A considerable number of joint precoding and equalisation research publications focus on the case of a narrowband subchannel, where the multi-user MIMO problem can be modelled as a matrix, and the standard singular value decomposition (SVD) plays a central role in the joint design process to decouple the complex MIMO channel into several independent narrowband subchannels [105, 116, 117].

There are different ways to mitigate the error resulting from several narrowband independent subchannels with the standard SVD methods. In [22], worst-case designs scenario with zero-forcing designs are analysed. The method guarantees a specific system performance for any channel sufficiently close to the estimated one. The method as well leads to direct equalisation, which helps to achieve the absolute transmit power under the ideal transmission criteria. On the other hand, the CSIT problem can be modelled using averaging concepts. This guarantees a specific geometric mean performance over the channel realisations [112]. The overdetermined channel equalisation solution is used in the sequel.

Previous work on overdetermined channel cases has considered mean CSI with perfect CSIR. The concept of capturing the arithmetic average of nonlinear MIMO systems is addressed in [117, 118] for minimising the resulting mean square error (MSE). Another method combined the channel covariance, and the channel means of the system to address equalisation problem in [119], minimising an upper bound of the average pairwise error probability (PEP). A similar approach is exploited through eigenbeamforming, and in MISO

[115] and MIMO with SISO-MSE receiver [120] for maximising the mutual information by beamforming.

It is shown in [24] that robust designs can be achieved when both the mean, and covariance of the MIMO system is available. The problem of minimising the average MSE and maximising the average signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in MISO channels is considered in [121], and in [69] for mitigating the total mean square error using an equivalent channel based on conditional channel mean and linear transceivers. With the increase of the MIMO channel information and the number of users, the existing standard SVD method can no longer be used for extracting the required independent narrowband subchannel problems from the complex problem, and research on massive heterogeneous MIMO signal method is gaining attention.

This has led to the suggestion of adopting a polynomial singular value decomposition (PSVD) technique. While PSVD is generally the best way of extracting the independent narrowband subchannels from extensive channel information. The application of PSVD in vectoring transmission designs leads to a much-simplified interference mitigation scheme.

Reference [44] describes two such approaches. Firstly, the technique can be used to decouple the complex multi-user problem into a large number of narrowband and parallel sub-channel problems. Secondly, the sub-channel approaches are now being formulated for the single-input-single-output case in [122], which can easily be extended to broadband MIMO transmission [93]. Palomar et al. in [102, 123] assume that the channel interference can be eliminated by the use of guard intervals. The paper presents an iterative algorithm that achieves joint optimal precoder and equaliser for multi-user MIMO channels, given a total power constraint for each user. Therefore, the precoder functions are first derived via the PSVD decomposition of the channel matrix and the equaliser functions are obtained as Wiener filter solutions, under different optimisation criteria that have been unified in the form of Schur-concave or Schur-convex functions. References [122, 124, 125] describe a block-transmission approach and introduce a certain amount of redundancy to eliminate transmission interference.

The redundancy introduced limits the spectral efficiency of the system due to increasing the transmit block size [3]. Under the total transmit power constraint, the energy per symbol can be decreased, and therefore the bit error rate performance becomes poorer. Reference [78] also addressed the use of guard intervals with extra degrees of freedom (DOF) equal to the channel order for cancelling crosstalk only, but these redundancies cannot be traded-off against ISI and noise amplification unless channel shortening is used. In [126], it is also established that the use of cyclic prefix intervals is not optimal in respect to the signal-noise ratio (SNR) performance.

Different from the joint precoding and equalisation DSL transmission analysis in [53, 30, 20], channel information shortening via polynomial eigenvalue decomposition was recently proposed in [95, 96] is employed to decouple the complex multi-user MIMO channel matrix into two-sided para-unitary matrices and a polynomial diagonal matrix. The extension of such a powerful PEVD to the DSM designs not only eliminate the crosstalk interference in the DSL system but also improve the overall throughput when combined with per-user interference cancellation schemes.

In the second step, the decoupled subchannel problems are further precoded and equalised using standard MMSE methods such as Weiner approach in [22]. Similar methods with non-coherent detection can be developed for cancelling crosstalk in a multiuser DSL system. In [104, 127, 122, 128], a per-user equalisation scheme is described, which outperforms linear beamforming and coherent equalisation approach. Since crosstalk can be eliminated partly with the help of the PSVD, this approach loosens the constraint of ISI elimination and provides the possibility of achieving a better spectral efficiency for the decoupled single-user sub-channels problem, thus leading to improved system performance.

Chapter outline

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows. In Sections 5.2, the overall channel model and system characteristics are laid out. Section 5.3 addresses the first step in the design and introduces the applications of PSVD to the joint precoding and equalisation processing methods. The effectiveness of the methods for multi-user MIMO systems using single-user evaluation and detection concepts is presented in Section 5.7.2. Sections 5.8 discusses the generalisation ability of the proposed method, and comparison of the numerical results with existing method is shown. Finally, Section 5.9 concludes the chapter.

5.2 Channel Model and System Characteristics

5.2.1 DSL System Model

Here we consider a joint precoding and equalisation model for point-to-point multi-user DSL communication systems as described in Section 4.2. Assuming the system model consists of K users, each with N transmitting tones and M receiving tones. The tone here is referred to as the frequency or carrier. The channel length is L, and the transfer function of the each user

may be expressed as a polynomial matrix of the form

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{k}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{L} \mathbf{H}_{k}[n] z^{-n}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where $\mathbf{H}_k[n] \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times N}$ denotes the CSI of *k*th user. It is also assumed that the exact CSI is known at the receiver side.

In the general multi-user case, we assume that the signal on each of the *N* inputs has resulted from a time-multiplexing of the *K* users, and that each of the *M* outputs is demultiplexed into *K* signals. Recall that the DSL transmission can be represented by the pseudocirculant matrix $C(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{MK \times NK}$ as explained in Section 4.2.

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z) & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{H}_{K}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{H}_{2}(z) \\ \boldsymbol{H}_{2}(z) & \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z) & \cdots & z^{-1}\boldsymbol{H}_{3}(z) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{H}_{K}(z) & \boldsymbol{H}_{K-1}(z) & \cdots & \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.2)

The matrices $H_k(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times N}$, $k = 1, \dots, K$, are the *K*-user polyphase components of H(z) matrix such that

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{K-1} \boldsymbol{H}_k(z^K) z^{-k}$$
(5.3)

or alternatively

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{k}(z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} \mathbf{C}[nK+k]z^{-n}$$
(5.4)

In the following, a generic DSL system with joint precoder $\mathbf{E}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{NK \times P}$, joint equaliser $\mathbf{B}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{P \times MK}$ and transmit matrix $\mathbf{H}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{MK \times NK}$ is illustrated in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1 DSL system with channel matrix $\mathbf{H}(z)$, joint precoder $\mathbf{E}(z)$ and joint equaliser $\mathbf{B}(z)$ including a multiplexing by K.

5.3 Linear Precoder and Equaliser

When K = 1, $H(z) = H_1(z)$ is a $M \times N$ polynomial matrix. As the number of users K increases, the size of the polynomial matrix H(z) becomes more massive, but its polynomial order reduces in accordance with the shortening polyphase responses.

When N = M, the polyphase components H(z) are constants with no dependency on z. However, the block-pseudo-circulant form of C(z) in 4.5 ensures that for all M > N, the transmission matrix C(z) will be a first-order polynomial, which means that channel interference such as crosstalk can easily be isolated.

As discussed in Sections 4.3 and 4.5, to eliminate the transmission error, the transmission vectored signals rely on a space-time multiplex that is chosen under the overdetermined MIMO channel conditions, i.e. M > N [78].

As a result, C(z) becomes a block diagonal matrix of only first order in z, as noted earlier. Specifically

$$C(z) = C_0(z) + C_1(z)$$
(5.5)

where $C_0(z)$ and $C_1(z)$ are given in equations (4.48) and (4.49), respectively, for the MIMO case.

The polynomial order of the MIMO system matrix H(z) can be shortened by reducing $C_1(z)$ to zero through either the TZ or LZ approach as mentioned in Sections 4.3 and 4.5. Thus the polynomial nature of C(z) has been eliminated, and the precoder and equaliser can be selected as non-polynomial matrices. However, one can see again that these TZ or LZ approaches, or even the multicarrier approach which uses cyclic prefix, always require at least the first *L* degrees of freedom (DOF) to be used only for ISI elimination.

5.4 Proposed Design

The proposed design has two components. First, the MIMO system matrix H(z) is decomposed into many independent subchannel problems using the recently proposed PSVD algorithm [109]. The decomposition of H(z) through PSVD can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \boldsymbol{U}(z) \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{D}(z) & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z)$$
(5.6)

whereby $\boldsymbol{D}(z) = \text{diag}\{\boldsymbol{D}_{00}, \boldsymbol{D}_{11}, \cdots, \boldsymbol{D}_{T-1,T-1}\}$ and $\boldsymbol{U}(z)$ and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{V}}(z)$ are paraunitary matrices.

The PSVD decomposition in (5.6) motivates the use of a precoder E(z) containing the first T columns of V(z) and an equaliser B(z) containing the first T rows of $\tilde{U}(z)$ such that

the multi-user DSL channel matrix can be decomposed into $T \leq \min(MK, NK)$ independent subchannels.

One can write

$$\hat{\mathbf{S}}(z) = \mathbf{B}(z)\mathbf{C}(z)\mathbf{E}(z)\mathbf{S}(z) + \mathbf{B}(z)\mathbf{V}(z)$$
(5.7)

$$= \boldsymbol{D}(z)\mathbf{S}(z) + \boldsymbol{B}(z)\mathbf{V}(z)$$
(5.8)

where $\underline{\mathbf{S}}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{P}$ denotes the signal symbol blocks at the input of the precoder $\boldsymbol{E}(z)$, $\underline{\mathbf{\hat{S}}}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{P}$ denotes the signal symbol blocks at the output of the equaliser $\boldsymbol{B}(z)$, and $\underline{\mathbf{\hat{V}}}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{MK}$ contains the additive white Gaussian noise as indicated in Figure 5.1

PSVD provides the possibility of removing a specific part of the channel interference through E(z) at the transmitter side and B(z) at the receiver side. In some cases, where the decoupled sub-channels are dispersive and cause crosstalk, the second step of the proposed approach becomes the critical mitigation concept. Therefore in a second step, a soft decision mitigation concept is proposed for each decoupled sub-channel transmission so that the induced crosstalk can be eliminated. This soft decision mitigation approach relies on linear optimal precoders and equalisers [78] or nonlinear optimal precoders and equalisers [129] to reconstruct the input signals. Besides, the second step takes only the individual properties of each sub-channel — such as its SNR — into account. Note that *K* denotes both the number of polyphase components and the block size. For the single-user block transmission system described in Section 4.3, K = 1, while for the multi-user model considered here, *K* is greater than 1.

5.5 Vectored Transmission through SMD Algorithm

In the following, the PSVD described in [105], together with its single-input single-output preequalisation requirement is outlined. In contrast to the standard DFT employed in the current DMT architectures to diagonalise only considered the instantaneous optimisation problems associated with DSL systems, the proposed PSVD offers a powerful tool by diagonalising the complex multi-user problem in the polynomial domain. For the polynomial case, a PSVD decomposition can be obtained by implementing two polynomial eigenvalue decomposition (PEVD), in which a paraHermitian matrix $\underline{R}_1(z) = H(z)H^H(z)$ is decomposed such that

$$\underline{\underline{R}}_{1}(z) = \underline{\underline{U}}(z)\Sigma(z)\underline{\underline{V}}^{H}(z)\underline{\underline{V}}(z)\Sigma^{H}(z)\underline{\underline{U}}^{H}(z)$$
$$= \underline{\underline{U}}(z)\Gamma^{1}(z)\underline{\underline{U}}^{H}(z)$$
(5.9)

where $\Gamma^1(z) = \Sigma(z)\Sigma^H(z)$ is a diagonal matrix.

It can be seen that the matrix $\underline{R}_1(z)$ is para-Hermitian, which means it satisfy the condition

$$\underline{\boldsymbol{R}}_{1}(z) = \underline{\boldsymbol{R}}_{1}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{*}). \tag{5.10}$$

In an error-free case, $\underline{V}(z)$ is paraunitary so that $\underline{V}(z)\underline{V}^{H}(z) = \mathbf{I}$. As a result of SMD, $\Gamma^{1}(z)$ is spectrally majorised such that its diagonal elements

$$\Gamma_{00}^{1}(z), \Gamma_{11}^{1}(z), \cdots, \Gamma_{MK-1,MK-1}^{1}(z)$$
 (5.11)

are ordered according to

$$\left|\Gamma_{kk}^{1}(z)\right| \ge \left|\Gamma_{k+1,k+1}^{1}(z)\right| \quad \forall (z) \quad \text{and} \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, MK - 1,$$
(5.12)

which is similar to the ranking of the singular values in a standard SVD decomposition. Note that the paraunitary matrix $\underline{U}(z)$ conserves transmit power, which means trace $\{\Gamma^1[0]\} =$ trace $\{\underline{R}_1[0]\}$ with $\Gamma^1[\tau] \circ - \bullet \Gamma^1(z)$ and $\underline{R}_1[\tau] \circ - \bullet \underline{R}_1(z)$.

In a similar operation, the paraHermitian matrix $\underline{R}_2(z) = C^H(z)C(z)$ is decomposed via EVD such that

$$\underline{\mathbf{R}}_{2}(z) = \mathbf{V}(z)\Sigma^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\underline{\mathbf{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\underline{\mathbf{U}}(z)\Sigma(z)\underline{\mathbf{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)$$
$$= \underline{\mathbf{V}}(z)\Gamma^{2}(z)\underline{\mathbf{V}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)$$
(5.13)

where $\underline{U}(z)$ assumes a paraunitary structure such that $\underline{U}(z)\underline{U}^{H}(z) = \mathbf{I}$ and $\Gamma^{2}(z) = \Sigma^{H}(z)\Sigma(z)$.

In this section, an iterative error mitigation procedure which uses a sequence of paraunitary operations to yield a near optimal solution of a joint precoding matrix $\underline{U}(z)$ and a joint equalisation matrix $\underline{V}(z)$ will be considered.

5.6 Precoder and Equaliser with Interference Mitigation

Applying the algorithm in Section 4.54 to decompose a multi-user channel matrix, this Section concentrates on the impact of channel estimation errors with regard to the application of the PSVD framework. In the literature, crosstalk impairment remains by far the most significant source of transmission errors in DSL systems. Usually, crosstalk occurs in two places, channel estimation and feedback equalisation. Noisy channel estimation can cause random interference in the detection which cannot be mitigated. On the other hand, feedback

equalisation introduces a specific decision as well as errors in the detection criterion when passing certain part of information back from the receiver to the transmitter.

Usually, the feedback decision is of more interest, as the errors in detection can be avoided by using a low modulation order and powerful coding techniques. The feedback decision maintains the accuracy of the modulation order, as discussed in [78]. A practical approach to achieve the feedback decision channel balancing is to predict the single-input-single-output pre-equalisation through MMSE detection scheme, as proposed in [24]. First, the channel matrix to be decomposed can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \underbrace{\boldsymbol{U}(z)\boldsymbol{D}(z)\boldsymbol{V}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*})}_{\boldsymbol{\underline{H}}_{0}(z)} + \underline{\boldsymbol{M}}_{er}(z)$$
(5.14)

where H(z) represents the original matrix, $\underline{H}_0(z)$ is the approximation true channel matrix given by the PSVD, and $\underline{M}_{er}(z)$ is the associated errors including the crosstalk present in the estimated channel matrix.

As such, the absolute unitary errors can then be defined as

$$\underline{\boldsymbol{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*})\underline{\boldsymbol{U}}(z) = \mathbf{I} + \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}_{er}(z)$$

$$\underline{\boldsymbol{V}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*})\underline{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) = \mathbf{I} + \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}_{er}(z).$$
(5.15)

The single-user approximative parameter for any given channel matrix takes the form:

$$\underline{U}_{k} = \underline{U}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \underline{U}(z) \qquad \underline{V}_{k} = \underline{V}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \underline{V}(z) \qquad (5.16)$$

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{k} = \boldsymbol{D}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \boldsymbol{D}(z) \qquad \qquad \underline{\boldsymbol{M}}_{k} = \underline{\boldsymbol{M}}_{er}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \boldsymbol{M}_{er}(z) \qquad (5.17)$$
$$\underline{\boldsymbol{U}}_{er,k} = \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}_{er}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}_{er}(z) \qquad \qquad \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}_{er,k} = \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}_{er}(e^{j2\pi k/N}) = \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}_{er}(z)$$

for
$$k = 0, ..., MK - 1$$
.

=

5.6.1 System Model

For a given multi-user DSL channel as described in Section 5.3, precoding and equalisation matrices obtained via PSVD give the receive model in Figure 4.4 as

$$\mathbf{\hat{S}}(z) = \underline{U}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*})\boldsymbol{H}(z)\underline{V}(z)\boldsymbol{Q}^{1/2}(z)\mathbf{S}(z) + \underbrace{\underline{U}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*})\mathbf{V}_{n}(z)}_{W(z)}.$$
(5.18)

where Q(z) denotes the redundancy introduced to accommodate any possible channel imbalance at the transmitter and $V_n(z)$ represents the resulting background noise of the channel estimate.

By using (5.14) and substituting H(z) into (5.18), the output of the received channel becomes

$$\hat{\mathbf{S}}(z) = \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) \left(\underline{\boldsymbol{U}}(z) \boldsymbol{D}(z) \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) + \underline{\boldsymbol{M}}_{er}(z) \right) \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) \boldsymbol{Q}^{1/2}(z) \mathbf{S}(z) + W(z)$$

$$= \left(\underline{\boldsymbol{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}(z) \boldsymbol{D}(z) \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) + \underline{\boldsymbol{U}}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) \underline{\boldsymbol{M}}_{er}(z) \underline{\boldsymbol{V}}(z) \right) \boldsymbol{Q}^{1/2}(z) \mathbf{S}(z) + W(z)$$

$$= \left(\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{D}}(z) + \boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{E}}(z) \right) \boldsymbol{Q}^{1/2}(z) \mathbf{S}(z) + W(z)$$
(5.19)

where D(z) is a true diagonal matrix, assume the paraunitarity conditions of $\underline{V}(z)$ and $\underline{U}(z)$ hold, i.e., $\underline{V}^{H}(z^{-*})\underline{V}(z) = \underline{V}(z)\underline{V}^{H}(z^{-*}) = \mathbf{I}$ and $\underline{U}^{H}(z^{-*})\underline{U}(z) = \underline{U}(z)\underline{U}^{H}(z^{-*}) = \mathbf{I}$. The channel propagation error $E(z) = \underline{U}^{H}(z^{-*})\underline{M}_{er}(z)\underline{V}(z)$ due to the presence of crosstalk.

Accordingly, the generic linear independent communication processes in (5.20) can be rewritten in the polynomial form as

$$\hat{\mathbf{S}}(z) = \boldsymbol{B}(z)\boldsymbol{Q}^{1/2}(z)\mathbf{S}(z) + W(z)$$
(5.20)

where B(z) = D(z) + E(z) contains both the true channel and the error components of H(z).

To accommodate the presence of an estimated error, a vectored single-user level estimator should be used. This type of interference mitigation model will be presented in the polynomial domain, where the system preserving matrices $\underline{U}(z)$ and $\underline{V}(z)$ are paraunitary.

The input-output vectored relation for the system in (5.19) can be written in form.

$$\hat{\mathbf{S}}(z) = \sqrt{\gamma_D}(z)\mathbf{D}(z)S(z) + \sqrt{\gamma_E}(z)\mathbf{E}(z)\mathbf{S}(z) + W(z)$$
(5.21)

where $\gamma(z) = \mathbf{Q}^2(z)$ is introduced for each independent linear transmission as discussed in Eqn. 5.18. The second term $\sqrt{\gamma_E(z)}\mathbf{E}(z)\mathbf{S}(z)$ is the crosstalk interference. For the vectored DSM via PSVD system, it is optimal to use a set of a separate per-channel detector for every DMT tone. Doing so for the set of independent sub-problem will be sub-optimal as the system is not likely to be diagonalised perfectly. Despite this, if we were to use a set of separate SISO detectors, the performance of a given sub-optimal estimator would be prone to the interference caused by other sub-streams.

On the other hand, the computational complexity of per channel detection would be lower than that for joint detection. Assuming single user precoding and equalisation estimation
through a PSVD system, the achievable rate of the received system model in (5.18) is given by solution of the optimisation problem of (4.63). This involves the rate objective function and can be expressed as

maximise
$$\log \left(\mathbf{I} + \frac{\gamma_D(z) \mathbf{D}(z)}{\gamma_E(z) \mathbf{E}(z) + \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}_w} \right)$$

subject to $\underline{V}(z) \underline{V}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) = \mathbf{I}$
 $\underline{U}(z) \underline{U}^{\mathrm{H}}(z^{-*}) = \mathbf{I}$
(5.22)

5.7 Channel Estimation and Equalisation

In the literature, various methods are employed to mitigate the estimated crosstalk from the single channel estimation in the multi-user MIMO transmissions. This section will consider two approaches, one is the direct linear joint precoding and channel equalisation technique as proposed in [6]. The other involves joint optimal precoding combined with a decision feedback equaliser (DFE) as presented in [78, 105]. The application of these approaches to multi-user DSL transmission will be considered as benchmarks to highlight the gain in performance of our proposed method.

5.7.1 Linear Precoding and Channel Estimation

Here, the linear precoding and equalisation methods proposed in [78], which were also reviewed in Section 4.3, will be applied to form SISO subchannels. The system arrangement for the *i*th vectored single-user transmission is shown in Figure 5.2, which is a generic version of the system illustrated in Figure 4.3.



Figure 5.2 Linear joint precoding and equalisation for vectored single-user transmission

Here the symbol $\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i(z)$, $i = 1, \dots, K$ represents the noise components and $D_i[n]$ is the channel block for *i*th-user. Considering that the channel has length $L_i + 1$, the transmit

block size including the redundancy for cross-talk cancellation P_r is chosen such that M greater than L_i . The input block lenght assumes $N \le M$, where the additive redundancy $P_r = M - N$. Without loss of generality, we exploit the TZ approach mentioned in Section 4.5 for mitigating the presence of crosstalk. This leads to express the optimal precoder in the following form

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{i}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{F}_{i,0}(z) \\ \boldsymbol{F}_{i,1}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.23)

with the is assigned a zero value and $F_{i,0}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times N}$. The covariance matrix of the input signal $\mathbf{S}_i(z)$ is denoted by $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_i\mathbf{S}_i} \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$ and the covariance matrix arising from the noise signal $\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i(z)$ by $\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times M}$. Note that the latter contains both the channel noise filtered by $F_i(z)$ and the crosstalk components of the single-input single output equalisation problem characterised in Section 4.3.

Consider the use of a TZ precoder for mitigating crosstalk interference. The pseudocirculant matrix $C_i(z)$, similarly containing the finite impulse response of length $L_i + 1$ of the *i*th user, produced can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{i}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{D}_{i}[0] & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{D}_{i}[L-1] & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \mathbf{D}_{i}[0] \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \mathbf{D}_{i}[L-1] \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.24)

where $C_i(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{L-1} \mathbf{D}_i[n] z^{-n}$.

With important parameters of the transmission, such as $H_i(z)$, $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_i\mathbf{S}_i}$ and $\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i}$ being well defined, one can perform the following eigendecomposition as discussed in (5.25)

$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_{i}\mathbf{S}_{i}} = \mathbf{U}_{i}(z)\Delta_{i}(z)\mathbf{U}_{i}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)$$
$$\mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{i}\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{i}}^{-1}\mathbf{H}(z) = (\mathbf{V}_{0i}(z),\mathbf{V}_{1i}(z))\begin{pmatrix}\Lambda_{i}(z) & 0\\ 0 & 0\end{pmatrix}(\mathbf{V}_{0i}(z),\mathbf{V}_{1i})^{\mathrm{H}}(z)$$
(5.25)

with the diagonal matrices denoted by

$$\Delta_{i}(z) = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \delta_{00}^{(i)}(z), \delta_{11}^{(i)}(z), \cdots, \delta_{M-1,M-1}^{(i)} \right\} (z)$$

$$\Lambda_{i}(z) = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \lambda_{00}^{(i)(z)}, \lambda_{11}^{(i)}(z), \cdots, \lambda_{M-1,M-1}^{(i)}(z) \right\}$$
(5.26)

As mentioned in Section 4.5, the precoder and equaliser under the MSE criterion are $V_{0i}(z)$ and $U_{0i}(z)$ respectively. The zero part of the precoder $V_{1i}(z)$ occurs as a result of the presence of the interference and crosstalk.

In this section, we consider the MSE optimal precoders and equalisers as suggested in [78]. Let us assume that $V_{0i}(z)$ contains the first L_i columns of $V_i(z)$; then the optimum MMSE precoding filters can be expressed in the form

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}(z) = \boldsymbol{V}_{0,i}(z)\boldsymbol{\Phi}_i\boldsymbol{U}_i(z)$$
(5.27)

where the elements of the diagonal matrix Φ represent the optimal transmit power obtained through the water-filling algorithm described in [130] and [131].

Under the MSE criterion, one can express the optimal MMSE equaliser as

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{i,opt}(z) = \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_{i}\mathbf{S}_{i}}\boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\boldsymbol{H}^{\mathrm{H}}(z) \left(\mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{i}\tilde{\mathbf{W}}_{i}} + \boldsymbol{H}(z)\boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}(z)\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_{i}\mathbf{S}_{i}}\boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\boldsymbol{H}^{\mathrm{H}}(z)\right)^{-1} (5.28)$$

The error covariance matrix can then be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{ee}(z) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s}^{2} \left(\mathbf{I} + \boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}(z) \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_{i} \mathbf{S}_{i}} \boldsymbol{F}_{i,opt}^{\mathrm{H}}(z) \boldsymbol{H}^{\mathrm{H}}(z) \right)^{-1}$$
(5.29)

Therefore, the error covariance matrix $\mathbf{R}_{ee}(z)$ is minimised subject to the total power constraint so that trace $(\mathbf{F}_{i,opt}(z)\mathbf{F}_{i,opt}^{H}(z))\sigma_{s}^{2} = P_{0}$. Note that in the design proposed here, the total transmit power P_{0} for the whole MIMO system will be allocated by performing the water-filling algorithm for all $\Lambda_{i}(z)$, $(i = 1, \dots, K)$ at the same time.

The use of the optimum precoding and equalisation filters given in (5.27) and (5.28) allows the decomposition of the multi-user MIMO channel into N single-input and single-output equalisation problem with different data-rates, where the value of \bar{N} determines the water-filling algorithm.

With the input block size of $N(N \le M)$ and each independent tone is assigned SNR of P_j with $j = 0 \cdots N$, the normalised mutual information β_i between the output and input of the *i*th user single-input single-output equalisation is given by

$$\beta_i = \sum_{j=1}^N \log_2\left(1 + SNR_i\right) \tag{5.30}$$

where $SNR = \frac{D_{ii}\Lambda_i}{\sigma_{W_i}^2}$ is the signal-to-noise ratio on each independent frequency tone.

Therefore, the average bit rate capacity R' of the overall MIMO system is given by

$$R' = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{K} \beta_i \tag{5.31}$$

5.7.2 Joint Precoding with Decision Feedback Equalisation

It is shown in [22] that joint optimal precoding and equalisation are the optimum mean squared error filters for a linear channel matrix. Unfortunately, the performance of these filters decreases significantly with the overdetermined channel matrix. To improve the performance throughput, many per-user MSE equalisation solutions are now available. Decision feedback equalisers (DFE) as well provide an excellent per-user MSE equalisation solution under specific feedback constraints. With the application of the joint optimal precoding filters, DFE solution can be designed. This DFE can be implemented as a combination of simple SISO precoding and equalisation filters.

In this subsection, the application of the joint optimal precoding and DFE procedures described in [6] for decomposing multi-user MIMO system into SISO precoding and equalisation problem is presented. The jointly optimal precoder and DFE equaliser are applied to minimise the transmission error between the input symbol and the output symbols.

The minumum MSE-based DFE equaliser makes use of previous decisions in attempting to estimate the current symbol with a symbol-by-symbol detector, where any tailing transmission error caused by a previous symbol is reconstructed and then subtracted.

This MMSE-DFE has inherently found application in the context of overdetermined channel matrix, but by assuming that all the previous decisions in process were coherent and linear. It is shown in [49] that the choice of MMSE-DFE design compromises the allowable computational complexity with the required performance gain.



Figure 5.3 Joint precoding and MMSE-DFE block diagram

Figure 5.3 shows the block diagram of the joint precoding with MMSE-DFE block, where the MMSE-DFE block consists of a linear feed-forward filter $G_i(z)$, linear feedback filter $\mathbf{B}_{dfe}(z)$ and a simple decision block. The input to the feedback filter is the decision of the previous symbol (from the decision device).

The first process is to exploit PSVD to derive the vectored SISO subchannel through the joint optimal precoding block $F_i(z)$. The output signals of the feed-forward filters are summed together before subtracting the error detected by the feedback filter block and passing it through the decision block.

The input signal $\underline{\mathbf{S}}_i(z)$ assumes to be white Gaussian noise (AWGN) with unit variance. As discussed in subsection 5.7.1 above, $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_i\mathbf{S}_i} \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$ denotes the covariance matrix of the input signal $\mathbf{S}_i(z)$ while the covariance matrix arising from the interference signal $\underline{\mathbf{W}}_i(z)$ is represented by $\mathbf{R}_{\underline{\mathbf{W}}_i\underline{\mathbf{W}}_i} \in \mathbb{C}^{M \times M}$. The interference signal is also assumed to comprise both the channel background noise filtered by optimal feed forward equaliser $G_i(z)$ and the crosstalk components of *i*th single-user transmission channel.

The crosstalk elimination is performed by introducing redundancy. The additive transmit block length P is chosen such that $M = P + L_i$ where the definitions of M, L_i are similar to those in the previous sections and N is the length of the input transmitting block.

Consider the TZ case for a single user transmission, the precoding filters that eliminate crosstalk can be expressed in the form.

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{i}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{F}_{i,0}(z) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.32)

In a K-user block, one can define matrices $\boldsymbol{E}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{MK \times NK}$, $\boldsymbol{B}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{NK \times MK}$, $\boldsymbol{C}(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{MK \times MK}$, $\boldsymbol{R}_{\tilde{W}\tilde{W}}$, \boldsymbol{R}_{SS} and vector $\hat{\boldsymbol{W}} \in \mathbb{C}^{MK}$ as

$$\boldsymbol{E}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{F}_{1,0}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \boldsymbol{F}_{2,0}(z) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \boldsymbol{F}_{K,0}(z) \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.33)
$$\boldsymbol{B}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{G}_{1}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \boldsymbol{G}_{2}(z) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \boldsymbol{G}_{K}(z) \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.34)

$$\boldsymbol{H}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(z) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \boldsymbol{H}_{2}(z) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \boldsymbol{H}_{K}(z) \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.35)

$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{SS}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_1 \mathbf{S}_1} & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}_K \mathbf{S}_K} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (5.36)$$

$$\mathbf{R}_{\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_1 \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_1} & \mathbf{0} \\ & \ddots & \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{R}_{\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_K \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_K} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (5.37)$$

$$\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_1(z) \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}_K(z) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (5.38)$$

where $H_i(z)$ $(i = 1, \dots, K)$ is the pseudo-circulant matrix given by (5.24).

In general, the overall transfer function from the input signal $\underline{S}(z)$ to the input of the decision block can be written as

$$\hat{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{G}_{i,0}(z) \boldsymbol{H}_{i}(z) \boldsymbol{F}_{i,0}(z) \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}_{i}(z) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{B}_{dfe_{i}} \mathbf{S}'_{i}(z) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{G}_{i,0}(z) \underline{\hat{\mathbf{W}}}_{i}(z) \quad (5.39)$$

$$= \boldsymbol{B}(z)\boldsymbol{H}(z)\boldsymbol{E}(z)\underline{\boldsymbol{S}}(z) + \boldsymbol{B}_{dfe}(z)\boldsymbol{S}'(z) + \boldsymbol{B}(z)\underline{\mathbf{\hat{W}}}(z)$$
(5.40)

where

$$\mathbf{S}'(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}'_1(z) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{S}'_K(z) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.41)

The design of the $B_{dfe}(z)$ matrix with a joint optimal precoder $\mathbf{E}(z)$ and equaliser B(z) is implemented under either the zero-forcing (ZF-DFE) or minimum mean square error (MMSE-DFE) criteria [22].

It is shown in [78] that the optimised DFE with the zero-forcing criterion achieves the optimum bit error rate under error-free transmission. The ZF-DFE design is only suitable for linear MIMO system. On the other hand, the proposed optimisation of joint precoding and

equalisation filters under the MMSE-DFE constraints becomes more general, though more difficult.

The proposed design is designed to minimise the mutual information between the input and output signal in overdetermined transmissions.

Consider the channel model in Figure 5.3. The eigendecomposition of the channel information matrix can be defined as

$$\boldsymbol{C}^{\mathrm{H}} \mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{W}} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{C} = \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{\Lambda}' \boldsymbol{V}^{\mathrm{H}}$$
(5.42)

with diagonal matrix

$$\Lambda' = \operatorname{diag} \{ \lambda'_{11}, \lambda'_{22}, \cdots, \lambda'_{kk} \}.$$

According to [78], the optimisation of the MMSE-DFE block maximises the data rate for any channel information. Therefore, the optimal MMSE-DFE data-rate performance through a single-user water-filling algorithm can be expressed in the form.

$$|\phi_k'|^2 = \max\left(\frac{P_k + \sum_{i=1}^{\bar{N}} \lambda_i'^{-1}}{\bar{N}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_k'}\right)$$
(5.43)

where $\bar{N} = \min\{M, N\}$ is the number of positive $|\phi'_k|^2$ satisfying

$$\frac{1}{\lambda'_{\bar{N}}} < \max\left(\frac{P_k + \sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_i^{\prime-1}}{N}\right)$$
(5.44)

With the MMSE-DFE constraint, the optimal precoder $F_{opt}(z)$, which minimises the mean square error, take the form

$$\boldsymbol{E}(z) = \boldsymbol{V}_{\bar{N}}(z)\boldsymbol{\Phi}'\boldsymbol{\Theta}' \tag{5.45}$$

where the matrix $V_{\bar{N}}(z)$ contains the first \bar{N} columns of V(z) and $\Theta = \begin{bmatrix} \Theta' & 0_{\bar{N} \times (N-\bar{N})} \end{bmatrix}$ is a unitary matrix satisfying

$$\left(\mathbf{I}_{N\times N} + \Phi'^T \Lambda'_{\bar{N}}(z) \Phi'\right)^{1/2} \Theta' = \boldsymbol{U}(z) \mathbf{R}(z)$$
(5.46)

where $\Lambda_{\bar{N}}(z)$ is the upper left $\bar{N} \times \bar{N}$ matrix of $\Lambda(z)$, U(z) is a unitary and $\mathbf{R}(z)$ an upper triangular matrix with equal diagonal elements.

The optimal feedback and feed-forward matrices that minimise the mean square error between the joint precoder and equaliser are given by

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{dfe} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_e \mathbf{R}(z) - \mathbf{I}_{\bar{N} \times \bar{N}}$$
(5.47)

and

$$\boldsymbol{B}(z) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{e} \mathbf{R}(z) \left(\boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{E}(z) \right)^{\mathrm{H}} \left[\left(\boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{E}(z) \right) \left(\boldsymbol{H}(z) \boldsymbol{E}(z) \right)^{\mathrm{H}} + \mathbf{R}_{\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}\underline{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}} \right]^{-1}$$
(5.48)

where

$$\sigma_e^2 = \bar{N}^{M/N} \left(P_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{\bar{N}} \lambda_i^{\prime - 1} \right)^{-M/N} \prod_{i=1}^{\bar{N}} (\lambda_i^{\prime})^{-1/N}$$
(5.49)

and P_0 is the constrained transmit power for the multi-user MIMO system. Equation shows that the water-filling algorithm is performed simultaneously across all the SISO transmissions.

Step	Operation
1	Compute the SVD by SMD algorithm of $C(z) = UD(z)\tilde{V}$
2	Obtain the independent transmit power Σ_{ii} and \mathbf{E}_0 by solving equation ??
3	Compute the Eigenvalue Decomposition
	$\begin{bmatrix} U_{i,0} & U_{i,1} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D(z) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{V}_{i,0} \\ \tilde{V}_{i,1} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{B}\mathbf{R}\tilde{\mathbf{E}}$ where B has diagonal elements Σ from star 2
	where R has diagonal elements 2_{ii} from step 2
4	Obtain the optimal precoder as $\mathbf{E} = V_{\bar{N}} \Phi' \Theta'$
5	Compute the transmission matrix, $\mathbf{T}_G = \mathbf{C}(z)\mathbf{E}$
6	Obtain the Feedforward Equaliser, $\mathbf{B} = \sigma_e \mathbf{R} (\mathbf{C}(z)\mathbf{E})^{\mathrm{H}} [(\mathbf{C}(z)\mathbf{E}) (\mathbf{C}(z)\mathbf{E})^{\mathrm{H}} + \mathbf{R}_{\tilde{\mathbf{W}}\tilde{\mathbf{W}}}]^{-1}$ and
	the Feedback Equaliser $\mathbf{B}_{dfe} = \sigma_e \mathbf{R} - \mathbf{I}_{\bar{N} \times \bar{N}}$, where the water-filling transmit power
	$\sigma_e^2 = \bar{N}^{M/N} \left(P_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{\bar{N}} \lambda_i^{\prime - 1} \right)^{-M/N} \prod_{i=1}^{\bar{N}} (\lambda_i^{\prime})^{-1/N} \text{ and } \mathbf{I}_{\bar{N} \times \bar{N}} \text{ is an identity matrix[114].}$

5.8 Simulations and Discussion

This section presents some numerical results for the optimisation of linear precoder and equaliser under the two variants of the DFE constraints: ZF-DFE scenario and MMSE-DFE scenario. Specifically, the considered optimisation model is for overdetermined DSL model and invokes the use of PSVD procedures. There are four aspects to this implementation.

Firstly, we construct the transmission channel of a multi-user DSL system as a statistical mixture model. Secondly, we apply the PSVD to factorise the statistical channel model, and to generate the joint optimal precoder and equaliser. Thirdly, we examine whether the proposed methods are also sufficient to improve the performance of a single-user MIMO system with polynomial procedures. Finally, we examine the generalisation ability of the proposed method from any arbitrary multi-user MIMO system.

5.8.1 Design with Linear Precoding and Equalisation

This section implements linear precoding and equalisation via the PSVD algorithm for a single user. The optimal linear precoding and equalisation for multi-user MIMO transmission proposed in [107] and later extended to broadband MIMO system in [6] is taken as benchmarks.

Setting the parameters of the benchmark designs to match the values required in [6], for example, a single-user data block consists of 175 symbols, of which 5L = 48 symbols redundancy is considered. The input block size is chosen to be N = 96, and data rate is values at 0.57. The power loss is due to the presence of interference is $48/175 \approx 27\%$. The structure of linear precoder and equaliser pairs are computed according to subsection 4.36. Since the sampling rate are considered equal, P_i is chosen such that $P_1 = P_2 = P_3 = P_4 = p_5$. The channel gain parameter M_i of each subchannel is calculated from $M_i = P_i - L$ and one can have $M_1 > M_2 > M_3 > M_4 > M_5$. The most dominant subchannel with highest gain has largest M_i . The input block size N is chosen so that the data rate is equal to that of the benchmark design.

The power allocation for the proposed design is chosen to be static to the transmit power in the benchmark design and employs water-filling algorithms perform iteratively across all the scalar subchannels. This iterative water-filling algorithm allocates the portion of the bandwidth for each subchannel for transmission. Thus the parameter N_i is decided by water-filling algorithms under the constraint $\sum_i N_i = N$.

After averaging over 100 iterations, the average power gain share estimated at 52%, 34%, 9%, 4%, 1% for the first, the second, the third, the fourth and the fifth scalar subchannels, respectively.

In order to assess the result of the considered linear precoding and equalisation design, which scales the transmit power on the scalar subchannels to minimise the sum of MSE on all the scalar subchannels, one can measure the average BER in terms of SNR figure suggested in [123], which sets the afforded transmit energy per bit against the channel noise measured

at the receiver.

$$SNR = \frac{P}{\sigma_v^2 N \lambda_b} \tag{5.50}$$

where λ_b is the number of bits per symbol. In this simulation, we consider a single-user transmission, and the BPSK modulation is chosen with $\lambda_b = 1$.

From the simulation results in Figure 5.4, it is shown that with the same transmit power, the proposed design has with a better BER performance than that of the benchmark.



Figure 5.4 BPSK modulated, BER versus SNR for the proposed precoding-equalisation and the benchmark design

Also, the proposed design achieves same gain till BER of 0.9 with that of the benchmark design. One can see that the BER performance in the benchmark is poorer than the BER performance of the proposed design above 1dB. Next, the performance of the proposed design which uses the optimal joint precoding and equalisation is compared with the performance of the benchmark design under the same optimal criteria.

5.8.2 **Design with Joint Precoding-Equalisation equalisation**

To present a more comprehensive view on joint precoding-equalisation approach for four users, we compared with a design that do not make use of the joint precoding. The advantages in performance, power saving, and flexibility of the joint precoding-equalisation designs can justify the extra degree of freedom. Designs like the one in the linear process cannot be generalised for an arbitrary number of users and do not make use or take advantage of the diversity. In this section, the performance of the benchmark design with linear precoding and equalisation will be compared with the performance of the joint optimal pre-recording and equalisation proposed for multi-user MIMO.

Similar to the channel model used in 5.8.1, the transmitted data blocks contains 175 symbols, of which 5L = 48 symbols.



Figure 5.5 BER versus SNR for the proposed joint precoding-equalisation and for the benchmark design

The transmit power for each tone is chosen in accordance to the water-filling procedure across all the scalar subchannels. The parameter N_i is decided by water-filling algorithms under the constraint $\sum_i N_i = N$.

After averaging over 100 iterations, the average power gain share estimated at 52%, 34%, 9%, 4%, 1% for the first, the second, the third, the fourth and the fifth scalar subchannels, respectively. To assess the result of the considered joint precoding and equalisation design, we scale the transmit power into scalar subchannels and minimise the sum of mean square error on all the scalar subchannels for all users.

It is shown in Figure 5.5 that with nearly the same transmit power, the joint precodingequalisation design has with a better BER performance than that of the benchmark design. For example, at the SNR of 10 the joint precoding-equalisation design can achieve as double BER gain (6 data rate) compared to the benchmark design with 3 data rate.

5.8.3 Joint Precoding with DFE equalisation

To validate and compare the performance of the proposed DFE model, consider a four-users MIMO channel with its element drawn from a complex Gaussian distribution with zero mean and unit variance. The size of transmitting block N = 3, the receiving block length of M = 4 applied a minimal amount of redundancy that is insufficient to allow the suppression of crosstalk through the precoding-equalisation system. The total transmit power is constrained to be constant and evenly distributed.

The channel is first decoupled into several independent subchannels. Each subchannel corresponds to a transmission block. At the receiver, the equaliser reweights every subchannels block and estimate the transmission error. To balance the each received sub-channel block at the receiver, DFE is used to minimise the successive mean square error.

Simulation results in the term of BER performance over a PBSK transmission are investigated. The input parameters of three sets of input modulated symbols are considered. All the symbols are assumed to be transmitted in the presence of channel interference (crosstalk). The model is evaluated with two different DFE criteria: ZF-DFE and MMSE-DFE. Both of them applied decision feedback procedures. Begin with linear equalisation model. For a perfect known channel information, the receiver employs a simple optimal joint ZF-DFE and implements power balancing between the transmitter and receiver for improving the system throughput.

For imperfect channel condition, MMSE-DFE receiver applies an independent order linear least squares equaliser with per-user power constraints. This proposed MMSE-DFE receiver uses a joint equalisation with feedback weights, and also accounts for the increased number of transmission samples per block.

Figure 5.6 shows the BER performance against SNR over 100 randomised channel realisation of the different DFE criteria. It also shows the signal spectra of the linearly ZF and MMSE equalised signals.



Figure 5.6 BER versus SNR for the proposed MMSE-DFE and for the linear Equalisation design

The linear precoding and equalisation are unsuitable since ZF-DFE designs such as in [102] is too rigid to combat the channel interference.

It is evident from the simulation that the proposed MMSE-DFE design can achieve a considerably higher BER performance than the BER of benchmark systems with linear MMSE designs. For example, at the SNR = 8dB, the proposed designs, MMSE-DFE can achieve a BER of about 10^{-2} while the benchmark designs (ZF-DFE) can only achieve a BER of 0.06.

5.9 Concluding Remark

In this chapter, we have shown how decomposition of multi-user MIMO system can be achieved using the PSVD algorithm. This approach relies on the geometrical information of the channel model, calculating the polynomial EVD. The applied PSVD algorithm iteratively allocates the optimal power spectra for various users at the same time, but it also accounts for the presence of transmission errors.

Section 5.1 present a novel linear joint precoding and equalisation model that includes a decision feedback scheme for multi-user DSL systems. The model can provide improved performance compared with the standard single-user benchmarks. In Section 5.3, we present a linear precoder and equaliser which requires only direct equalisation, where the CSI of the system such as in [123] is perfect. The considered approach here utilises a MMSE-DFE equaliser suggested in [6]. This study applied a similar step to develop a jointly optimal precoder with DFE structure to overcome the problem of imbalances (interference) in the multi-user DSL systems.

In Section 5.7, we have discussed two kinds of channel estimation and equalisation for mitigation crosstalk. In the direct linear joint precoding and channel equalisation design, the redundancy is evenly and jointly shared between the transmitter and receiver so that the interference can be eliminated by reducing the power allocation to the affected channel length. The required channel information rate is kept unchanged throughout the transmission so that the introduced redundancy can be jointly removed with low SNRs. Using the linear ZF approach, the length of the receiving symbol is set equal to the transmitting symbol P_i so that the optimal power allocation can be obtained and the vectored transmission is performed by the receiver only. The perfect channel synchronisation provided by the receiver is used for the selection of the active subchannels with the highest SNRs.

Finally, Subsection 5.8.3 presents joint precoding with DFE equalisation for mitigating the problem associated with imperfect multi-user MIMO channels. Here MMSE-DFE approach is incorporated with PSVD to provides some extra degrees of freedom to the multi-user MIMO system. The simulation results have shown that the MMSE-DFE helps to exploit the optimal power allocation better, leading to a better BER performance over that of the linear optimal ZF-DFE designs. However, evaluating the complexity of the approach is difficult, as the proposed method generally depends on the number of steps required by the PSVD algorithm to converge, as well as the resulting channel lengths of the single channel subsystems.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Future Works

In this thesis, we explored joint precoding and equalisation techniques for the development of dynamic spectrum management of DSL systems. Due to the limited system's resource, the benefit associated with the application of polynomial matrix decomposition techniques offers a very promising way to improve the joint power allocation - allowing the control of multiple DSL transmission lines/users at a common location. However, due to the number of users involved as well as the tones, the solution to this problem is usually non-convex and thus are difficult to solve. The application of PSVD algorithms is also fascinating because the space-time channel representation of independent users can be exploited more efficiently.

Generally, in the literature, there are two directions for the optimal equalisation design considering the DFE condition. These are classified as the perfect CSI system and the imperfect CSI system.

For the perfect CSI model, the system information is usually available at both the transmitter and receiver, and then the interference can be jointly minimised at the receiver. The performance of such a system can be improved by means of ZF-DFE techniques.

MMSE techniques can be used to remove the interference caused by the imperfect CSI system. This provides more degrees of freedom for vectored transmission since the additive precoded samples need to discarded at the receiver. Note that the adopted MMSE approach in this study implements per-user power constraints.

Considering a polynomial channel matrix model, the PSVD method and MMSE-DFE technique are adopted. This PSVD method uses a two-sided SMD algorithm to calculates a number of vectored subchannels simultaneously and separates the channel gain of each independent user and the crosstalk. Consequently, there is still a need for improvement in the resulting precoding-equalisation design under the per-user power constraint.

With regard to the above issues, and motivated by the idea of crosstalk mitigation strategy, this thesis proposes a new dynamic spectrum management method by applying the MMSE-DFE procedures.

6.1 Summary

The research study is divided into two parts. The first part discusses the implementation of a vectored transmission framework through linear joint optimal precoding and equalisation. This is derived using the PSVD algorithm to eliminate the channel interference on each single-user channel. The use of PSVD based MIMO decomposition not only allocates the optimal transmission power to the multi-user MIMO channels but also helps to indirectly suppress that part of the interference caused by the crosstalk. Based on the iterative PEVD algorithm in [41], a pair of optimal precoding and equalisation matrices is implemented. These decompose the multi-user DSL channel into a number of independent single-user vectored channels.

The second part focuses on using the shortening of the channel matrix to minimise the mean square error. This channel shortening design is investigated from two recently reported methods: first, the received transmission error is mitigated using a joint optimal precoderequaliser for the perfect MIMO channel; then a joint optimal precoder and MMSE-DFE for the imperfect MIMO channel.

In the vectored transmission design, the aims is to compensate the crosstalk via joint precoding-equalisation structure, which means that a more strict constraint on the singlechannel equalisation design is imposed. This strategy results in simple structures for the single transmitter-receiver, at the expense of some more signal processing.

At each step, one subchannel with the largest channel gain is used to transmit the signal. Since the joint optimisation problem in the non-linear problem is still difficult to solve, we have employed an iterative technique. At each iteration, a single-user vectored channel is optimised with the precoding-equalisation link, and this method is shown to converge within a small number of iterations. The optimal result can be found at the expense of exponential computational complexity, which prohibits its implementation in practice.

The proposed methods have been shown to outperform the linear equalisation method. This MMSE-DFE design plays a crucial role in pre-compensating the transmission error for multiple users at the transmitter side and also balances its effect at the receiver end. It is shown that with perfect channel state information, the MMSE-DFE equaliser can perform better than a ZF-DFE. The key advantage is that MMSE-DFE offers some extra degrees of freedom, which provides additional flexibility to control the impaired symbol crosstalk or interference.

6.2 Future Work

Beyond the summary provided in Section 6.1, there are still many research challenges, which appear relevant in the context of multi-user MIMO communications. These include.

• **Implementations** Matlab implementation to simulate a multi-user DSL with more transmitters and receivers for the type proposed in this thesis; to see whether the conclusion for the power spectral allocation model holds.

Evaluating the MMSE-DFE structure in the polynomial domain for a more involved channel model; to see whether the achievable performance holds.

Direct Kogbetliantz approach

Rather than calculating the PSVD via a two-sided SMD algorithm — noting that $H(z)\tilde{H}(z)$ and $\tilde{H}(z)H(z)$ will loose most if not all the sparsity of H(z) — Research on the use of a direct Kogbetliantz approach [40] could be advantageous.

• Low Complexity

The current optimisation model with non-linear equalisation in a DSL system takes several minutes to converge. This solution still calls for a low-complexity algorithm.

• Robust pre-equalisation Designs for imperfect Channel state information

This research considered the case where accurate CSI information is available at both sides of the link. While such an assumption may be acceptable for an ideal system, in many practical scenarios knowledge of the CSI is doomed to be imperfectly known at the transmitter due to channel uncertainties. Further research should consider how to apply the PSVD by SMD algorithm discussed in this thesis to robust designs for coping with imperfect CSI information.

Maximum Likelihood Estimators

In general, the vectored transmission considered in this thesis focused on low complexity and is tractable for practical implementation. An alternative is the maximum likelihood estimation approach which offers better performance was thought to be computationally intractable. It is now feasible to consider the application of a maximuma-posterior estimator such as the maximum likelihood equaliser to achieve higher performance.

Bibliography

- [1] OECD(2014), "The Development of Fixed Broadband Networks," OECD Digital Economy Papers, No. 239, OECD Publishing, 2014.
- [2] OECD, *The Development of Broadband Access in OECD Countries*. OECD Digital Economy Papers Publishing, 2002.
- [3] B. Farhang-Boroujeny and H. Moradi, "OFDM Inspired Waveforms for 5G," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 18, pp. 2474–2492, Fourthquarter 2016.
- [4] J. A. Bingham, "Multicarrier modulation for data transmission: An idea whose time has come," *IEEE Communications magazine*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 5–14, 1990.
- [5] S. Redif, S. Weiss, and J. G. McWhirter, "Relevance of polynomial matrix decompositions to broadband blind signal separation," *Signal processing*, vol. 134, pp. 76–86, 2017.
- [6] C. H. Ta, *Precoding and equalisation for broadband MIMO systems*. PhD thesis, University of Strathclyde, Scotland, 2009.
- [7] T. Starr, J. M. Cioffi, and P. J. Silverman, *Understanding digital subscriber line technology*. Prentice Hall PTR, 1999.
- [8] O. for Economic Cooperation and D. OECD, OECD Communications Outlook 2013. OECD, 2013.
- [9] K. B. Song, S. T. Chung, G. Ginis, and J. M. Cioffi, "Dynamic spectrum management for next-generation DSL systems," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 40, pp. 101– 109, Oct 2002.
- [10] T. Starr, M. Sorbara, J. Cioffi, and P. Silverman, *DSL advances*. Prentice Hall Professional, 2003.
- [11] J. Papandriopoulos and J. S. Evans, "Low-complexity distributed algorithms for spectrum balancing in multi-user DSL networks," in *Communications*, 2006. ICC'06. IEEE International Conference on, vol. 7, pp. 3270–3275, IEEE, 2006.
- [12] F. Vanier, "World broadband statistics: Q1 2009," Point Topic Ltd., June, 2009.
- [13] V. M. K. Chan and W. Yu, "Joint multiuser detection and optimal spectrum balancing for digital subscriber lines," in *Proceedings. (ICASSP '05). IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 2005.*, vol. 3, pp. 333–336, March 2005.

- [14] P. S. Chow and J. M. Cioffi, "Method and apparatus for adaptive, variable bandwidth, high-speed data transmission of a multicarrier signal over digital subscriber lines," Dec. 26 1995. US Patent 5,479,447.
- [15] W. Yu, G. Ginis, and J. M. Cioffi, "Distributed multiuser power control for digital subscriber lines," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 20, pp. 1105–1115, Jun 2002.
- [16] M. Zwingelstein-Colin, M. Gazalet, and M. Gharbi, "Non-iterative bit-loading algorithm for ADSL-type DMT applications," *IEE Proceedings-Communications*, vol. 150, no. 6, pp. 414–418, 2003.
- [17] A. R. Forouzan, M. Moonen, J. Maes, and M. Guenach, "Joint Level 2 and 3 Dynamic Spectrum Management for Upstream VDSL," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 59, pp. 2851–2861, October 2011.
- [18] A. R. Forouzan, M. Moonen, J. Maes, and M. Guenach, "Joint Level 2 and 3 Dynamic Spectrum Management for Downstream DSL," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 60, pp. 3111–3122, October 2012.
- [19] P. Tsiaflakis, I. Necoara, J. A. K. Suykens, and M. Moonen, "An improved dual decomposition approach to DSL dynamic spectrum management," in 2009 17th European Signal Processing Conference, pp. 2087–2091, Aug 2009.
- [20] P. Tsiaflakis, Y. Yi, M. Chiang, and M. Moonen, "Throughput and Delay Performance of DSL Broadband Access with Cross-Layer Dynamic Spectrum Management," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 60, pp. 2700–2711, September 2012.
- [21] A. R. Forouzan, M. Moonen, J. Maes, and M. Guenach, "Optimal dynamic spectrum management for DSL interference/broadcast channel," in 2012 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pp. 2559–2564, June 2012.
- [22] Y. Lin, S. Phoong, and P. Vaidyanathan, *Filter bank transceivers for OFDM and DMT systems*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [23] N. Al-Dhahir and A. H. Sayed, "The finite-length multi-input multi-output MMSE-DFE," *IEEE Transactions on Signal processing*, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. 2921–2936, 2000.
- [24] D. Tse and P. Viswanath, *Fundamentals of wireless communication*. Cambridge university press, 2005.
- [25] G. Ginis, M. Mohseni, and J. M. Cioffi, "Vectored DSL to the Rescue," OSP Magazine, 2010.
- [26] J. Cioffi, M. Brady, V. Pourahmad, S. Jagannathan, W. Lee, Y. Kim, C. Chen, K. Seong, D. Yu, M. Ouzzif, *et al.*, "Vectored DSLs with DSM: The road to ubiquitous Gigabit DSLs," in *Proc. World Telecommunications Congress*, pp. 223–234, 2008.
- [27] G. Marrocco, M. Wolkerstorfer, T. Nordstrom, and D. Statovci, "Energy-efficient DSL using Vectoring," in *Global Telecommunications Conference (GLOBECOM 2011)*, 2011 IEEE, pp. 1–6, IEEE, 2011.

- [28] G. Ginis, M. Goldburg, and J. Cioffi, "The effects of vectored DSL on network operations.," *Journal of Telecommunications Management*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 107–117, 2010.
- [29] D. P. Palomar, J. M. Cioffi, and M. A. Lagunas, "Joint Tx-Rx beamforming design for multicarrier MIMO channels: a unified framework for convex optimization," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 51, pp. 2381–2401, Sept 2003.
- [30] R. Cendrillon, W. Yu, M. Moonen, J. Verlinden, and T. Bostoen, "Optimal multiuser spectrum balancing for digital subscriber lines," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 922–933, 2006.
- [31] J. Huang, R. Cendrillon, M. Chiang, and M. Moonen, "Autonomous spectrum balancing (asb) for frequency selective interference channels," in 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, pp. 610–614, IEEE, 2006.
- [32] P. Comon, "Independent component analysis, a new concept?," *Signal processing*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 287–314, 1994.
- [33] S. Wold, K. Esbensen, and P. Geladi, "Principal component analysis," *Chemometrics and intelligent laboratory systems*, vol. 2, no. 1-3, pp. 37–52, 1987.
- [34] S. Haykin, *Adaptive Filter Theory*. Prentice Hall, 1991.
- [35] G. H. Golub and C. F. Van Loan, Matrix computations, vol. 3. JHU Press, 2012.
- [36] T. Kailath, *Linear systems*, vol. 156. Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1980.
- [37] R. H. Lambert, M. Joho, and H. Mathis, "Polynomial singular values for number of wideband source estimation and principal components analysis," in *Proc. Int. Conf. Independent Component Analysis*, pp. 379–383, 2001.
- [38] P. A. Regalia and P. Loubaton, "Rational subspace estimation using adaptive lossless filters," *IEEE Transactions on signal processing*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 2392–2405, 1992.
- [39] P. P. Vaidyanathan, Multirate systems and filter banks. Pearson Education India, 1993.
- [40] J. G. McWhirter, "An algorithm for polynomial matrix SVD based on generalised Kogbetliantz transformations," in *Signal Processing Conference*, 2010 18th European, pp. 457–461, IEEE, 2010.
- [41] S. Redif, S. Weiss, and J. G. McWhirter, "Sequential matrix diagonalization algorithms for polynomial EVD of parahermitian matrices," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 81–89, 2015.
- [42] C. H. Ta and S. Weiss, "A Design of Precoding and Equalisation for Broadband MIMO Systems," in 2007 Conference Record of the Forty-First Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers, pp. 1616–1620, Nov 2007.
- [43] J. M. Cioffi, W. Rhee, B. Lee, and G. Ginis, "Adaptive GDFE," Oct. 12 2010. US Patent 7,813,420.

- [44] C. H. Ta, C. Liu, and S. Weiss, "An approach for block transmission based precoding and equalisation with improved performance," in 2008 IEEE International Symposium on Power Line Communications and Its Applications, pp. 331–335, April 2008.
- [45] J. Corr, K. Thompson, S. Weiss, J. G. McWhirter, and I. K. Proudler, "Causalityconstrained multiple shift sequential matrix diagonalisation for parahermitian matrices," in *Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO), 2014 Proceedings of the 22nd European*, pp. 1277–1281, IEEE, 2014.
- [46] P. Golden, H. Dedieu, and K. S. Jacobsen, *Fundamentals of DSL technology*. CRC Press, 2005.
- [47] J. Campello, "Optimal discrete bit loading for multicarrier modulation systems," in Information Theory, 1998. Proceedings. 1998 IEEE International Symposium on, pp. 193–194, IEEE, 1998.
- [48] W. Yu, W. Rhee, S. Boyd, and J. M. Cioffi, "Iterative water-filling for Gaussian vector multiple-access channels," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 145–152, 2004.
- [49] P. Tsiaflakis, J. Vangorp, M. Moonen, J. Verlinden, and K. Van Acker, "An efficient search algorithm for the Lagrange multipliers of optimal spectrum balancing in multiuser xDSL systems," in *Proc. of the IEEE International Conference on Acoustics*, *Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, vol. 4, pp. 97–101, 2006.
- [50] P. Tsiaflakis, J. Vangorp, M. Moonen, and J. Verlinden, "A low complexity optimal spectrum balancing algorithm for digital subscriber lines," *Signal Processing*, vol. 87, no. 7, pp. 1735–1753, 2007.
- [51] R. Cendrillon and M. Moonen, "Iterative spectrum balancing for digital subscriber lines," in *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, 2005. ICC 2005., vol. 3, pp. 1937–1941, May 2005.
- [52] R. Cendrillon, J. Huang, M. Chiang, and M. Moonen, "Autonomous Spectrum Balancing for Digital Subscriber Lines," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 55, pp. 4241–4257, Aug 2007.
- [53] C. Leung, S. Huberman, and T. Le-Ngoc, "Autonomous Spectrum Balancing Using Multiple Reference Lines for Digital Subscriber Lines," in 2010 IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference GLOBECOM 2010, pp. 1–6, Dec 2010.
- [54] Y. Xu, S. Panigrahi, and T. Le-Ngoc, "Selective iterative water-filling for digital subscriber loops," in *Information, Communications and Signal Processing, 2005 Fifth International Conference on*, pp. 101–105, IEEE, 2005.
- [55] J. Papandriopoulos and J. S. Evans, "SCALE: A low-complexity distributed protocol for spectrum balancing in multiuser DSL networks," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 3711–3724, 2009.
- [56] W. Lee, Y. Kim, M. H. Brady, and J. M. Cioffi, "Band-preference dynamic spectrum management in a DSL environment," in *Global Telecommunications Conference*, 2006. *GLOBECOM*'06. IEEE, pp. 1–5, IEEE, 2006.

- [57] Y. Noam and A. Leshem, "Iterative power pricing for distributed spectrum coordination in DSL," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 57, no. 4, 2009.
- [58] S. Wei, L. Youming, and Y. Miaoliang, "Low-complexity grouping spectrum management in multi-user DSL networks," in *Communications and Mobile Computing*, 2009. *CMC'09. WRI International Conference on*, vol. 1, pp. 381–385, IEEE, 2009.
- [59] R. Moraes, B. Dortschy, A. Klautau, and J. R. i Riu, "Semi-blind power allocation for digital subscriber lines," in *Communications*, 2008. ICC'08. IEEE International Conference on, pp. 1420–1425, IEEE, 2008.
- [60] G. Popovic and G. Djukanovic, "Distributed spectrum management for dsl networks," in 2012 IX International Symposium on Telecommunications (BIHTEL), pp. 1–6, Oct 2012.
- [61] P. Tsiaflakis, M. Diehl, and M. Moonen, "Distributed spectrum management algorithms for multiuser DSL networks," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 4825–4843, 2008.
- [62] J. Cioffi, "FULLY Unbundled Vectored DSLs: It Is Absolutely Possible!," G. fast Summit May, 2016.
- [63] G. Ginis and J. M. Cioffi, "Vectored transmission for digital subscriber line systems," *IEEE Journal on selected areas in communications*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1085–1104, 2002.
- [64] C. Leung, S. Huberman, K. Ho-Van, and T. Le-Ngoc, "Vectored DSL: potential, implementation issues and challenges," *IEEE Communications surveys & tutorials*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 1907–1923, 2013.
- [65] R. Zidane, S. Huberman, C. Leung, and T. Le-Ngoc, "Vectored DSL: benefits and challenges for service providers," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 152–157, 2013.
- [66] V. L. Nir, M. Moonen, J. Verlinden, and M. Guenach, "Full vectoring optimal power allocation in xDSL channels under per-modem power constraints and spectral mask constraints," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 57, pp. 194–202, January 2009.
- [67] J. M. Cioffi and G. Ginis, "Vectored DSL nesting," Mar. 30 2010. US Patent 7,688,884.
- [68] K. Kerpez, J. Cioffi, S. Galli, G. Ginis, M. Goldburg, M. Mohseni, and A. Chowdhery, "Compatibility of vectored and non-vectored vdsl2," in *Information Sciences and Systems (CISS)*, 2012 46th Annual Conference on, pp. 1–6, IEEE, 2012.
- [69] Y.-P. Lin and S.-M. Phoong, "Minimum redundancy for ISI free FIR filterbank transceivers," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, pp. 842–853, Apr 2002.
- [70] R. W. Heath and G. B. Giannakis, "Exploiting input cyclostationarity for blind channel identification in OFDM systems," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 848–856, 1999.

- [71] R. Cendrillon, M. Moonen, G. Ginis, K. Van Acker, T. Bostoen, and P. Vandaele, "Partial crosstalk cancellation for upstream VDSL," *EURASIP Journal on Applied Signal Processing*, vol. 2004, pp. 1520–1535, 2004.
- [72] C.-Y. Chen, K. Seong, R. Zhang, and J. M. Cioffi, "Optimized resource allocation for upstream vectored DSL systems with zero-forcing generalized decision feedback equalizer," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 686– 699, 2007.
- [73] P. K. Pandey, M. Moonen, and L. Deneire, "MMSE-based partial crosstalk cancellation for upstream VDSL," *Signal Processing*, vol. 92, no. 7, pp. 1602–1610, 2012.
- [74] P. K. Pandey, M. Moonen, and L. Deneire, "Sparse approximation based resource allocation in DSL/DMT transceivers with per-tone equalization," *Signal Processing*, vol. 95, pp. 43–48, 2014.
- [75] K. D. Fisher and N. P. Sands, "Vectored DSL crosstalk cancellation," Oct. 7 2014. US Patent 8,854,941.
- [76] S. S. Christensen, R. Agarwal, E. De Carvalho, and J. M. Cioffi, "Weighted sum-rate maximization using weighted MMSE for MIMO-BC beamforming design," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 4792–4799, 2008.
- [77] P. Vaidyanathan and B. Vrcelj, "Filter banks for cyclic-prefixing the nonuniform DMT system," in *Signals, Systems and Computers, 2002. Conference Record of the Thirty-Sixth Asilomar Conference on*, vol. 1, pp. 816–820, IEEE, 2002.
- [78] P. Vaidyanathan, S.-M. Phoong, and Y.-P. Lin, *Signal processing and optimization for transceiver systems*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [79] J. A. Foster, J. G. McWhirter, M. R. Davies, and J. A. Chambers, "An algorithm for calculating the QR and singular value decompositions of polynomial matrices," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 1263–1274, 2010.
- [80] W. Zhang, Z. Li, H. Wang, X. Zhan, Z. Song, and C. Wu, "Non-linear polarization orthogonality loss in a semiconductor optical amplifier," *Chinese Optics Letters*, vol. 14, no. 9, p. 090601, 2016.
- [81] Z. Wang, J. G. McWhirter, J. Corr, and S. Weiss, "Multiple shift second order sequential best rotation algorithm for polynomial matrix EVD," in *Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO)*, 2015 23rd European, pp. 844–848, IEEE, 2015.
- [82] J. G. McWhirter, P. D. Baxter, T. Cooper, S. Redif, and F. J., "An EVD algorithm for para-Hermitian polynomial matrices," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 55(5), pp. 2158–2169, 2007.
- [83] S. Redif, J. G. McWhirter, and S. Weiss, "Design of FIR paraunitary filter banks for subband coding using a polynomial eigenvalue decomposition," *IEEE Transactions* on Signal Processing, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 5253–5264, 2011.

- [84] S. Weiss, S. Bendoukha, A. Alzin, F. K. Coutts, I. K. Proudler, and J. Chambers, "MVDR broadband beamforming using polynomial matrix techniques," *European Signal Processing Conference*, pp. 839–843, 2015.
- [85] S. Weiss, S. Redif, T. Cooper, C. Liu, P. D. Baxter, and J. G. McWhirter, "Paraunitary oversampled filter bank design for channel coding," *EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing*, vol. 2006, no. 1, pp. 331–337, 2006.
- [86] M. Davies, S. Lambotharan, and J. McWhirter, "Broadband MIMO beamforming using spatial-temporal filters and polynomial matrix decomposition," in *Digital Signal Processing*, 2007 15th International Conference on, pp. 579–582, IEEE, 2007.
- [87] S. Redif, *Polynomial matrix decompositions and paraunitary filter banks*. PhD thesis, University of Southampton, UK, 2006.
- [88] M. Alrmah, S. Weiss, S. Redif, S. Lambotharan, and J. G. McWhirter, "Angle of arrival estimation for broadband signals: a comparison," *IET signal processing*, 2013.
- [89] M. A. Alrmah, J. Corr, A. Alzin, K. Thompson, and S. Weiss, "Polynomial subspace decomposition for broadband angle of arrival estimation," in *Sensor Signal Processing for Defence (SSPD)*, 2014, pp. 1–5, IEEE, 2014.
- [90] Z. Wang and J. McWhirter, "A new multichannel spectral factorisation algorithm for parahermitian polynomial matrices," in *IMA Conference on Mathematics in Signal Processing*, 2014, pp. 73–78, Institute of Mathematics, 2014.
- [91] A. Jafarian and J. G. McWhirter, "A novel method for multichannel spectral factorization," in *Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO)*, pp. 1069–1073, IEEE, 2012.
- [92] R. F. Fischer, "Sorted spectral factorization of matrix polynomials in MIMO communications," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 945–951, 2005.
- [93] C. H. Ta and S. Weiss, "Design of precoding and equalisation for broadband MIMO transmission," in *IEE/EURASIP Conference*, pp. 7–10, Sept 2005.
- [94] S. Weiss, N. Moret, A. P. Millar, A. Tonello, and R. W. Stewart, "Initial results on an MMSE precoding and equalisation approach to MIMO PLC channels," in *Power Line Communications and Its Applications (ISPLC), 2011 IEEE International Symposium on*, pp. 146–152, IEEE, 2011.
- [95] J. Corr, K. Thompson, S. Weiss, I. Proudler, and J. McWhirter, "Shortening of paraunitary matrices obtained by polynomial eigenvalue decomposition algorithms," in Sensor Signal Processing for Defence (SSPD), 2015, pp. 1–5, IEEE, 2015.
- [96] J. Corr, K. Thompson, S. Weiss, I. K. Proudler, and J. G. McWhirter, "Row-shift corrected truncation of paraunitary matrices for PEVD algorithms," in *Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO), 2015 23rd European*, pp. 849–853, IEEE, 2015.
- [97] P. J. Gemperline, "Mixture analysis using factor analysis I: Calibration and quantitation," *Journal of chemometrics*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 549–568, 1989.

- [98] R. C. Henry, "Current factor analysis receptor models are ill-posed," *Atmospheric Environment (1967)*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1815–1820, 1987.
- [99] J. Wang and D. P. Palomar, "Robust MMSE precoding in MIMO channels with pre-fixed receivers," *IEEE transactions on signal processing*, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 5802–5818, 2010.
- [100] M. E. Wall, A. Rechtsteiner, and L. M. Rocha, "Singular value decomposition and principal component analysis," in *A practical approach to microarray data analysis*, pp. 91–109, Springer, 2003.
- [101] L. De Lathauwer, B. De Moor, and J. Vandewalle, "A multilinear singular value decomposition," *SIAM journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 1253–1278, 2000.
- [102] D. P. Palomar, M. A. Lagunas, and J. M. Cioffi, "On the optimal structure of transmitreceive linear processing for MIMO systems," in *Proceedings of the Annual Allenton Conference on Communication Control and Computing*, vol. 40, pp. 683–692, 2002.
- [103] S. Vishwanath, N. Jindal, and A. Goldsmith, "On the capacity of multiple input multiple output broadcast channels," in *Communications*, 2002. ICC 2002. IEEE International Conference on, vol. 3, pp. 1444–1450, IEEE, 2002.
- [104] K. V. Acker, G. Leus, M. Moonen, O. van de Wiel, and T. Pollet, "Per tone equalization for DMT receivers," in *Global Telecommunications Conference*, 1999. GLOBECOM '99, vol. 5, pp. 2311–2315 vol.5, 1999.
- [105] C. H. Ta and S. Weiss, "A jointly optimal precoder and block decision feedback equaliser design with low redundancy," in 2007 15th European Signal Processing Conference, pp. 489–492, Sept 2007.
- [106] M. Fazel, H. Hindi, and S. Boyd, "Rank minimization and applications in system theory," in *American Control Conference*, 2004. Proceedings of the 2004, vol. 4, pp. 3273–3278, IEEE, 2004.
- [107] A. Scaglione, P. Stoica, S. Barbarossa, G. B. Giannakis, and H. Sampath, "Optimal designs for space-time linear precoders and decoders," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1051–1064, 2002.
- [108] J. P. Boyd and A. M. Sousa, "An SVD analysis of equispaced polynomial interpolation," *Applied numerical mathematics*, vol. 59(10), pp. 34–47, Oct. 2009.
- [109] S. Redif and T. Cooper, "Paraunitary filter bank design via a polynomial singular-value decomposition," in *Proceedings*. (ICASSP '05). IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 2005., vol. 4, pp. iv/613–iv/616 Vol. 4, March 2005.
- [110] S. Weiss, C. H. Ta, and C. Liu, "A wiener filter approach to the design of filter bank based single-carrier precoding and equalisation," in *Power Line Communications and Its Applications, 2007. ISPLC'07. IEEE International Symposium on*, pp. 493–498, IEEE, 2007.

- [111] A. Scaglione, G. B. Giannakis, and S. Barbarossa, "Redundant filterbank precoders and equalizers: unification and optimal designs," in *Communications, 1998. ICC 98. Conference Record. 1998 IEEE International Conference on*, vol. 1, pp. 21–25 vol.1, Jun 1998.
- [112] Y. Jiang, J. Li, and W. W. Hager, "Joint transceiver design for MIMO communications using geometric mean decomposition," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 3791–3803, 2005.
- [113] W. Lanneer, P. Tsiaflakis, J. Maes, and M. Moonen, "Linear and nonlinear precoding based dynamic spectrum management for downstream vectored G. fast transmission," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 1247–1259, 2017.
- [114] E. Serpedin, T. Chen, and D. Rajan, *Mathematical foundations for signal processing, communications, and networking.* CRC Press, 2011.
- [115] A. Tkacenko and P. Vaidyanathan, "A new eigenfilter based method for optimal design of channel shortening equalizers," in *IEEE INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON CIRCUITS AND SYSTEMS*, no. 2, pp. 500–504, 2002.
- [116] M. Bengtsson and B. Ottersten, Optimal and suboptimal transmit beamforming. CRC Press, 2001.
- [117] E. Visotsky and U. Madhow, "Space-time transmit precoding with imperfect feedback," *IEEE transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 2632–2639, 2001.
- [118] F. Rey, M. Lamarca, and G. Vazquez, "Robust power allocation algorithms for MIMO OFDM systems with imperfect CSI," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 1070–1085, 2005.
- [119] R. Venkataramani and S. Sankaranarayanan, "Optimal channel shortening equalization for mimo isi channels.," in *GLOBECOM*, pp. 3325–3329, 2008.
- [120] Y. H. Yang, S. C. Lin, and H. J. Su, "Multiuser mimo downlink beamforming design based on group maximum sinr filtering," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 59, pp. 1746–1758, April 2011.
- [121] A. Tkacenko and P. P. Vaidyanathan, "A low-complexity eigenfilter design method for channel shortening equalizers for DMT systems," *IEEE transactions on communications*, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 1069–1072, 2003.
- [122] K. Hayashi and H. Sakai, "Per-tone equalization for single carrier block transmission with cyclic prefix," in *Circuits and Systems, 2004. MWSCAS '04. The 2004 47th Midwest Symposium on*, vol. 2, pp. II–649–II–652 vol.2, July 2004.
- [123] D. P. Palomar, Y. Jiang, et al., "Mimo transceiver design via majorization theory," Foundations and Trends® in Communications and Information Theory, vol. 3, no. 4-5, pp. 331–551, 2007.
- [124] I. Djokovic, "Cyclic prefix extension in DMT systems," in Signals, Systems & Computers, 1998. Conference Record of the Thirty-Second Asilomar Conference on, vol. 1, pp. 65–69, IEEE, 1998.

- [125] P. P. Vaidyanathan and B. Vrcelj, "On power allocation for generalized cyclic-prefix based channel-equalizers," in *Circuits and Systems*, 2002. ISCAS 2002. IEEE International Symposium on, vol. 1, pp. 1–8, 2002.
- [126] B. Farhang-Boroujeny, "OFDM Versus Filter Bank Multicarrier," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 28, pp. 92–112, May 2011.
- [127] V. M. Chan and W. Yu, "Joint multiuser detection and optimal spectrum balancing for digital subscriber lines," *EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing*, vol. 2006, no. 3, pp. 333–336, 2006.
- [128] R. B. Moraes, P. Tsiaflakis, J. Maes, and M. Moonen, "DMT MIMO IC rate maximization in DSL with per-transceiver power constraints," *Signal Processing*, vol. 101, pp. 87–98, 2014.
- [129] X. Han and C.-H. Cheng, "Nonlinear filter based decision feedback equalizer for optical communication systems," *Optics express*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 8712–8719, 2014.
- [130] A. Scaglione, G. B. Giannakis, and S. Barbarossa, "Redundant filterbank precoders and equalizers. II. Blind channel estimation, synchronization, and direct equalization," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 47, pp. 2007–2022, Jul 1999.
- [131] A. Scaglione, S. Barbarossa, and G. B. Giannakis, "Filterbank transceivers optimizing information rate in block transmissions over dispersive channels," *IEEE Transactions* on *Information Theory*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 1019–1032, 1999.